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2: All Boxes must be properly and completely filled up. Failure to do so shall cause delay inupdating the corporation's records with the Commisssion and/or non-
receipt of Notice of Deficiencies. Further, non-receipt of Notice of Deficiencies shall not excuse the corporation from liability for its deficiencies.

CONTACT PERSON's ADDRESS

NOTE 1 : In case of death, resignation or cessation of office of the officer designated as contact person, such incident shall be reported to the Commission within thirthy 
(30) days from the occurance thereof with information and complete contact details of the new contact person designated.

PRINCIPAL OFFICE (No. Street/ Barangay/ City / Town / Province)

C O V E R   S H E E T
for

AUDITED  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

SEC Registration Number

C O M P A N Y  N A M E

Form Type Department requiring the report Secondary License Type, If Applicable

C O M P A N Y    I N F O R M A T I O N

Company's email Address Company's Telephone Number Mobile Number

No. of Stockholders Annual Meeting (Month / Day) Fiscal Year (Month / Day)

CONTACT PERSON INFORMATION

The designated contact person MUST  be an Officer of the Corporation
Name of Contact Person Email Address Telephone Number/s Mobile Number

millenniumglobalholdings@gmail.com (632) 8551-2575 0917 807 2914

A    C     F      S M    S     R     D
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ASSETS Notes 2024 2023

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash  10 334,760,745  327,271,022   

Trade and other receivables – net 11 840,778,899  744,930,534   

Inventories 12 412,289,737  412,831,843   

Due from related parties 14,32 31,505,509  114,329,686   

Prepayments and other current assets 13 126,830,969  110,434,756   

Total Current Assets 1,746,165,859  1,709,797,841  

NON CURRENT ASSETS
Financial asset at FVOCI 15 50,000  50,000  

Investment in associates 16 26,775,963  26,333,226   

Property, plant and equipment – net 17 236,299,167  226,689,882   

Deferred tax assets 34 14,031,440  15,969,265   

Goodwill 18 14,521,202  14,521,202   

Other non-current assets 19 330,536  330,536  

Total Non Current Assets 292,008,308  283,894,111   

TOTAL ASSETS 2,038,174,167  1,993,691,952  

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 20 94,049,521  101,549,829   

Due to related parties 21,32 167,355,669  147,742,827   

Loans and borrowings 22 1,007,846,454  968,477,500   

Lease liability – current portion 23,35 16,247,201  17,523,833   

Total Current Liabilities 1,285,498,845  1,235,293,989  

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liability – net of current portion 23,35 49,609,009  51,143,308   

Retirement benefit obligation 33 45,329,177  44,538,994   

Total Non-Current Liabilities 94,938,186  95,682,302   

EQUITY
Share capital 25 250,000,000  250,000,000   

Treasury shares (13,031,538)   (13,031,538)  

Share capital – net 236,968,462  236,968,462   

Additional paid in capital 26 36,578,500  36,578,500   

Deposit for future share subscription 24 287,636,935  287,636,935   

Deficit (133,527,961)  (129,716,723)  

Fair value reserve on financial assets at FVOCI 15 (300,000)   (300,000)  

Net unrealized loss on remeasurement of retirement plan 33 (7,455,587)   (7,455,587)  

Equity to non-controlling interest 6 237,836,787  239,004,074   

Total Equity 657,737,136  662,715,661   

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2,038,174,167  1,993,691,952  

See Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

December 31,

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(In Philippine Peso)



For the Years Ended December 31, Note 2024 2023 2022

REVENUES 27 985,255,897  1,001,876,959  999,319,692   

COST OF SALES 28 (947,664,868)  (938,712,347)  (936,066,296)  

GROSS PROFIT 37,591,029  63,164,612  63,253,396   

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 29 (28,997,613)   (43,165,919)   (44,976,052)  

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 8,593,416  19,998,693  18,277,344   

OTHER INCOME – NET 30 3,504,346  1,289,390  4,856,115   

FINANCE COSTS – NET
Finance income 10 82,521  97,766  34,979  

Finance costs 31 (13,576,628)   (22,527,638)   (22,286,127)  

Net (13,494,107)   (22,429,872)   (22,251,148)  

SHARE IN NET LOSS OF ASSOCIATE 16 (874,271)   (476,455)   (510,992)  

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TAX (2,270,616)   (1,618,244)   371,319  

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 34 2,707,908  572,589  1,284,836   

NET LOSS (4,978,524)   (2,190,833)   (913,517)  

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holders of the Parent Company (3,811,238)   (3,153,291)   (898,831)  

Non-controlling interest (1,167,286)   962,459  (14,686)  

(4,978,524)   (2,190,832)   (913,517)  

LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share 36 (0.00161)   (0.00128)   (0.00036)  

Diluted loss per share 36 (0.00161)   (0.00128)   (0.00036)  

See Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In Philippine Peso)



For the Years Ended December 31, Notes 2023 2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income (Loss) before tax (2,270,616)   (1,618,244)   371,319  

Adjustment for:

Depreciation and amortization 17 77,535,307  84,551,162  117,741,172   

Provision for expected credit losses 11 2,088,264  -  -   

Expired MCIT -  -  (56,985)  

Retirement benefits expense 33 790,183  778,417  505,221  

Finance income 10 (82,521)   (97,766)   (34,979)  

Finance cost 31 13,576,628  22,527,638  22,286,127   

Foreign exchange (gain) loss 30 (1,808,048)   1,581,186  (2,457,748)  

Share in net loss of associate 16 (442,737)   476,455  510,992   

Operating income before changes in working capital 89,386,460  108,198,848  138,865,119   

Decrease (increase) in: 

Trade and other receivables (97,936,629)   (86,798,528)   40,965,320   

Inventories 542,105  31,055,652  18,259,087   

Prepayments and other current assets (16,396,213)   9,765,262  (1,570,774)  

Decrease in trade and other payables (7,500,308)   3,786,939  2,144,685   

Cash used in operations (31,904,585)   66,008,173  198,663,437   

Finance income received 10 82,521  97,766  34,979  

Benefits paid 33 -  -  (110,580)  

Income taxes paid and applied creditable withholding tax 34 (770,083)   (1,333,868)   (612,638)  

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities (32,592,147)   64,772,071  197,975,198   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, and equipment 17 (87,144,592)   (28,715,350)   (59,000,001)  

Proceeds due from related parties 14, 32 82,824,177  10,077,597  (1,157,374)  

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities (4,320,415)   (18,637,753)   (60,157,375)  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Finance cost on bank loans 22, 31 (13,034,963)   (15,532,925)   (15,094,230)  

Finance cost on lease obligations 31 (541,665)   (6,994,711)   (7,191,897)  

Proceeds from availments of borrowings 22 39,368,954  -  -   

Return of share capital 25 -  -  (13,031,538)  

Repayments of borrowings 22 - (90,029,924) (102,917,617)   

Payment of lease liability 35 (2,810,931)   (1,881,792)  (8,858,271)  

Due to related parties 32 19,612,842  1,719,792  11,333,029   

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities 42,594,237  (112,719,560)  (135,760,524)  

EFFECTS OF 
EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH 1,808,048  (1,581,186)   2,457,748   

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 7,489,723  (68,166,428)   4,515,047   

CASH AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 10 327,271,022  395,437,450  390,922,403   

CASH AT END OF YEAR 10 334,760,745  327,271,022  395,437,450   

See Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In Philippine Peso)

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
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MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

NOTE 1 – CORPORATE INFORMATION

Millennium Global Holdings, Inc. (the Parent Company), Millennium Ocean Star Corporation and Cebu Canning 
Corporation, its subsidiaries, (collectively referred to herein as the “Group”) were incorporated under the laws of 
the Republic of the Philippines. 

Millennium Global Holdings, Inc. – the Parent

Millennium Global Holdings, Inc. (the “Parent”) is a general holding company. It was incorporated and registered 
with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) per SEC Registration No. 25160 on May 19, 
1964. It is also listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (the “PSE”) since March 1, 1976. It uses the ticker 
symbol MG. 

In the recent years, the Parent Company has established its presence through the seafood businesses of its 
subsidiaries.  Nevertheless, it adopts a positive stance to portfolio diversification and varied business opportunities 
as the SEC on February 14, 2013 approved, among others, the amendment of its primary purpose to become a 
general holding company. 

On February 1, 2017, the SEC approved the Parent Company’s application for decrease in authorized capital stock 
to �250 Million and equity restructuring. On March 20, 2017, the SEC further approved the equity restructuring to 
partially wipe out the remaining deficit as of December 31, 2015.

On October 7, 2022, the SEC approved the Parent Company’s application for change of the principal office to 
Lot 9 Block 2 John St., Multinational Village, Paranaque City. 

Millennium Ocean Star Corporation (MOSC) – a Subsidiary

The Parent Company owns 51% controlling interest in MOSC. MOSC is primarily engaged in the processing of 
high-quality seafood and aquaculture products for export and trading of imported marine and other related 
products. Its key business activity is the processing and export of several quality and high valued seafood products 
such as Black Tiger Shrimps, Kisu (asohos) fillet, frozen lobsters, etc. Its processing plants and buying stations 
are strategically located all over the country, enabling it to have a strong market foothold in Japan, Taiwan, Hong 
Kong, Vietnam, Malaysia, Singapore, United States of America, Canada, etc. MOSC also imports salmon, 
mackerel scad, scallops, shrimps, etc. for the local market, supplying supermarkets, groceries, food processors, 
hotels, and restaurants nationwide. 

The Subsidiary was organized under the laws of the Republic of the Philippines and registered with the 
Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) per Registration No. A200008891 on June 7, 2000. 

The Subsidiary’s registered office address is at Block 4 Lot 6 Greenbreeze Village, Langkaan II, Dasmariñas, 
Cavite, Philippines. 

Cebu Canning Corporation (C3) – a Subsidiary

The Parent Company also owns 51% stake in Cebu Canning Corporation (C3).  C3 is a domestic company engaged 
in the business of manufacturing, processing and dealing in pasteurized canned crabmeat, frozen marine products 
and other food products for export purposes. The raw crab meat which is the main material used in the business 
is locally sourced by C3. 

������	 
��	 COVID-19 pandemic, C3 regular operations were halted to save on costs and production was 
absorbed by MOSC. This 
�
���	may continue until such time that it is deemed appropriate to resume C3 regular 
operations.



The Subsidiary was incorporated under the laws of the Republic of the Philippines and registered with Philippine 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) per Registration No. CS200806090 on April 24, 2008. 
 
The Subsidiary’s registered office address is at Tresco Compound, Casuntinigan, Asahi Road, Mandaue City, 
Cebu, Philippines.  
 
Approval of consolidated financial statements 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group as for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and 
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 were approved and authorized for issuance by 
the Board of Directors on April 30, 2025, and that the Chairman of Board is authorized to approve such 
consolidated financial statements on their behalf. 
 
 
NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
2.1 Statement of compliance 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRSs). PFRSs includes all applicable PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs) and 
Interpretations issued by the Philippine Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (PFRIC) as approved by 
the Financial Reporting Standards Committee (FRSC) and adopted by the SEC.  
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis using historical cost basis, except 
for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) that are measured at fair value. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Group’s functional and 
presentation currency. All values are rounded to the nearest million, except when otherwise indicated. 
 
2.2 Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company, Millennium 
Global Holdings, Inc., and the following subsidiaries as of December 31: 
 

 Percentage of Ownership 
 2024 2023 

Operating subsidiaries:   
Millennium Ocean Star Corporation 51% 51% 
Cebu Canning Corporation 51% 51% 

 
A subsidiary is an entity in which the Parent Company has control. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Parent Company and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control 
is transferred out of the Parent Company. Control is achieved when the Parent Company is exposed to, or has rights 
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. Specifically, the Parent Company controls an investee, if and only if, the Parent Company has: 

� Power over the investee 

� Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

� The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 
 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and 
when the Parent Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Parent Company 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

� The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee 

� Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 

� The Parent Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights 
 
The Parent Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Parent Company loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 



consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Parent Company ceases to 
control the subsidiary. 
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the 
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the consolidated financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating 
to intra-group transactions are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 
If the Parent Company loses control over the subsidiary, it: 

� Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary 

� Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest 

� Derecognizes the cumulative transaction differences recorded in equity 

� Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received 

� Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained 

� Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss 

� Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income to 
profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 

 
Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other 
events in similar circumstances. Intercompany balances and transactions, including intercompany profits and 
unrealized profits and losses, are eliminated in full.  
 
Non-controlling Interests 
 
Non-controlling interests represent the interests in subsidiaries which are not owned, directly or indirectly through 
subsidiaries, by the Parent Company. If losses applicable to the non-controlling interest in a consolidated 
subsidiary exceed the non-controlling interest’s equity in the subsidiary, the excess, and any further losses 
applicable to non-controlling interest, are charged against the majority interest except to the extent that the 
minority has a binding obligation to, and is able to, make good of the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports 
profits, the majority interest is allocated all such profits until the interest’s share of losses previously absorbed by 
the majority interest has been recovered. 
 
2.3 Business combination and Goodwill 
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 
acquiree. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition 
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of PAS, 
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized either in profit or loss or as a change to OCI. If the 
contingent consideration is not within the scope of PRFS 9, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate PFRS. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for 
within equity. 
 
  



Goodwill 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognized for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate 
consideration transferred, the Group re-assess whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all 
of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognized at the 
acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in the consolidated statements of income. 
 
After the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is 
not amortized but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any impairment loss is recognized immediately 
in profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquire are 
assigned to those units. 
 
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed 
of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 
relative values of the disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values 
of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 
 
2.4 Use of judgment and estimates 
 
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Group’s financial statements and accompanying notes. 
 
Judgments are made by management in the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s significant 
accounting policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates. 
 
The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.  These are based on management’s evaluation 
of relevant facts and circumstances as of the reporting date.  Actual results could differ from such estimates. 
 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods. 
 
2.5 Adoption of new and revised accounting standards 
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Group’s financial statements are consistent with those 
of the previous financial year except for the adoption of the following new and amended standards and 
interpretations. The adoption of these new and amended standards and interpretations did not have significant 
impact on the Group’s financial statements unless otherwise stated. 
 
Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2024 
 
Amendment to PFRS 16 – Leases on sale and leaseback. These amendments include requirements for sale and 
leaseback transactions in IFRS 16 to explain how an entity accounts for a sale and leaseback after the date of the 
transaction. Sale and leaseback transactions where some or all the lease payments are variable lease payments that 
do not depend on an index or rate are most likely to be impacted. 
 
Amendment to PAS 1 – Non-current liabilities with covenants. These amendments clarify how conditions with 
which an entity must comply within twelve months after the reporting period affect the classification of a liability. 
The amendments also aim to improve information an entity provides related to liabilities subject to these 
conditions. 
 
Amendment to PAS 7 and PFRS 7 - Supplier finance. These amendments require disclosures to enhance the 
transparency of supplier finance arrangements and their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure 
to liquidity risk. The disclosure requirements are the IASB’s response to investors’ concerns that some companies’ 
supplier finance arrangements are not sufficiently visible, hindering investors’ analysis. 



The amendments do not have material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Standards and Interpretations Issued but not yet Effective 

Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below. Unless otherwise indicated, the Group does not 
expect that the future adoption of the said pronouncements will have a significant impact on the financial 
statements. The Group intends to adopt the following pronouncements when they become effective.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2025

Amendments to PAS 21 - Lack of Exchangeability. An entity is impacted by the amendments when it has a 
transaction or an operation in a foreign currency that is not exchangeable into another currency at a measurement 
date for a specified purpose. A currency is exchangeable when there is an ability to obtain the other currency (with 
a normal administrative delay), and the transaction would take place through a market or exchange mechanism 
that creates enforceable rights and obligations.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting these standards on its consolidated financial statements.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2026

� Amendments to PFRS 9 and PFRS 7, Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
� Annual Improvements to PFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11

o Amendments to PAS 7, Cost Method
o Amendments to PFRS 1, Hedge Accounting by a First-time Adopter
o Amendments to PFRS 7, Gain or Loss on Derecognition
o Amendments to PFRS 9, Lessee Derecognition of Lease Liabilities and Transaction Price
o Amendments to PFRS 10, Determination of a “De Facto Agent”

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting these standards on its consolidated financial statements.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2027

PFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
The new standard impacts the classification of profit or loss items (i.e. into operating, investing, and financing 
categories) and the presentation of subtotals in the statement of profit or loss (i.e. operating profit, and profit 
before financing and income taxes). The new standard also changes the aggregation and disaggregation of 
information presented in the primary financial statements and in the notes. It also introduces required disclosures 
about management-defined performance measures.

PFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting these standards on its consolidated financial statements.

Deferred effectivity

Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a 
subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that a full gain or 
loss in recognized when a transfer to an associate or joint venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3. Any 
gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that does not constitute a business, however, is 
recognized only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate of joint venture.



On January 13, 2016, the Financial Reporting Standards Council deferred the original effective date of January 1, 
2026 of the said amendments until the IASB completes its broader review of the research project on equity 
accounting that may result in the simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of 
accounting for associates and joint ventures. 
 
The revised, amended, and additional disclosures or accounting changes provided by the standards and 
interpretations will be included in the financial statements in the year of adoption, if applicable. 
 
 
NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
summarized below. The policies have been consistently applied to all years presented unless otherwise stated. 
 
3.1 Financial instruments  
 
The financial asset or a financial liability are recognized only when the entity becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.  
 
A financial asset (except trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability are 
initially measured at fair value plus, in the case not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is 
initially measured at the transaction price.  
 
Classification and measurement 
The financial assets are classified based on the Group’s business model for managing the assets and the contractual 
cash flows characteristics, and these are measured as follows: 

� Amortized cost - a financial asset is measured at amortized cost if both of following conditions are met: 
i. The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows; and 
ii. The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

� Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) - financial assets are classified and measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income if they are held in a business model whose objective is 
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. 

� Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) - any financial assets that are not held in one of the two business 
models mentioned are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to 
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an 
investment�by�investment basis. 
 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at 
FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets.  On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate 
a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL 
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
 
The foregoing categories of financial instruments are more fully described below. 

 
Financial assets at FVTPL – These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 
any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss.  

 
As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Group has no financial assets at FVTPL. 

 
Financial assets at amortized cost – These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and 
losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit 



or loss. Cash, trade and other receivables, refundable deposits, and due from related parties are included in this 
category. 

  
Debt investments at FVOCI – These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated 
using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or 
loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI 
are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Equity investments at FVOCI – These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized 
as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. 
Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Group’s equity investments are carried at FVOCI. 
 
Financial liabilities – Classification and measurement 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at 
FVTPL if it is classified as held�for�trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, 
are recognized in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. 
Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss. 
 
As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Group has no financial liabilities classified under FVTPL. 
 
The other financial liabilities of the Group as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, includes trade and other payables, 
due to related parties, borrowings, and lease liability.  
 
Derecognition  
 
Financial assets 
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial 
asset. 
 
The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized in its statement of financial position but 
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred 
assets are not derecognized. 
 
Financial liabilities 
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. 
The Group also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 
liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is 
recognized at fair value. 
 
On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the 
consideration paid (including any non�cash assets transferred, or liabilities assumed) is recognized in profit or 
loss.  
 
Offsetting  
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it 
intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
  



Impairment 
Impairment of financial assets are recognized in stages as follows: 
 

� Stage 1 - As soon as a financial instrument is originated or purchased, 12-month expected credit losses 
are recognized in profit or loss and a loss allowance is established. This serves as a proxy for the initial 
expectations of credit losses. For financial assets, interest revenue is calculated on the gross carrying 
amount (without deduction for expected credit losses). 

� Stage 2 - If the credit risk increases significantly and is not considered low, full lifetime expected credit 
losses are recognized in profit or loss. The calculation of interest revenue is the same as for Stage 1. 

� Stage 3 - If the credit risk of a financial asset increases to the point that it is considered credit-impaired, 
interest revenue is calculated based on the amortized cost (the gross carrying amount less the loss 
allowance). Financial assets in this stage will generally be assessed individually. Lifetime expected credit 
losses are recognized on these financial assets. 

 
3.2 Current versus non-current classification 
 
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial position based on current/non-
current classification. 
 
An asset as current when: 

� It is expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 

� It is primarily held for the purpose of trading 

� It is expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period, or 

� It is cash on hand and in banks unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period 

 
All other assets are classified as noncurrent. 
 
A liability is current when: 

� It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 

� It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 

� It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 

� There is no unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 
reporting period 

 
The Group classifies all other liabilities as noncurrent. 
 
3.3 Foreign currency transactions and translation 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the group at the respective functional currency rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. 
 
Monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 
 
All differences are taken to the consolidated statement of income with the exception of all monetary items that 
provide an effective hedge for a net investment in a foreign operation. These are recognized in OCI until the 
disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognized in profit or loss. Tax charges and credits 
applicable to exchange differences on these monetary items are also recorded in the OCI. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the par value is determined. 
  



3.4 Fair value measurement 
 
For measurement and disclosure purposes, the Group determines the fair value of an asset or liability at the initial 
measurement or at each statement of financial position date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date.  
 
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 
takes place either: 

� In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

� In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 
 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group. 
 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
 
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs. 
 
3.5 Cash 
 
Cash consist of cash on hand and in banks. Cash in banks earns interest at respective bank deposit rates. For 
purpose of reporting cash flows, cash on hand and in banks are unrestricted and available for use in current 
operations. 
 
3.6 Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at the transaction price and are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the EIR method, less provision for impairment.  Provision for impairment of trade and other 
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original terms of the receivables. 
 
3.7 Inventories 
 
Inventories are initially recognized at cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). 
Cost comprises all cots of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. NRV represent the estimated selling 
price less all estimated costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distributing the goods. 
 
When the NRV of the inventories is lower than the cost, the group provides for an allowance for the decline in 
the value of the inventory and recognizes the write-down as an expense in the consolidated statement of income. 
 
When the inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognized as an expense in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognized. 
 
3.8 Prepayments and other current assets 
 
Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash. Prepayments are initially recorded as 
assets and measured at the amount of cash paid. Subsequently, these are charged to the consolidated statement of 
income as they are consumed in operations or have expired with the passage of time. 
 
Prepayments are classified in the consolidated statements of financial position as current assets when the cost of 
goods or services related to the prepayment are expected to be incurred within one year or the Group’s normal 
operating cycle, whichever is longer. Otherwise, prepayments are classified as noncurrent assets. 



Other assets are recognized when the Group expects to receive future economic benefit from them and the amount 
can be measured reliably. Other assets are classified in the consolidated statements of financial position as current 
assets when the cost of goods or services related to the assets are expected to be incurred within one year of the 
Group’s normal operating cycle, whichever is longer. Otherwise, other assets are classified as non-current assets. 
 
3.9 Investment in associates 
 
Associates are entities over where the Parent Company is in a position to exercise significant influence in the 
financial and operating policy decisions but not control or joint control.  
 
Investment in associates is recognized using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method the 
investment is initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the investor’s 
share of net assets of the investee.  On acquisition of the investment any difference between the cost of the 
investment and the investor’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities is accounted for in accordance with PFRS 3 Business Combinations.  
 
The income statement of the investor includes the investor's share of the income statement of the investee. 
 
Losses of associates in excess of the Company’s interest in the relevant entity are not recognized except to the 
extent that the Company has an obligation. Profits on company transactions with associates are eliminated to the 
extent of the Company’s interest in the relevant associate. 
 
Below is the Parent Company's associate, which is incorporated outside the Philippines. 
 

Associate 
 Percentage of 

Ownership 

   
Pacific Seafoods Company (PASECO)  47.57% 

 
3.10 Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. At the end of each reporting period, items of property, 
plant and equipment are measured at cost less any subsequent accumulated depreciation, amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
asset and the estimated present value of any future unavoidable costs of dismantling and removing items. The 
corresponding liability is recognized within provisions. 
 
Subsequent expenditures relating to an item of property, plant and equipment that have already been recognized 
are added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable the future economic benefits, in excess of the 
originally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the Group. All other subsequent 
expenditures are recognized as expense in the period in which those are incurred. 
 
Depreciation and amortization is charged so as to allocate the cost of other assets less their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.  
 
Below are the estimated useful lives used for the depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment: 
 

  Useful life in  
years 

   
Building  30 years 
Leasehold improvements  15 years 
Machineries  15 years 
Transportation equipment  5 years 
Furniture and fixtures  5 years 

 
Land is not depreciated. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease, or the estimated useful 
life of the leasehold improvements whichever is shorter. 
 



The estimated useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically, and adjusted 
prospectively, if necessary, to ensure that the periods and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent 
with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property, plant and equipment. The lease term 
includes assumption of lease renewals when such have been determined to be reasonably assured. The lease 
renewal is reasonably assured when failure to renew the lease imposes a penalty to the lessee.

Depreciation and amortization of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets commences at the time 
the assets are ready for their intended use.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use and no further depreciation is 
charged to the consolidated statement of income.

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and 
amortization and any impairment in value are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss arising 
on the disposal or retirement of an asset, determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset, is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

3.11 Refundable security deposits

Refundable security deposits represent payments made in relation to the lease agreements entered into by the 
Group. These are carried at cost and will generally be applied as lease payments toward the end of the lease terms 
or refunded to the Group.

3.12 Impairment of non-financial assets other than inventories

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed art each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment or an impairment loss previously recognized no longer exists or 
may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of the asset’s recoverable 
amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or its Cash Generating Units (CGU’s) fair value less 
costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset 
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When 
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
For an asset that does not generate cash flows independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is 
used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded 
companies or other available fair value indicators.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss is recognized. 
Reversals of impairment are recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at December 31 and when circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to 
which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recognized. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

The Group performs its impairment test of goodwill every reporting date.



3.13 Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or 
less (or within the normal operating cycle of the business if longer); otherwise, they are presented as noncurrent 
liabilities. 
 
Accruals are liabilities to pay for goods or services that have been received or supplied but have not been paid, 
invoiced or formally agreed with supplier, including amounts due to employees. It is necessary to estimate the 
amount or timing of accruals, however, the uncertainty is generally much less than for provision. 
 
Government dues and remittances include withholding income taxes which represent taxes retained by the Group 
for an item of income required to be remitted to the BIR in the following month. The obligation of the Group to 
deduct and withhold the taxes arises at the time an income payment is paid or payable, or the income payment is 
accrued or recorded as an expense or asset, whichever comes first. The term “payable” refers to the date the 
obligation becomes due, demandable or legally enforceable. 
 
Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the EIR method. 
 
3.14 Borrowings 
 
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using EIR method, which ensures that any finance cost over the period of repayment 
is at constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
The Group classifies borrowings as current liabilities if settlement is expected within one year or less, and the 
Group does not have the right to defer settlement of the liabilities and does not breach any loan provisions on or 
before the end of the reporting period. Otherwise, these are presented as noncurrent liabilities. 
 
3.15 Borrowing costs 
 
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended 
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use. 
 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. 
 
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of qualifying asset 
are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the period which they are incurred. 
 
3.16 Provisions and contingencies 
 
Provisions are recognized when: (a) Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event; (b) it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and (c) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value 
of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as 
finance cost. When the Group expects a provision or loss to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a 
consolidated asset only when the reimbursement is virtually certain and its amount is estimable. The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statement of income, net of any reimbursement. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed in the notes 
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. 
 
Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed in the notes to 
consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 



3.17 Due to (from) related parties 
 
Due to (from) related parties are non-interest-bearing borrowings. These are measured initially at their nominal 
values and subsequently recognized at amortized costs less settlement payments.  
 
3.18 Deposit for future share subscription 
 
Deposit for future share subscription represents payments made on subscription of shares which cannot be directly 
credited to ‘Capital Stock’ pending application for the approval of the proposed increase presented for filing /filed 
with the SEC and registration of the amendment to the Articles of Incorporation increasing capital stock. The 
paid-up subscription can be classified under equity if the nature of the transaction give rise to a contractual 
obligation of the Group to deliver its own shares to the subscriber in exchange of the subscription amount. 
 
In addition, deposit for future share subscription shall be classified under equity if all of the following elements 
are present as at reporting date: 
 

a. The unissued authorized capital of the entity is insufficient to cover the amount of shares indicated in the 
contract; 

b. There is Board of Directors’ approval on the proposed increase in authorized capital stock (for which a 
deposit was received by the corporation); 

c. There is stockholders’ approval of said proposed increase; and  
d. The application for the approval of the proposed increase has been presented for filing or has been filed 

with the Commission. 
 
If any or all of the foregoing elements are not present, the deposit for future share subscription shall be recognized 
as a noncurrent liability in the consolidated statements of financial position.  
 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group’s application for increase in authorized capital stock is pending 
for approval of the SEC. 
 
3.19 Equity 
 
Share capital is measured at par value for all shares issued. When the shares are sold out at a premium, the 
difference between the proceeds and the par value is credited to the “Share premium” account. When shares are 
issued for a consideration other than cash, the proceeds are measured by the fair value of the consideration 
received. In case the shares are issued to extinguish or settle the liability of the Group, the shares shall be measured 
either at the fair value of the shares issued or fair value of the liability settled, whichever is more reliably 
determinable. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
 
Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of periodic net income or loss, dividend distribution, prior 
period adjustments, effect of changes in accounting policy and other capital adjustments. When retained earnings 
account has a debit balance, it is called “deficit”, and presented as a deduction from equity. 
 
Dividends are recognized when they become legally payable. Dividend distribution to equity shareholders is 
recognized as liability in the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividends are 
declared and approved by the Group’s BOD.  
 
3.20 Revenue recognition 
 
The Group recognizes revenue from contracts with customers when control of the goods or services are transferred 
to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange 
for those goods or services, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
 
The transfer of control can occur over time or at a point in time. Revenue is recognized at a point in time unless 
one of the following criteria is met, in which case it is recognized over time: (a) the customer simultaneously 
receives and consumes the benefits as the Group performs its obligations; (b) the Group's performance creates or 
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or (c) the Group's performance 



does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment 
for performance completed to date. 
 
Revenue from contract with customers 
 
Revenue from contract with customers is recognized at a point in time when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled 
in exchange for the goods or services. The Group applies this standard with its revenue arrangements on 
investments. 
 
Revenue is recognized only when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of 
the promised goods or services to a customer.  The transfer of control can occur over time or at a point in time. 
The transaction price allocated to the performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is recognized as revenue 
when control of goods or services transfers to the customer.  As a matter of accounting policy when applicable, if 
the performance obligation is satisfied over time, the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation is 
recognized as revenue as the performance obligation is satisfied. 
 
The disclosures of significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions relating to revenue from contract 
with customers are disclosed in Note 4. 
 
Revenue Streams 
 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue from product sales is recognized at the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the buyer, 
which is normally upon delivery of the goods. Trade discounts are determined at inception of the contract and is 
not subject to variability. Returns do not result to significant variable consideration. The general payment terms 
with customers are cash upon order and credit terms from invoice date. 
 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when all of the following conditions are satisfied: 

a. The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; 
b. The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with the 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold; 
c. The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
d. It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and 
e. The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
If it is probable that discount will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is 
recognized as a reduction of revenue as the sale is recognized. 
 
Rental income 
Rental income from non-cancellable operating leases is recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also 
spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Finance income 
Interest income is recorded using the EIR which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to 
the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Interest income is included in “finance income” 
in the consolidated statements of income. 
 
Other income 
Revenue is recognized when earned. 
 
  



3.21 Employee benefits

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which Group pays fixed contributions into a consolidated 
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. A 
defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan.
Defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually 
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The liability or asset recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit 
plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of 
plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually using projected unit credit method. The present 
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows using interest 
rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have 
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of all related pension obligations.

Defined benefit costs comprise the following:

� Service cost

� Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset

� Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine settlements 
are recognized as expense in the consolidated statement of income. Past service costs are recognized when plan 
amendment or curtailment occurs. These amounts are calculated periodically by independent qualified actuaries.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net defined benefit 
liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying the discount rate based on 
government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or 
asset is recognized as expense or income in the consolidated statement of income.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains or losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in 
actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they 
arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

3.22 Costs and expense recognition

Costs and expenses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income when the decrease in future economic 
benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. Costs 
and expenses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income: on the basis of a direct association between 
the costs incurred and the earning of specific items of income; on the basis of systematic and rational allocation 
procedures when economic benefits are expected to arise over several accounting periods and the association with 
income can only be broadly or indirectly determined; or immediately when an expenditure produces no future 
economic benefits or when, and to the extent that, future economic benefits do not qualify, or cease to qualify, for 
recognition in the consolidated statements of financial position as an asset.

Costs and expenses in the consolidated statements of income are presented using the function of expense method. 
Costs of sales are expenses incurred that are associated with the goods sold and include purchases of goods, 
distribution costs, labor costs and overhead. General and administrative expenses are costs attributable to 
administrative and other business activities of the Group.

3.23 Leases

At inception of a contract, an entity shall assess whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.

The Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether: 

a) The contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group,



 
b) The Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified 

asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract, 
 

c) The Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use.  
 
The Group shall reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease only if the terms and conditions of the contract 
are changed. 
 
The Group as a lessee 
 
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for its leases. 
 

(a) Right-of-use asset 
 

At lease commencement date, the Group recognizes a right-of-use asset on the statement of financial 
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the 
lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and 
remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease 
commencement date (net of any incentives received).  
 
The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date 
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group 
also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist. 

 
(b) Lease liability 

 
At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease 
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily 
available or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments 
(including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be 
payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be 
exercised.  
 
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for 
interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-
substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is 
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero. 
 

3.24 Taxes 
 
Current income tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period is measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the 
consolidated statement of income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 
where appropriate. 
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
 



� When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 
 

� In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interest in joint ventures, when timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and 
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits 
from excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) and net operating loss carry over (NOLCO), and any unused 
tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits from MCIT and NOLCO and unused tax losses 
can be utilized, except: 
 

� When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination; and at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit (or loss). 
 

� In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilized. 
 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted at the reporting 
date.  
 
Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to either settle the 
liabilities simultaneously. 
 
Value-added Tax (VAT) 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT. 
 
Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT except: 

� Where the sales tax incurred on a purchased of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the VAT is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense item as applicable; and  

 
Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included. 
 
The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of ‘prepayments 
and other current assets’ or ‘trade and other payables’ in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
3.25 Related parties 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also 



considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Related parties may be individuals or corporate 
entities. The key management personnel of the Group and post-employment benefit plans for the benefit of the 
Group’s employees are also considered to be related parties. 
 
3.26 Earnings per share (EPS) 
 
Basic EPS is determined by dividing profit or loss by the weighted average number of shares issued and 
outstanding during the year. 
 
For the purpose of calculating diluted EPS, profit or loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity shareholders 
of the Group and the weighted average number of shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares. 
 
3.27 Segment reporting 
 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 
other components. 
 
Allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chairman 
of the Board that makes strategic decisions. 
 
An operating segment may engage in business activities for which it has yet to earn revenues, for example, start-
up operations may be operating segments before earning revenues. 
 
Segment results that are reported to the Chairman of the Board include items directly attributable to a segment as 
well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, 
head office expenses, interest income and expenditures and income tax assets and liabilities. 
 
3.28 Events after the reporting date 
 
Post year-end events up to the date when the consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the 
BOD that provide additional information about the Group’s position at reporting date (adjusting events) are 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material. 
 
  



NOTE 4 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires the management to 
make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experiences and other various factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances including expectations of related future events, the results of 
which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates, assumptions and judgments are reviewed and evaluated on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1 Judgments

a) Going concern

The Group’s management has made an assessment on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue their business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore,
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be
prepared on the going concern basis.

b) Determination of functional currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in the Philippine Peso, which is also the Parent
Company’s functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items
included in the consolidated financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

c) Classification of financial statements

The Group exercises judgments in classifying a financial instrument, or its component parts, on initial
recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability, or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial asset or liability.  The substance of a financial
instrument, rather than its legal form, governs its classification in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The classification of financial assets and liabilities is presented in Note 8.

d) Fair value measurements

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Group uses market observable data when measuring the fair value of an asset or liability. Fair values
are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation
techniques.

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability can be categorized in different levels of
the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of
the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

e) Revenue recognition from contracts with customers

Revenue recognition under PFRS 15 involves the application of significant judgment and estimation in the
(a) identification of the contract for sale of goods and services that would meet the requirements of PFRS 15;
(b) assessment of performance obligation and the probability that the entity will collect the consideration
from the buyer; and (c) determining the timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation.



f) Identification of the contract 
 

The Group’s primary document for a contract with a customer is a signed contract to sell. It has determined 
however, that in cases wherein contracts to sell are not signed by both parties, the combination of its other 
signed documentation such as reservation agreement, official receipts, quotation sheets and other documents, 
would contain all the criteria to qualify as contract with customer under PFRS 15. 

 
In addition, part of the assessment of the Group before revenue recognition is to assess the probability that the 
Group will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the goods that will be 
transferred to the customer. In evaluating whether collectability of an amount of consideration is probable, the 
Group considers the significance if the customer’s initial payments in relation to the total contract price. 
Collectability is also assessed by considering factors such as payment history of customer, age and pricing of 
the property. Management regularly evaluates the historical cancellations and back-outs if it would still support 
its current threshold of customers’ equity before commencing revenue recognition. 
 

g) Determining performance obligation 
 
With respect to sale of goods, the Group concluded that the transfer of goods and services in each contract 
constitute a performance obligation. Generally, the Group is responsible for all these goods and services and 
the overall management of the sale and production.  
 
The Group uses those goods and services as inputs and provides a significant service of integrating them into 
a combined output. 

 
h) Determining the timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation 

 
The Group concluded that revenue from contracts with customers is to be recognized at a point in time since 
it does not fall within any of the following conditions to be met for a recognition over a period of time: 

(a) The customer receives and consumes the benefits of the goods or services as they are provided by the 
Group; 

(b) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and; 
(c) the goods or services create or enhances an asset that the customer controls as that asset is created 

and enhanced. 

 
i) Determination whether an agreement contains a lease 
 

The determination of whether a contract is, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the arrangement 
at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is assessed for if the contract conveys the right to control the 
use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration 
 
The Group has entered into a lease arrangement as a lessor and a lessee. 
 
Leases are further disclosed in Note 35. 

 
j) Contingencies 
 

The Group is currently involved in legal proceedings. The estimate of the probable cost for the resolution of 
claims has been developed in consultation with the aid of the outside legal counsel handling the Group’s 
defense in this matter and is based upon an analysis of potential results. Management does not believe that 
the outcome of his matter will affect the results of operations. It is probable, however, that future results of 
operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the effectiveness of the strategies 
relating to this proceeding. 

 
k) Repairs and maintenance 

 
Costs of repairs and maintenance that do not result in an increase in the future economic benefit of an item 
of property and equipment is charged to operations in the period it is incurred.  Otherwise, it is capitalized as 
part of the asset. 

 
 



4.2 Estimates

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the financial 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next reporting year are discussed below:

a) Fair values of financial instruments

PFRS requires that financial assets and financial liabilities be carried or disclosed at fair value, which requires
the use of accounting estimates and judgment.  While significant components of fair value measurement were
determined using verifiable objective evidence (i.e., foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and volatility
rates), the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Group utilized different valuation
methodologies.  Any change in the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities directly affects profit
or loss, equity, and the required disclosures.

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statements of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, their fair values are determined using valuation techniques
that are generally-accepted market valuations including the discounted cash flow model.  The inputs to these
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimates are used
in establishing fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities by category and their fair value hierarchy are set
out in Note 7.

b) Assessing ECL on financial assets

The Group applies the general approach in measuring the ECL. For cash, the Group assessed that cash is
deposited with reputable banks that possess good credit ratings. For trade and other receivables and due from
related parties, the Group considers the financial capacity of the counterparty. No ECL was recognized in
2023 and 2022. The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets are as follows:

Note 2024 2023

Cash 10 � 334,760,745 � 327,271,022
Trade and other receivables, net* 11 840,695,010 646,946,586
Due from related parties 14,32 31,505,509 114,329,686

*Excludes advances to suppliers

c) Allowance for credit losses of receivables

The Group reviews its impaired receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an additional provision
for credit losses should be recorded in the profit and loss. In, particular, judgment by Management is required
in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of allowance
required. Such estimates are based on assumptions about number of factors and actual results may differ,
resulting in future changes to the allowance.

The carrying value of receivables amounted to �840,778,898 and �744,930,534 as of December 31, 2024,
and 2023, respectively (Note 11).

No allowance for credit losses were recognized as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. No write-off and
recoveries either were recognized by the Group as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.



d) Impairment of trade and other receivables and due from related parties

The Group reviews its receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment loss should be
recognized in it consolidated statement of income or receivables balance should be written off. In particular,
judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when
determining the level of allowance is required. Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of
factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance. Moreover, management
evaluates the presence of objective evidence of impairment which includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about loss events such as but not limited to significant financial difficulty of the
counterparty, a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial re-organization.

The carrying values of trade and other receivables and due from related parties and the related allowance for
impairment losses provided as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are disclosed in Notes 11, and 13.

e) Impairment of equity investments

The Group classifies certain financial assets as equity investments and recognizes movements in fair value in
OCI and equity. When the fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in value to
determine whether it is an impairment that should be recognized in profit or loss. Impairment may be
appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial wealth of investee, industry and sector
performance and operational and financing cash flows. The Company treats financial assets at other
comprehensive income as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is
“significant” or "prolonged" requires judgment.

The Group treats "significant" generally as 20% or more of the original cost of the investment, and
"prolonged," longer than 12 months. In addition, the Company evaluates other factors including normal
volatility in share price for quoted securities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted
securities.

Accumulated unrealized loss recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 both amounted to
�300,000. The carrying amount of financial assets at FVOCI both amounted to �50,000 as of December 31,
2024 and 2023.

f) Estimation of net realizable values and impairment of inventories

The Group provides an allowance to reduce inventories to net realizable values whenever the utility   of
inventories becomes lower than cost due to damage, physical deterioration, obsolescence, changes in price
levels or other causes. The estimate of the net realizable value is reviewed regularly.

The carrying values of inventories and the related allowance for inventory obsolescence are disclosed in Note
12.

g) Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the period
over which the assets are expected to be available for use. It is possible that future results of operations could
be materially affected by changes in these estimates. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property,
plant and equipment would increase recorded depreciation and amortization expense and decrease the related
asset accounts.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are discussed in Note 3.10.

h) Impairment of goodwill

The Group performed its annual impairment test on its goodwill as of reporting date. The recoverable amounts
of the intangible assets were determined based on value in use calculations using cash flow projections from
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. The following assumptions were
also used in computing value in use:



Growth rate estimates – growth rates were based on experiences and strategies developed for the various 
subsidiaries. The prospect for the industry was also considered in estimating the growth rates.

Discount rates – discount rates were estimated based on the industry weighted average cost of capital, which 
includes the cost of equity and debt after considering the gearing ratio. Value-in-use is the most sensitive to 
changes in discount rate and growth rate.

i) Impairment of non-financial assets other than inventories

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that the carrying amount of all non-
financial assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset
is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. At the reporting date, the Group
assesses whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.

Management has reviewed the carrying values of the Group’s property, plant and equipment as at December
31, 2024 and 2023 for impairment. Based on the results of its evaluation, there were no indications that the
property and equipment were impaired, thus, no impairment loss recognized in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

j) Realizability of deferred tax assets

Management reviews carrying amount of deferred tax assets at each reporting date. The carrying amount of
deferred tax assets is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available against which the related tax assets can be utilized.

The Group’s recognized deferred tax assets amounted to �14,031,440 and �15,969,265 as at December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively (see Note 34). The Group has not recognized deferred tax assets on NOLCO of
the Parent Company as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The non-recognition of deferred tax assets on
NOLCO is based on management’s assumption that there will be no available future taxable profits for the
Parent Company.

k) Incremental borrowing rate of lease liability

Incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment.

The incremental borrowing rate is determined by the Group on the commencement date of the lease. As a
result, it incorporates the impact of significant economic events and other changes in circumstances arising
between lease inception and commencement.

This incremental rate is used to measure the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are not
paid at the end of lease term. In 2024 and 2023, the Group’s determined incremental rates used to compute
the carrying value of lease liability amounting to a total of �65,856,210, and �68,667,141, respectively,
ranges between 3% to 7% (Note 35).

l) Estimation of retirement benefits

The determination of the Group’s obligation and cost for retirement benefits is dependent on the selection of
certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. The assumptions described in Note 31
include, among others, discount rates, average remaining working lives and rates of compensation increase.
While management believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in
actual experience or significant changes in assumptions may materially affect pension and other retirement
obligations. The details of the Group’s retirement benefits are provided in Note 33.

4.3 Provision and contingencies

The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of possible claims has been developed in consultation with 
outside legal counsel and is based upon an analysis of potential results.



NOTE 5 – BUSINESS COMBINATION 
 
In 2013, the stockholders approved the investment in and/or acquisition of various businesses and operating 
companies, including 51% controlling interest in MOSC, majority-owned by the Parent Company’s Chairman 
and President, Yang Chi Jen. A Subscription Agreement acquiring 51% controlling interest in MOSC was 
consequently executed on January 10, 2014. 
 
In 2017, the Company made additional subscription to 117,091,837 primary shares of its subsidiary, MOSC, at 
par value of �1.00 per share, to maintain the Company’s 51% ownership in MOSC. In 2017, Yang Chi Jen, 
subscribed to the remaining 365,785,000 unissued shares of the Parent Company at �0.20 per share, double the 
lowered par value of �0.10 per share, equivalent to a total amount of �73,157,000 with premium of �36,578,500. 
The BOD likewise approved the subscription by Yang Chi Jen to at least 25% of the proposed increase in 
authorized capital stock of the Company at Php0.20 per share. The increase in authorized capital stock of the 
Company was initially pegged from �250,000,000 to �750,000,000 but was later amended during the year to an 
amount as may be determined by the BOD but not exceeding �10 Billion. 
 
On March 18, 2021, the BOD determined and approved the initial additional increase of the authorized capital 
stock of the Company from �250 Million to �750 Million divided into 5,000,000 common shares at par value of 
�0.10 per share. The proceeds of the transaction shall be invested in MOSC, for the purpose of supporting its 
operations and expanding its production lines for fish and meat caning, meat and seafoods processing, and sauces. 
 
 
NOTE 6 – SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
 
In determining whether an NCI is material to the Parent Company, management employs both quantitative and 
qualitative factors to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the Parent Company’s interests in these 
entities, and the effects of those interests on the Parent Company’s financial position.  Factors considered include, 
but not limited to, carrying value of the subsidiary’s NCI relative to the NCI recognized in the Parent Company’s 
consolidated financial statements, the subsidiary’s contribution to the Parent Company’s consolidated revenues 
and net income, and other relevant qualitative risks associated with the subsidiary’s nature, purpose and size of 
activities. 
 
Based on management’s assessment, the Group has concluded that MOSC and C3 are considered subsidiaries 
with NCI that is material to the Parent Company. 
 
The ability of the subsidiary to pay dividends or make other distributions or payments to their shareholders 
(including the Parent Company) is subject to applicable law and other restrictions contained in financing 
agreements, shareholder agreements and other agreements that prohibit or limit the payment of dividends or other 
transfers of funds. 
 
The summarized financial information of MOSC and C3 are presented below, before inter-company eliminations 
but after consolidation adjustments for goodwill, other fair value adjustments on acquisition and adjustments 
required to apply uniform accounting policies at group level. 
 

  2024  2023 

  MOSC C3 Total  MOSC C3 Total 

Equity share held by NCI 49% 49%   49% 49%  
         
Summarized Statements of Financial Position:     
     
 Current assets � 1,695,974,784 13,773,939 1,709,748,723 � 1,576,379,896 14,278,156 1,590,658,052 

 Non-current assets  251,179,767 267,672 1,709,748,723  338,018,163 2,821,895 340,840,058 
 Current liabilities  1,108,619,023 30,070,324 3,419,497,446  1,075,809,637 30,055,324 1,105,864,962 

Non-current liabilities 93,652,931 1,282,255 6,838,994,892  94,397,047 1,285,255 95,682,302 
 Total Equity  744,882,597 (17,313,968) 13,677,989,784  744,191,375 (14,240,529) 729,950,846 
         

Equity attributable to 
Parent Company 
shareholders 

 

255,992,950 (7,233,609) 248,759,341  255,992,950 (7,233,609) 248,759,341 
Equity attributable to 
NCI 

 
245,954,012 (6,949,936) 239,004,076  245,954,012 (6,949,936) 239,004,076 

 



Summarized Statements of Comprehensive Income:

Revenues � 985,255,897 - 985,255,897 � 1,001,876,959 - 1,001,876,959
Net income (loss) 691,222 (3,073,439) (2,382,217) 2,400,795 (436,591) 1,964,204

Loss attributable to Parent 
Company shareholders 352,524 (1,567,454) (1,214,930) 1,224,405 (222,662) 1,001,743
Loss attributable to NCI 338,699 (1,505,985) (1,167,286) 1,176,390 (213,929) 962,461

Summarized Statements of Cash Flows:

Operating activities � 29,845,744 - 29,845,744 � 63,888,806 (245,220) 63,643,586
Investing activities 87,144,591 - 87,144,591 (27,888,020) - (27,888,020)
Financing activities 124,533,728 - 124,533,728 (104,207,034) 244,720 (103,962,314)
Net increase (decrease) in cash 7,543,392 - 7,543,392 (68,206,248) (500) (68,206,748)

NOTE 7 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each asset and liability for which 
it is practicable to estimate such value:

Cash, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and short-term borrowings. Carrying amounts 
approximate their fair values due to the relatively short-term maturities of these instruments.

Amounts due from and due to related parties. Carrying amounts of due from and due to related parties which are 
collectible/payable on demand approximate their fair values. Due from related parties are unsecured and have no 
foreseeable terms of repayments.

Long-term borrowings. The fair value of long-term borrowings is based on the future undiscounted value of future 
cash flows (interests and principal) using the applicable rates for similar types of loans.

Fair value hierarchy assets and liabilities

Assets and liabilities carried at fair values are required to be disclosed.

� Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active market for identical assets or liabilities;

� Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value
that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and

� Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are
not based on observable market data.

The following table shows the Company’s asset carried at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

December 31, 2024
Financial asset at FVOCI

Investment in golf share (Note 15) � 50,000 � - � -

December 31, 2023
Financial asset at FVOCI

Investment in golf share (Note 15) � 50,000 � - � -

December 31, 2022
Financial asset at FVOCI

Investment in golf share (Note 15) � 50,000 � - � -

The basis of the fair value of financial assets at FVOCI is the price of its most recent transaction based on Level 
1 of the fair value hierarchy disclosed in Note 3.4.



Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost for which fair values are disclosed:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Level 1 Level 3 Level 1 Level 3

Financial Assets
Cash (Note 10) � 334,760,745 � - � 327,271,022 � -
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) * - 840,695,010 - 646,946,586
Due from related parties (Note 14 and 32) - 31,505,509 - 114,329,686
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) - 330,536 - 330,536

Total � 334,760,745 � 872,531,055 � 327,271,022 � 761,606,808

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables (Note 20) ** � - � 92,406,992 � - � 98,782,650
Due to related party (Notes 21 and 32) - 167,355,669 - 147,742,827
Borrowings (Note 22) 1,007,846,454 1,007,846,454 968,477,500 -
Lease liability (Note 23 and 35) 65,856,210 65,856,210 68,667,141 -

Total � 1,073,702,664 � 1,333,465,325 � 1,037,144,641 � 246,525,477

*Exclusive of advances to suppliers and advances to employees
**Exclusive of government payables

For cash, with fair value included in Level 1, management considers that the carrying amounts of these financial 
instruments approximate their fair values due to their short-term duration.

There had been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 
2023.

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included in Level 3 which are not traded in an active 
market is determined by using generally acceptable pricing models and valuation techniques or by reference to 
the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same after taking into account the related 
credit risk of counterparties, or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of 
the instrument.

NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table shows the classification, carrying values and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and 
financial liabilities as at December 31, 2024 and 2023:

2024 2023

Carrying value Fair value
Carrying 

value Fair value

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash (Note 10) � 334,760,745 � 334,760,745 � 327,271,022 � 327,271,022
Trade and other receivables (Note 11)* 840,695,010 840,695,010 646,946,586 646,946,586
Due from related parties (Notes 14 and 32) 31,505,509 31,505,509 114,329,686 114,329,686

Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 330,536 330,536 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Total � 1,207,341,800 � 1,207,341,800 � 1,088,927,830 � 1,088,927,830

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (Note 20) ** � 92,406,992 � 92,406,992 � 98,782,650 � 98,782,650
Due to a related party (Notes 21 and 32) 167,355,669 167,355,669 147,742,827 147,742,827
Borrowings (Note 22) 1,007,846,454 1,007,846,454 968,477,500 968,477,500
Lease liability (Note 23 and 35) 65,856,210 65,856,210 68,667,141 68,667,141

Total � 1,241,058,333 � 1,333,465,325 � 1,283,670,118 � 1,283,670,118

*Exclusive of advances to suppliers and advances to employees
**Exclusive of government payables



The income, expense, gain and/or losses recognized from financial instruments for the years ended December 31, 
2024, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Impairment losses on:
Trade receivables (Note 11) � 2,088,264 � - � -

Finance costs (Note 31) 13,576,628 22,527,638 22,286,127

Total � 13,576,628 � 22,527,638 � 22,286,127

Finance income (Note 10) � 82,521 � 97,766 � 34,979
Foreign exchange gain(loss) (Note 30) (1,808,048) 1,581,186 (2,457,748)

Net � (1,725,527) � 1,678,952 � (2,422,769)

NOTE 9 - FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

9.1 General objectives, policies and processes

The BOD has overall responsibility and authority for the determination of the Group’s risk management objectives 
and policies and designing and operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of such objectives 
and policies. It establishes a forum of discussion of the Group’s approach to risk issues in order to make relevant 
decisions.

The overall objective of the BOD is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly 
affecting the Group’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below.

9.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed through it-operations to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

There have been no substantive changes in the Group’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, 
policies and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods unless 
otherwise stated in this note.

The policies for managing specific risks are summarized below:

(a) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial   instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market prices comprise three types of risk: interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and 
commodity price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include bank borrowings.

i. Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group is not exposed to interest rate risk as the Group’s interest rate on
bank loans is fixed and pre-determined at the inception of the contract.

ii. Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange
rates relates primarily to cash equivalent denominated in a currency different from the Group's functional
currency. The principal currency risks to which the Group is exposed involve the U.S. Dollar (US$), Taiwan
Dollars (TW$), and Hongkong Dollars (HK$).

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk on its foreign currency denominated monetary asset since the 
effect of foreign currency changes on the consolidated financial statements is material.  



iii. Commodity price risk
Commodity price risk is the risk related to the volatility of price of certain commodities. The Group is not
exposed to this risk as its operations do not constitute goods which prices are volatile.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the 
other party to incur a financial loss. The receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result 
that the Group’s exposure to impairment is not significant. The Group has a credit and collection department that 
is consolidated and independent from the sales department. The Group instituted this consolidated department 
even though the normal practice in its industry is that the salespeople are also the ones who collect the receivables. 
The Group deals only with credit worthy counterparty duly approved by the management.

The credit quality of the financial assets that are neither past due or impaired is considered to be good quality and 
expected to be collectible without incurring any credit losses. Credit losses from balances with banks are managed 
by ensuring that the Group's deposit arrangements are with reputable and financially sound counterparty.

The following table provides information regarding the maximum credit risk exposure of the Group arising from 
its financial assets as at December 31 at gross amounts:

2024 2023

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash (Note 10) � 334,760,745 � 327,271,022
Trade and other receivables – net (Note 11) 840,778,899 646,946,586
Due from related parties (Notes 14 and 32) 31,505,509 114,329,686
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 50,000

Total � 1,207,425,689 � 1,088,927,830

The following table provides information regarding the Group’s analysis per age of financial assets by class as at:

December 31, 2024
Past due but not impaired

Neither past due 
or impaired

31 to 60
days

61 to 90
days

Over 90 
days Impaired Total

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash (Note 10) � 334,760,745 � - � - � - � - � 334,760,745
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) 471,032,393 110,300,104 150,646,298 108,800,104 18,727,963 859,506,862
Due from related parties (Notes 14, 32) 31,250,000 - - 255,509 - 31,505,509
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 - - - - 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 - - - - 50,000

Total � 1,207,341,800 � 110,300,104 � 150,646,298 � 109,055,613 � 18,727,963 � 1,226,153,652

December 31, 2023

Past due but not impaired

Neither past due 
or impaired 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days

Over 90 
days Impaired Total

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash (Note 10) � 327,271,022 � - � - � - � - � 327,271,022
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) 320,764,440 94,705,540 102,796,900 - 16,639,699 646,946,586
Due from related parties (Notes 14, 32) 15,501,628 15,788,711 82,783,838 255,509 - 114,329,686
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 - - - - 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 - - - - 50,000

Total � 663,917,626 � 110,494,251 � 185,580,738 � 255,509 � 16,639,699 � 1,088,927,830

There were no other credit enhancements attached to the Group’s financial assets aside from assigned trade 
receivables.



Credit quality per class of financial assets

The Group’s bases in grading its financial assets are as follows:

High grade – These are receivables which have a high probability of collection (the counterparty has the apparent 
ability to satisfy its obligation and the security on the receivables are readily enforceable).

Standard grade – These are receivables where collections are probable due to the reputation and the financial 
ability of the counter party to pay but have been outstanding for a certain period of time.

Substandard grade – These are receivables that can be collected provided the Group makes persistent effort to 
collect them.

The table shows the credit quality by class of financial assets of the group based on the historical experience with 
the corresponding parties as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

December 31, 2024
Neither past due nor impaired Past due 

but not 
impaired Impaired TotalHigh grade

Standard 
grade

Substandard 
grade

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash (Note 10) � 334,760,745 � - � - � - � - � 334,760,745
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) - 471,032,393 - 369,746,506 18,727,963 859,506,862
Due from related parties (Notes 14, 32) - 31,250,000 - 255,509 - 31,505,509
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 - - - - 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI -
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 - - - 50,000

Total � 335,141,281 � 502,282,393 � - � 370,002,015 � 18,727,963 � 1,226,153,652

December 31, 2023

Neither past due nor impaired Past due 
but not 

impaired Impaired TotalHigh grade
Standard 

grade
Substandard 

grade

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash (Note 10) � 27,271,022 � - � - � - � - � 327,271,022
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) - 320,764,440 - 309,542,447 16,639,699 646,946,586
Due from related parties (Notes 14, 32) - 15,501,628 - 98,828,058 - 114,329,686
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 - - - 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI - -
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 - - 50,000

Total � 327,651,558 � 336,266,068 � - � 408,370,505 � 16,639,699 � �1,088,927,830

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets is evaluated using internal credit rating. Financial assets are 
considered high grade if the counterparties are not expected to default in setting their obligations, thus credit risk 
exposure is minimal. These counterparties include banks, customers with no past due accounts and related parties 
who pay on or before due date.

The Group has no financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated.

(b) Liquidity risk

This represents the risk or difficulty in raising funds to meet the Group’s commitment associated with financial 
obligation and daily cash flow requirement. The Group is exposed to the possibility that adverse exchanges in 
business environment and/or its operations would result to substantially higher working capital requirements and 
the subsequent difficulty in financing additional working capital.

The Group addresses liquidity concerns primarily through cash flows from operations and short-term borrowings, 
if necessary. The Group has credit lines with several of the top banks of the Philippines which gives its financial 
flexibility in its operations. The Group likewise regularly evaluates other financing instruments to broaden the 
Group’s range of financing resources.

The following table summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s other financial liabilities as at December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively, based on the contractual undiscounted payments:



December 31, 2024

On demand
Within 
1 year

More than
1 year Total

Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables* � 77,756,748 � 3,555,226 � - � 81,311,974
Due to a related party 167,355,669 - - 167,355,669
Borrowings - 1,007,846,454 - 1,007,846,454
Lease liability - 16,247,201 49,609,009 65,856,210

� 245,112,417 � 1,027,648,881 � 49,609,009 � 1,322,370,307
*Exclusive of government payables

December 31, 2023

On demand
Within 
1 year

More than
1 year Total

Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables* � 86,075,711 � 13,654,316 � - � 99,730,027
Due to a related party 147,742,827 - - 147,742,827
Borrowings - 986,477,500 - 986,477,500

Lease liability - 17,523,833 51,143,308 68,667,141

� 233,818,538 � 1,004,001,333 � 51,143,308 � 1,302,617,495

*Exclusive of government payables

9.3 Capital risk management objectives and policies

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure its ability to continue as a going concern 
and that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize 
shareholder value.

The BOD has overall responsibility for monitoring of capital in proportion to risk. Profiles for capital ratios are 
set in the light of changes in the Group’s external environment and the risks underlying the Group’s business 
operations and industry.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio, which is calculated as total debt less cash then 
divided by total equity. Total debt is equivalent to total liabilities sown in the consolidated statements of financial 
position. Total equity comprises all components of equity including share capital and retained earnings.

2024 2023

Total liabilities � 1,380,437,031 � 1,330,976,291
Total equity 657,737,136 662,715,661

Net debt to equity ratio 2.10:1 2.01:1

The Group through the Finance function sets operational targets and performance indicator in order to assure that 
the capital and returns requirement are achieved. Appropriate monitoring and reporting systems accompany these 
target and indicators to assess the achievement of the Group’s goals and institute appropriate action.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes and the Group has no externally imposed capital 
requirements in 2024 and 2023.



NOTE 10 - CASH

As of December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023

Cash on hand � 13,056,246 � 262,613,472
Cash in banks 321,704,499 64,657,550

Total � 334,760,745 � 327,271,022

Cash in banks earn interest based on the banks’ average deposit rates. Finance income from cash in banks 
amounted to �82,521, and �97,766, for 2024 and 2023 respectively.

Included in cash in banks are amounts in a currency other than the Group’s functional currency as follows:

2024 2023

Cash in banks (US dollars) US$ 64,382,996 US$ 18,302,992

NOTE 11 - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES - NET

As of December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023

Trade � 842,020,935 � 663,586,286
Advances to suppliers 17,485,927 97,983,947

Sub-total � 859,506,862 � 761,570,233
Allowance for doubtful accounts (18,727,963) (16,639,699)

Total � 840,778,899 � 744,930,534

Trade receivables are from customers of the Group and are not interest bearing. Normal credit terms of trade 
receivables range from 30 to 60 days.

Advances to suppliers represent advance payments made to suppliers for purchase of goods. These are deducted 
from the purchase price upon receipt of goods.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the 
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. Accordingly, management 
believes that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for impairment loss on trade 
receivables.

Movements of allowance for impairment loss on trade and other receivables are as follows:

Particulars 2024 2023

At January 1 � 16,639,699 � 16,639,699
Impairment loss during the year 1,580,047 -

At December 31 � 18,219,746 � 16,639,699

Management believes that the carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates its fair value due to its 
short-term nature.



NOTE 12- INVENTORIES - NET 
 
As of December 31, the account consists of: 
 

  2024  2023 

At cost     
Octopus � 106,080,418 � 123,337,325 

Scallop meat  45,332,420  65,371,599 

Black tiger shrimps  35,057,501  35,797,733 

Cuttlefish  49,260,375  32,124,265 

Squid  13,624,036  27,275,620 

Abalone  44,630,201  26,573,904 

Parrot fish  14,401,096  14,401,096 

Canned crabmeat  12,418,238  12,418,238 

Kissu fish  3,388,756  10,717,381 

Groupers  6,976,133  10,213,808 

Giant squid fillet  31,597,459  8,356,942 

Lobster  3,760,728  7,190,208 

Vannamei fish  5,109,403  5,109,403 

Leather jacket fish  3,282,200  4,726,204 

Crablets  2,671,372  2,671,372 

Ribbon fish  607,042  607,042 

Other aquaculture products  38,795,594  30,642,938 

     
Total �  416,992,972 � 417,535,078 

Allowance for inventory obsolescence  (4,703,235)  (4,703,235) 

     

Net realizable value � 412,289,737 � 412,831,843 

 
Cost of inventories recognized as cost of sales amounted to �947,664,868, �938,712,347, and �936,066,296 in 
2024, 2023 and 2022 respectively (see Note 28). 
 
Movement of allowance for inventory obsolescence is as follows: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 

     
At January 1 � 4,703,235 � 4,703,235 
Impairment loss during the year (Note 30)  -  - 
Write-off  -  - 

     
At December 31 � 4,703,235 � 4,703,235 

 
No allowance for inventory impairment was provided in 2024, 2023, and 2022 since aquatic products which did 
not meet regulatory bodies’ standard are reprocessed and/or resold. 
 
 
NOTE 13- PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
 
As of December 31, the account consists of: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 

     
Supplies � 17,715,030 � 46,950,973 
Input VAT  78,449,037  55,342,863 
Prepaid insurance  7,182,314  7,914,038 
Prepaid tax and other creditable withholding taxes  5,112  849,336 
Guaranty deposit  24,201,909  99,979 

     
Total � 127,553,402 � 111,157,189 
Less: Allowance for impairment  (722,433)  (722,433) 

     
Net  � 126,830,969 � 110,434,756 

 



NOTE 14 – DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES

As of December 31, the account consists of: 

Particulars 2024 2023

Advances to MOSC - Vietnam � - � 82,824,177
Advances to Philippine 101 Hotel, Inc. (Note 32) 31,250,000 31,250,000
Advances to stockholder (Note 32) 255,209 255,509

Total 31,505,209 114,329,686

The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand.

On March 22, 2017, the Company’s BOD approved the acquisition of 49% of the Philippine 101 Hotel, Inc., a 
domestic corporation majority owned by Yang Chi Jen. As of December 31, 202�, the parties have yet to 
complete the acquisition. 

NOTE 15 - FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

As of December 31, the account pertains to:

Particulars 2024 2023

Investment in golf share � 50,000 � 50,000

There was no movement of the allowance for impairment loss for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The investment in golf share consists of one (1) membership share in Eagle Ridge golf & Country Club Inc. and 
is classified as financial asset at FVOCI measured at level 1 of the fair value hierarchy in the consolidated 
statements of financial position (see Note 7). The movement in the account is summarized as follows:

Particulars 2024 2023

At cost � 350,000 � 350,000
Accumulated unrealized loss on market value (300,000) (300,000)

Total � 50,000 � 50,000

There was no movement in the accumulated unrealized loss on market value of investment in golf share as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

NOTE 16 – INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

As of December 31, 2024 the account consists of:

Equity in net earnings

Ownership Cost

Cumulative
Balance

up to
December 31,

2023
Net Loss 
(Note 24)

Cumulative
Share in

Net Earnings 
(Loss)
to Date

Year –end
Total
2024

Pacific Seafoods Corporation 47.57% � 39,328,958 � 26,333,226 � (874,271) � (12,552,995) � 26,775,963



As of December 31, 2023, the account consists of: 
 

     Equity in net earnings   

 Ownership  Cost 

 Cumulative 
Balance 

up to 
December 31, 

2022 

 

Net Loss 
(Note 24) 

 Cumulative 
Share in 

Net Earnings 
(Loss) 
to Date  

Year –end 
Total 
2023 

            
Pacific Seafoods Corporation 47.57% � 38,011,950 � 28,390,868 � (476,455) � (11,678,724) � 26,333,226 

 
On May 31, 2017, the Parent Company entered into an agreement acquiring 49% ownership and control of Pacific 
Seafoods Company Limited (PASECO), a non-stock Vietnamese enterprise primarily engaged in aqua foods and 
products processing and preservation. The acquisition price is 17.15 Billion Vietnamese Dongs. 
 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Parent Company’s percentage of stock ownership in PASECO is 47.57%.
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NOTE 18 - GOODWILL 
 
The Group’s goodwill pertains to the acquisition of MOSC on January 10, 2014. The account balance amounted 
to �14,521,202 in both years 2024 and 2023. 
 
The recoverable amount has been determined based on the value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections 
from financial budgets approved by the management covering five-year period. 
 
Based on management’s assessment, the carrying value of goodwill is not impaired, thus, no impairment loss was 
recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023. 
 
 

NOTE 19 - OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 
The account consists of refundable security deposits related to the lease of plants located in Navotas, Parañaque, 
Cebu, etc. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the refundable security deposits of the Group both amounted to 
�330,536. 
 
 

NOTE 20 – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
As of December 31, the account consists of: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 

     
Trade payables � 69,540,515 � 92,751,625 
Accrued expenses  22,866,477  6,978,403 
Government payables  1,053,781  1,058,965 
Income tax  588,748  760,836 

     
Total � 94,049,521 � 101,549,829 

 
Trade payables from suppliers of marine products are non-interest bearing and with normal credit terms are 30 to 
60 days. 
 
Accrued expenses include unbilled expenses which are normally settled within one (1) year. 
 
Government liabilities include withholding taxes, Social Security System (SSS) premiums and other liabilities to 
the government which are normally settled within 30 days. 
 
 
NOTE 21 – DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 
 
The account pertains to advances made to stockholders amounting to �167,355,669, and �147,742,827 for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively (Note 32). The advances’ nature is unsecured, non-interest 
bearing and payable on demand. 
 
  



 

 

NOTE 22 – BORROWINGS 
 
Loan agreements with local banks 
 
These loans were obtained to augment the Group’s funding for its operations. The details of and movements in 
the account are as follows: 
 

 

Lending Institution 

 Interest 

 Rate 

 

Terms 

 

Security  

At December 
31, 2024 

Current liabilities:  
 

  
 Bank of the Philippine 

Islands 

 4.60%-

5.75% 

 Renewable 

every 180 days  

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables � 278,355,797 
 

Landbank 

 6.00%- 

6.75% 

 Renewable 

every 180 days 

 Deed of assignment of trade 

receivables  189,486,054 
 

Security Bank 

 5.75%-

7.00% 

 Renewable 

every 120 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  341,151,750 
 

ChinaBank 

 6.25%-

7.25% 

 Renewable 

every 180 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  24,856,607 
 

Banco de Oro  

 6.50%-

6.75% 

 Renewable 

every 90 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  107,711,962 
 

Country Builders Bank 

 

0.50% 

 Renewable 

every 360 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  66,284,284 
          
Total   � 1,007,846,454 

 
 

 

Lending Institution 

 Interest 

 Rate 

 

Terms 

 

Security  

At December 

31, 2023 

Current liabilities:  
 

  
 Bank of the Philippine 

Islands 

 4.60%-

5.75% 

 Renewable 

every 180 days  

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables � 294,785,000 

 

Landbank 

 6.00%- 

6.75% 

 Renewable 

every 180 days 

 Deed of assignment of trade 

receivables  134,032,500 

 

Security Bank 

 5.75%-

7.00% 

 Renewable 

every 120 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  334,660,000 

 

ChinaBank 

 6.25%-

7.25% 

 Renewable 

every 180 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  70,000,000 

 

Banco de Oro  

 6.50%-

6.75% 

 Renewable 

every 90 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  115,000,000 

 

Country Builders Bank 

 

0.50% 

 Renewable 

every 360 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  20,000,000 

          

Total   � 968,477,500 

 
At the date of business combination, the Group recognized in its consolidated financial statements the carrying 
amounts of borrowings in the books of MOSC. The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their 
respective fair values at the date of business combination. 

 

� Bank of the Philippine Islands 
  
Existing Real Estate Mortgage over TCT# T-1000160, T-1036760 and T-1045092 located at Lots 4, 5 & 6, 
Blk 4 First Citiland Ind’l Complex, Dasmariñas, Cavite City registered under the Company with deed of 
assignment of trade receivables. The terms of promissory note are to not to exceed 180 days. 
 

� Land Bank 
 

Existing Real Estate Mortgage executed by MOSC under TCT# 083-2012001120 with a total area of 2,539 
square meters located in Brgy. Fabrica, Municipality of Bulan. Province of Sorsogon and registered under 
the name of the Company. 

 



� Security Bank Corporation

Line shall be secured by the Continuing Suretyship of Mr. Yang Chi Jen a.k.a Michael Yang and secured by
a Registered Real Estate Mortgage (REM) for �30M and another REM for �170M over a parcel of Land
located on Pildera St., Brgy. Tambo, Paranaque City covered by TCT No. 182032 registerd under the name
of Millennium Ocean Star Corporation.

� Chinabank

The line shall be effective up to March 31, 2017. Surety Agreement for �30M executed by Yang Chi Jen on
April 3, 2014 shall remain in full force and effect. (T-1227236 / T-1165407 - Block 1 Lot 22 and 23
Dasmarinas, Cavite and TCT#118-2013000195 – Catbalogan)

� Banco de Oro

Existing Real Estate Mortgage executed by the Company under TCT# T-98,512, T-98,513, T-98,514, T-
122,257, T-122,258, T-122,292, T-123,195, T-123,198, T-123,383 Located at Guiwan, Zamboanga and
CCT#164-2015008998 the East Tower of One Serendra registered in the name of Yang Chi Jen.

� Maybank

Secured by a parcel of Land with improvement covered by TCT# T-119,100 located along Talon Talon
Road, Brgy. Mampang, Zamboanga City, registered in the name of Shieiie Corporation with an area of 8,607
sqm.

� UCPB

Real Estate Mortgage over land and all improvements thereon covered by Transfer Certificates of Title with
deed of assignment of trade receivables. This term is up to 180 days. (TCT#083-2012001120 – Bulan,
Sorsogon)

In 2018, BPI Family Savings Bank and Security Bank granted loans amounting to �235,944 and �2,990,973, 
respectively, to the Company. The loans are fully secured by a chattel mortgage and was settled in 2021. 

Finance costs arising from these loans amounted to �13,034,964, �15,532,926, and �15,094,230 for the years 
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 31).

There were no breaches of loan agreement terms such as any defaults of principal and interest of these loans 
payable during the period.

NOTE 23 – LEASE LIABILITY

As of December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023

Lease liability, current � 16,247,201 � 17,523,833
Lease liability, non-current 49,609,009 51,143,308

Total � 65,856,210 � 68,667,141

Finance cost attributable to the lease liability as of December 31 amounted to �541,665, and �6,994,712 in 2024
and 2023 (Note 31).



 

 

NOTE 24 – DEPOSIT FOR FUTURE SHARE SUBSCRIPTION 
 
On December 18, 2020, the stockholders of the Parent Company approved the increase of the authorized capital 
stock up to an amount to be determined by the Board, not exceeding P10 Billion, and subscription to at least 25% 
thereof by the Company’s Chairman/President and CEO, Yang Chi Jen, at �0.20 per share.  
 
On March 18, 2021, the members of the Board of Directors approved the additional increase of the authorized 
capital stock of the Corporation from �250 Million to �750 Million, divided into 5,000,000,000 common shares 
at par value of �0.10/share. 
 
The transaction pertains to private placement through an increase in authorized capital stock subject to and 
effective upon the approval of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The 5,000,000,000 common shares shall 
be subscribed by Yang Chi Jen (Michael Yang) with subscription price per share of �0.20 and total subscription 
amount of �1,000,000,000. 
 
The proceeds of the transaction shall be invested by the Parent Company in its subsidiary, Millennium Ocean Star 
Corporation (MOSC), for the purpose of supporting its operations and expanding its production lines for fish and 
meat canning, meat and seafoods processing, and sauces. 
 
The aggregate value of the consideration is P1 Billion. Total initial payment is at least 25% or equivalent to P250 
Million, payable prior to the filing of the application before the Securities and Exchange Commission.  The 
balance is payable in 5 years, unless sooner settled or a capital call is made. 
 
On September 30, 2022, the Board of Directors, however, amended the timeline to proceed with the application 
for increase of the authorized capital stock of the Corporation, such that the same shall proceed only after the 
approval of the additional listing of the remaining unlisted shares of the Corporation and service of the lock-up 
period, as may be applicable. 
 
Deposit for future stock subscription represents payments made on subscription of shares which cannot be directly 
credited to ‘Capital Stock’ pending application for the approval of the proposed increase presented for filing /filed 
with the SEC and registration of the amendment to the Articles of Incorporation increasing capital stock.  
 
In addition, deposit for future stock subscription shall be classified under equity if all of the following elements 
are present as at reporting date: 
 

a. The unissued authorized capital of the entity is insufficient to cover the amount of shares indicated in the 
contract; 

b. There is Board of Directors’ approval on the proposed increase in authorized capital stock (for which a 
deposit was received by the corporation); 

c. There is stockholders’ approval of said proposed increase; and  
d. The application for the approval of the proposed increase has been presented for filing or has been filed 

with the Commission. 
 
The deposit for future share subscription is recognized as a noncurrent liability in the consolidated statements of 
financial position since not all of the foregoing elements are present. 
 
The deposit for future share subscription is recognized as equity in the statements of consolidated financial 
position since all the foregoing elements are present as of December 31, 2022.  
 
As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, deposit for future share subscription both amounted to �287,636,935. 
 
 
  



NOTE 25 – SHARE CAPITAL

As of December 31, details of the Parent Company’s share capital are as follows:

2024 2023

Number of 
Shares Amount Number of 

Shares
Amount

Authorized shares at �0.1 par value 
per share � 2,500,000,000 � 250,000,000 � 2,500,000,000 � 250,000,000

Outstanding shares:
Issued but not yet paid � - � - � - � -
Issued and fully paid 2,500,000,000 250,000,000 2,500,000,000 250,000,000

Issued share capital � 2,500,000,000 � 250,000,000 � 2,500,000,000 � 250,000,000
Treasury shares (130,315,381) (13,031,538) (130,315,381) (13,031,538)

Outstanding share capital, net � 2,369,684,619 � 236,968,462 � 2,369,684,619 � 236,968,462

Movements of the Parent Company’s outstanding shares issued and fully paid are as follows:

Particulars 2024 2023

At January 1 � 250,000,000 � 250,000,000
Issuance during the year - -
Treasury shares (Note 40) (13,031,538) (13,031,538)
Return of capital - -

236,968,462Total � 236,968,462 �

There were no issuances of shares during 2024 and 2023. 

Additional increase in authorized capital stock 
On March 18, 2021, the members of the Board of Directors of the Parent Company approved the initial increase 
of the authorized capital stock of the Company from P250 Million to P750 Million, divided into 5,000,000,000 
common shares at par value of P0.10/share.  

On September 30, 2022, the Board of Directors, however, amended the timeline to proceed with the application 
for increase of the authorized capital stock of the Parent Company, such that the same shall proceed only after the 
approval of the additional listing of the remaining unlisted shares of the Parent Company and service of the lock-
up period, as may be applicable. 

Return of capital 
On September 30, 2022, the members of the Board of Directors approved the rescission of subscription of various 
stockholders with total shares of 130,315,381 and total par value of �13,031,538, for failure of the said 
stockholders to provide the requirements and assistance needed within a considerable period since the transaction. 

The 130,315,381 common shares were removed from the	outstanding shares of the Parent Company, and any 
previously issued certificates of stocks representing said shares were surrendered to and canceled by the Parent 
Company.
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NOTE 26 – ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL

As of December 31, the movement of additional paid-in capital are as follows:

Particulars 2024 2023

At January 1 � 36,578,500 � 36,578,500

Share premium on common shares issued during the year (Note 15)

Gross proceeds  - -

Par value of issued shares - -

At December 31 � 36,578,500 � 36,578,500

Additional paid-in capital arises when the amount subscribed is in excess of nominal values.

NOTE 27 - REVENUES

For the years ended December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Export sales � 731,008,142 � 819,635,540 � 830,195,637
Local sales 254,247,755 182,241,419 169,124,055

Total � 985,255,897 � 1,001,876,959 � 999,319,692

The export sales consist of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Squid products � 237,345,984 � 196,007,504 � 141,682,884
Octopus 137,269,402 113,186,155 157,205,928
Scallops meat 130,702,906 99,925,493 155,226,116
Cuttlefish products 86,596,915 157,067,259 121,781,896
Abalone/tokobushi 62,567,910 170,212,456 123,542,275
Leather jacket fish 39,228,267 - 11,350,336
Black tiger shrimp 9,680,590 50,601,914 41,434,170
Giant squid fillet 2,908,381 7,670,018 9,826,607
Groupers (red) 1,151,939 1,702,336 1,214,788
Lobster 74,590 8,744,442 9,916,966
Kissu fillet - 1,356,656 191,453
Parrot fish - - 443,627
Export of canned crab meat - - -
Other aquaculture products 23,481,258 13,161,307 56,378,591

Total � 731,008,142 � 819,635,540 � 830,195,637

The Group exports its products to various countries such as USA, Taiwan, Hongkong and Japan.



NOTE 28 – COST OF SALES

For the years ended December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Inventories, beginning � 400,413,605 � 431,469,257 � 462,146,581
Net purchases of goods 774,907,735 739,035,469 719,404,465
Overheads 172,215,026 168,621,226 198,402,745

Cost of goods available for sale 1,347,536,366 1,339,125,952 1,379,953,791
Inventories, ending (Note 12) (399,871,498) (400,413,605) (443,887,495)

Cost of sales � 947,664,868 � 938,712,347 � 936,066,296

Details of overheads are as follows:
Depreciation and amortization (Note 17) � 69,199,967 � 71,581,610 � 105,141,862
Repairs and maintenance 44,749,794 50,861,776 3,968,055
Communication, light and water 16,360,527 12,472,977 37,894,924
Packaging 9,719,740 9,370,004 5,952,084
Direct labor 9,655,309 6,830,712 11,312,611
Handling 9,397,139 9,059,011
Freight 8,430,904 5,093,015 26,228,843
Indirect labor 4,523,098 3,179,999 7,715,883
Rental (Note 35) 178,546 172,122 188,483
Others - - -

Total � 172,215,026 � 168,621,226 � 198,402,745

The Group purchases its products through its buying stations strategically located all over the Philippines.

NOTE 29 – GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For the years ended December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Depreciation and amortization (Note 17) � 7,932,535 � 12,969,551 � 12,599,310
Rental (Note 35) 3,008,534 5,232,005 6,530,542
Taxes and licenses 2,441,111 7,741,981 12,278,634
Salaries, wages and benefits 2,333,146 4,334,268 4,178,786
Documentary stamp tax 2,289,811 15,088 875,615
Provision for expected credit losses (Note 11) 2,088,264 - -
Professional fees 1,555,986 2,113,920 1,347,077
Shipping costs 1,163,893 1,816,730 727,393
Repairs and maintenance 1,282,570 2,198,506 1,406,019
Communication, light and water 854,248 2,024,156 1,559,576
Retirement benefits 790,183 778,417 505,221
Office supplies 706,308 681,978 608,816
Fuel and oil 623,200 890,389 569,928
Insurance 476,571 658,108 150,785
Transportation and travel 292,195 472,421 377,811
Membership dues 277,065 278,941 252,520
Representation 183,491 344,407 409,899
Marketing - 275,754 4,852
Filing fees and other charges - 232,453 -
Training and seminars 35,760 47,760 35,760
Fines, penalties, and other charges - 2,000 444,569
Others 662,742 57,086 112,939

� 28,997,613 � 43,165,919 � 44,976,052

Others include bank charges, reprocessing cost, donation & contributions, brokerage fees, sanitation expenses, 
and product testing and analysis fees.



NOTE 30 – OTHER INCOME (LOSS) - NET

For the years ended December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Rental income (Note 35) � 1,696,298 � 1,558,820 � 1,927,638
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (108,735) (1,581,186) 2,457,748
Realized foreign exchange gain 1,916,783 1,311,756 470,729

Total � 3,504,346 � 1,289,390 � 4,856,115

NOTE 31 – FINANCE COSTS

For the years ended December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Interest costs from:
Borrowing (Note 22) � 13,034,964 � 15,532,926 � 15,094,230
Finance lease (Note 35) 541,664 6,994,712 7,191,897

Total � 13,576,628 � 22,527,638 � 22,286,127

NOTE 32 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly through one or 
more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and 
operating decisions. Such relationships also exist between and/or among entities which are under the common 
control with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting enterprises and their key management 
personnel, directors or its shareholders.

The details of the Group’s related parties are summarized as follows:

Name of the related party Relationship
Nature of 

transaction
Country of 

incorporation

Millenium Ocean Star Corporation 
(MOSC) Affiliate Advances Philippines
Philippine 101 Hotel, Inc. Affiliate Advances Philippines
Camsur Canning Affiliate Advances Philippines

Individuals
Key management personnel /
shareholders Advances -



a. Outstanding balances

The following transactions have been entered into with related parties as of December 31, 2024:

Related Party Relationship
Nature of 

Transaction Transactions
Outstanding 

Balance
Nature, terms and 

Conditions
Nature of 

Consideration

Receivables

Stockholders
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances � - � 31,250,000

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing

Cash 
Consideration

Stockholder
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances - 255,509

On demand; 
unsecured non-
interest bearing

Cash 
Consideration

MOSC 
Vietnam 
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances - -

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing advances

Cash 
Settlement

Total � - � 31,505,509

Payables

Individuals
(Note 21) Shareholders Advances 19,612,842 167,355,669

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing advances

Cash 
Settlement

Total � 19,612,842 � 167,355,669

The following transactions have been entered into with related parties as of December 31, 2023:

Related Party Relationship
Nature of 

Transaction Transactions
Outstanding 

Balance
Nature, terms and 

Conditions
Nature of 

Consideration

Receivables

Stockholders
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances � - � 31,250,000

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing

Cash 
Consideration

Stockholder
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances - 255,509

On demand; 
unsecured non-
interest bearing

Cash 
Consideration

MOSC 
Vietnam 
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances (10,077,597) 82,824,177

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing advances

Cash 
Settlement

Total � (10,077,597) � 114,329,686

Payables

Individuals
(Note 21) Shareholders Advances 1,719,792 147,742,827

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing advances

Cash 
Settlement

Total � 1,719,792 � 147,742,827

b. Transactions

Significant transactions with related parties for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 below:

Rental (Note 29)

Particulars 2024 2023

Affiliate
MOSC � 120,000 � 120,000

c) Key management personnel compensation

Salaries and other short-term benefits of key management personnel amounted to �5,589,694, �5,589,694,
and �5,158,877 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. These are included in 



 

 

“direct labor” and “salaries, wages and benefits” account under “cost of sales” and “operating expenses” in 
the consolidated statements of income, respectively. 

 
 
NOTE 33 – RETIREMENT BENEFITS  
 
The Group has a non-contributory, defined benefit plan covering all its officers and regular employees. Retirement 
benefits expense recognized in the consolidated statement of gain (loss) is computed based on provision of PAS 
19R. The principal actuarial assumptions used to determine the funding of the trust fund is accrued benefit 
actuarial cost method which takes into the account the factors of interest, mortality, disability, and salary 
projection rates. 
 
The amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position are as follows: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 

     

Present value of the obligation � 44,043,922 � 43,253,739 

 
The retirement benefits expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income as follows: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 

     
Current service cost (Note 29) � 256,899 � 245,133 
Interest cost (Note 29)  533,284  533,284 

     
Total � 790,183 � 778,417 

 
a. Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation 

 
The movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows: 
 

Particulars   2024  2023 

     

Present value of obligation at January 1 � 43,253,739 � 42,475,322 

Fair value at date of business combination     

Current service cost � 256,899 � 245,133 

Interest cost  533,284  533,284 

  � 790,183 � 778,417 

Benefits paid directly from book reserve  -  - 

Remeasurements in OCI:     

 Effect of changes in financial assumptions  -  - 

 Effect of experience adjustments  -  - 

  � - � - 

 Present value of obligation at December 31 � 44,043,922 � 43,253,739 

 
b. Remeasurements in OCI 

 
Remeasurements in OCI represent actuarial gains and losses presented at net of related deferred tax as shown 
below: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 

     

At January 1 � 7,455,587 � 7,455,587 

Fair value at date of business combination  -  - 
Remeasurements in OCI, net of deferred tax  -  - 

     
At December 31 � 7,455,587 � 7,455,587 

 
  



c. Actuarial assumptions

Particulars 2024 2023

Actuarial gain recognized � - � -
Deferred tax - -

Actuarial gain recognized, net � - � -
Non-controlling interest - -

Attributable to owners of the Parent Company (51%) � - � -

The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:

2024 2023

Discount rate 4.80% 4.80%
Salary projection rate 10% 10%

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on a reasonably possible change of each significant 
assumption on the defined benefit obligation as at the December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 with all other 
variables held constant:

Reasonably 
possible change 2024 2023

Discount rate +100 bps* � (4,751,750) � (4,751,750)
-100 bps* 5,893,767 5,893,767

Salary increase rate +100 bps* 5,214,207 5,214,207
-100 bps* (4,355,315) (4,355,315)

*100bps is equivalent to 1%

The defined benefit obligation is calculated using the discount rate set with reference to government bonds. 

When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions, the same 
method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end 
of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the retirement benefit liability recognized in the 
consolidated statements of the financial position.

There were no changes from the previous period in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the 
sensitivity analysis.

d. Maturity analysis

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments:

2024 2023

Less than 1 year � 1,218,300 � 1,160,286 

Between 1 to 5 years 1,345,589 1,281,513 

Between 5 to 10 years 9,222,670 8,783,495 

NOTE 34 – INCOME TAXES

On January 5, 2024, Ease of Paying Taxes (EOPT) Act was passed into law. The EOPT Act introduced significant 
amendments to the National Internal Revenue Code of 1997 (“The Code”) which are intended to protect and 
safeguard taxpayer rights and welfare to modernize tax administration by providing mechanisms that encourage 
easy compliance at the best cost and resources, and to update the tax system and adopt best practices.



The amendments include the following:

� File and pay anywhere mechanism. Taxes shall be paid either electronically or manually at the time the
return is filed.

� Classification of taxpayers into micro, small, medium and large taxpayers.

� Withholding of tax on income payments only when payable.

� Imposing value-added tax (VAT) on services, based on gross sales, no longer on gross receipts.

� VAT invoices are sufficient to substantiate input VAT arising from the purchase at both goods and
services.

� Removal of “business style” as a VAT invoicing requirement.

� Removal of withholding tax as requirement for deductibility of income payments.

a. The components of the Group’s provision for income tax are as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Current � 770,082 � 681,736 � 656,518

Deferred 1,937,826 (109,147) 628,318

� 2,707,908 � 572,589 � 1,284,836

The reconciliation of the provision from income tax computed at the statutory tax rates to the provision for income 
tax reported in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Income (loss) before tax � (2,270,616) � (1,618,244) � 371,319

Tax expense computed at statutory tax rate 770,082 681,736 656,518
Deductible temporary differences and carry forward 
benefits and excess MCIT for which for which no 
deferred income tax assets were recognized 1,937,826 (109,147) 628,318

Total � 2,707,908 � 572,589 � 1,284,836

The components of deferred tax assets as at December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 are as follows:

2024 2023 2022

At January 1 � 15,969,265 � 15,207,986 � 15,880,184
Tax effect of leases under PFRS 16 (1,247,151) 652,132 (43,879)
NOLCO (690,674) 109,147 (628,319)

At December 31 � 14,031,440 � 15,969,265 � 15,207,986

The Group did not recognize deferred tax assets on the following deductible temporary differences and carry 
forward benefits of NOLCO since management believes that it is more likely than the Group will not be able to 
realize their benefits in the future or prior to their expiration.



The movement of deferred tax asset recognized for the year 2023 is as follows:

Tax Base Tax Effect

Particulars Movement
Tax
Rate

Beginning
Balance Movement

Ending 
Balance

Accrued retirement liability � - 20% � 257,051 � � 257,051
Allowance for doubtful accounts - 20% 11,966,518 11,966,518
Allowance for inventory obsolescence - 25% 1,175,809 1,175,809
Allowance for impairment loss - 25% 144,487 144,487
NOLCO 2020 - 25% 898,220 898,220
NOLCO 2021 - 20% 708,075 708,075
NOLCO 2022 - 20% 86,102 86,102
NOLCO 2023 - 20% 109,147 109,147
NOLCO 2024 3,179,797 25% - 794,949 794,949
Tax effect of leases under PFRS 16 2,608,528 25% 623,856 - 623,856
Total � 5,788,325 � 15,969,265 � 794,949 � 16,764,214

As at December 31, 2022 the Group’s NOLCO that can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income and 
income tax payable, respectively, are as follows:

NOLCO

Year 
incurred Amount Expired Applied

Ending 
balance Expiry

2020 � 6,110,305 � - � - � 6,110,305 2025
2021 8,003,486 - - 8,003,486 2026
2022 430,518 - - 430,518 2027
2023 545,737 - - 545,737 2026
2024 3,179,797 - - 3,179,797 2027

� 18,269,843 � - � - � 18,269,843

NOTE 35 – LEASE AGREEMENTS

The Group as a lessor 

The rent income recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 amounted to �1,696,298,
�1,558,820, and �1,927,638 respectively (see Note 30).

The Group as a lessee 

The Group has entered into various cancellable lease agreements with different individuals for the lease of plants 
located in Navotas, Paranaque, Cebu, etc. The lease agreements are renewable every year where terms and 
conditions are subject to the agreement of both parties.

Under PFRS 16, A lessee may elect not to apply the requirements of this standard to:

(a) short-term leases; and

(b) leases for which the underlying asset is of low value

The Group elected not to apply PFRS 16 requirements for the aforementioned lease contract. Related rent expense 
incurred amounted to �3,008,534 and �5,232,005 for years 2024 and 2023, respectively.



As of 2024, the Group has entered into the following renewable lease agreements:

Location Term Consummation Date

Bantayan 2 years October 2021
Bulan, Sorsogon 10 years April 2021
Estancia, Ilo-ilo 10 years September 2028
Pasay City 3 years June 2022
Navotas City 20 years June 2028
Zamboanga-ALED 4 years January 2023
Zamboanga-Shiejie 5 years February 2020

Following the adoption of PFRS 16, the Group recognized right-of-use asset and lease liability over the life of the 
lease. The asset is calculated as the initial amount of the lease liability, plus any lease payments made to the lessor 
before the lease commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred, minus any lease incentives received.

For leases previously classified as finance lease, the carrying amount of the right-of-use-asset and the lease 
liability were determined at the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease liability under PAS 17 immediately 
before recognition on January 1, 2019.

The Group has various finance lease agreements with local banks for the lease of transportation and plant 
equipment. Lease term ranges from 36 to 60 months, subject to renewal. It carries with it guaranty deposit 
equivalent to the purchase price should the Company opts to acquire the equipment at the end of the lease term.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group’s right-of-use asset, net of accumulated depreciation, and lease liability 
amounted to �867,606 and �68,667,141, respectively.

Consequently, the Group recognized depreciation expense and interest expense as reduction to the carrying 
amount of the asset and lease liability amounting to �9,224,459, and �6,994,712, respectively.

Finance costs arising from these lease agreements amounted to �541,665, �6,994,712, and �7,191,897 in 
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively (see Note 31).

Total rent expense charged to operations for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 amounted to 
�8,412,004, �6,719,025, and �2,157,5183 respectively (see Note 28 and 29).

The refundable security deposit attached to the lease agreement for the rental of the plants amounted to 
both �330,536 as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

There were no restrictions imposed by these lease agreements nor contingent rent recognized for the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023.



NOTE 36 – EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the income (loss) for the year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the Group by weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The financial information pertinent to the derivation of the basic earnings (loss) per share for the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, are as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Income (loss) attributable to equity holders of 
the Parent Company � (3,811,238) � (3,153,291) � (898,831)
Weighted average number of shares 
outstanding used for computation of basic 
earnings (loss) per share (a) 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,467,421,155
Weighted average number of shares 
outstanding used for computation of diluted 
earnings (loss) per share (b) 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,467,421,155

Basic earnings (loss) per share � (0.00161) � (0.000128) � (0.00036)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share � (0.00161) � (0.000128) � (0.00036)

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the year attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. For the purpose of computing the diluted earnings (loss) per share, the effect 
of dilutive potential ordinary shares for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 is added to the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. There are no dilutive potential ordinary shares 
for the years 2024, 2023 and 2022.
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NOTE 37 – OPERATING SEGMENTS 
 
The CEO is the Group’s CODM. Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports 
reviewed by the CEO that are used to make strategic decisions. 
 
The CEO considers the business based on the differences in the Group’s product and services. Management 
considers the performance based on the two revenue-generating activities by the Group: the exporting and holding 
operations. 
 
The reportable operating segments of exporting operations derive its revenue primarily from the export sale of 
aquatic and marine products. The revenue of the reportable segments arises solely external customers outside the 
Philippines jurisdiction. 
 
The operating segments are organized and managed separately according to the different products, with each 
segment representing a strategic business unit that offers products sold through wholesale or retail or services 
rendered in farming operations. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment 
information. All operating business segments used by the Group meet the definition of a reportable segment under 
PFRS 8, Operating Segments. 
 
The CEO assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of Earnings Before Interests, 
Taxes and depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA). This measurement basis excludes the effects of non-
recurring expenditure from the operating segments and common operating expenses. Interest expense is not 
allocated to segments, as this type of activity is driven by the central treasury function, which manages the cash 
position of the Group. 
 
Segment assets and liabilities 
 
Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of receivables. Segment 
liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of trade and other payables. 
 
Segment transactions 
 
Segment sales, expenses and performance include sales and cost of sales. Intercompany balances and transactions 
between segments, if any, are eliminated during the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
There are segment assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 allocated based on geographical 
location such as Japan, Korea, Taiwan, US, and Hongkong.  
 
The total reportable segments’ assets and liabilities are reconciled to the Group’s total assets liabilities as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows (amounts in thousands): 
 

 

 
The amount is measured in a manner consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements. 

   2024  2023 

      
Segment assets � 1,947,155 � 1,914,398 
Unallocated:     

 Trade and other receivables  840,008  743,655 

 Prepayments and other current assets  121,775  105,534 

 Goodwill  14,521  14,521 

 Deferred tax assets  14,031  13,635 

 Other noncurrent assets  331  331 

      

  � 2,937,821 � 2,792,074 

      
Segment Liabilities � 1,202,272 � 1,170,206 
Unallocated:     

 Due to a related party  167,356  147,742 

 Retirement benefits liability  45,329  44,538 

      

  � 1,414,957  � 1,362,486 



 

 

 
The reportable segments’ assets and liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment. The Group’s 
cash, trade and other receivables, inventories, property, plant and equipment, trade and other payables, obligations 
under finance lease, borrowings and income tax payable were considered as segment assets and liabilities. Trade 
receivables arising from the exporting operations are further allocated based on geographical location such as 
Japan, Korea, Taiwan, and Hongkong.  
 
Unallocated assets and liabilities are managed by the central administrative and treasury functions. 
 
The Group does not have revenues from transactions with a single external customer amounting to ten percent 
(10%) or more of the Group’s total revenues. 

 
 
NOTE 38 – OTHER MATTERS 
 
 Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information 
 
The table below details changes in the liabilities of the Group arising from financing activities, including both 
cash and non-cash changes. 
 

Particulars  
January 1, 

2024  Cash flows  Reclassification  
Interest 
expense  

December 31, 
2024 

           
Loans and borrowings � 1,007,846,454 � - �  � - � 1,007,846,454 
Advances from related parties  147,742,827  19,612,842  -  -  167,355,669 
Lease liability  68,667,141  (2,810,931)  -  -  65,856,210 
Deposit for future stock subscription  287,636,935  -  -  -  287,636,935 
Interest payable  -  (13,576,628)  -  13,576,628  - 
           
Total liabilities from financing 
activities � 1,511,893,357 � 3,225,283 � - � 13,576,628 � 1,528,695,268 

 

Particulars  
January 1, 

2023  Cash flows  Reclassification  
Interest 
expense  

December 31, 
2023 

           
Loans and borrowings � 1,058,507,424 � (90,029,924) �  � - � 968,477,500 
Advances from related parties  146,023,035  1,719,792  -  -  147,742,827 
Lease liability  70,548,933  (1,881,792)  -  -  68,667,141 
Deposit for future stock subscription  287,636,935  -  -  -  287,636,935 
Interest payable  -  (22,527,638)  -  22,527,638  - 

           
Total liabilities from financing 
activities � 1,562,716,327 � 112,719,562 � - � 22,527,638 � 1,472,524,403 

 
Non-cash Activities 
The Group had no material non-cash investing or financing activity-related transactions for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 

 

NOTE 39 – CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Group is a not party to any legal proceedings. As of the December 31, 2024, the Group has ongoing tax 
assessment with the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR). 
 
 

NOTE 40 – RECLASSIFICATION OF ACCOUNTS 
 
For 2023, the Group reclassified the return of capital into treasury shares instead of direct deduction from the 
share capital. 
 



 

 

Particulars  
Balance as of 
January 1, 2023  Adjustments  

Adjusted balance as of 
December 31, 2023 

       
Share capital � 236,968,462 � 13,031,538 � 250,000,000 
Treasury shares  -  (13,031,538)  (13,031,538) 

       
Share capital, net  236,968,462  -  236,968,462 

 
The net result is the same with the balance in 2022. 

  



 

 

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

INDEX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND   

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES   

     

I Supplemental schedules required by Revised SRC Rule 68 Annex 68-J   

     

 A Financial Assets  Attached 

 B 
Amounts receivables from directors officers, employees, related parties and 
principal stockholders (other than related parties)  Attached 

 C 
Amounts receivables and payable from/to related parties which are eliminated 
during consolidation process of financial statements  Attached 

 D Long-term debt  Attached 

 E Indebtedness to related parties (Long-term loans from related parties)  Not applicable 

 F Guarantees of securities of other issuers  Not applicable 

 G Capital Stock  Attached 

     

II  
Reconciliation of retained earnings available for dividend declaration by Revised 
SRC Rule 68 Annex 68-D  Attached 

III  Map of the relationships of the Company within the Group  Attached 

IV  
Schedule of Financial Soundness Indicators as required by Revised SRC Rule 68 
Annex 68-E   Attached 
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SCHEDULE B. Amounts of Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and 
Principal Stockholders (Other Than Related Parties)

Name and designation 
of debtor

Balance at 
beginning of 

period

Amounts 
(collected) 
/transferred

Amounts 
written-

off Current
Non-

current

Balance at 
end of 
period

Philippine 101 Hotel, Inc. � 31,250,000 � - � - � 31,250,000 � - � 31,250,000
Stockholder 255,509 - - 255,509 - 255,509

SCHEDULE C. Amounts of Receivable from and Payable to Related Parties which are Eliminated 
during the Consolidation of Financial Statements

Name and designation of 
debtor

Balance at 
beginning of 

period Additions
Amounts 
collected

Amounts 
written-off Current

Non-
current

Balance at 
end of period

MOSC 4,741,500 - - - 4,741,500 - - 4,741,500

SCHEDULE D. Long-term Debt

Title of issue

Amount 
authorized by 

indenture

Amount shown under caption 
“Current portion of long term 

debt

Amount shown under caption 
“Long term debt” in related 

balance sheet

Borrowings � - � 1,007,846,454 � -
Lease liability - 16,247,201 49,609,009

SCHEDULE E. Indebtedness to Related Parties (Long Term Loans from Related Parties)

Name of related party Balance at beginning of period
Amount shown under caption 

“Current portion of long term debt

Not Applicable

SCHEDULE F. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers

Name of issuing entity of 
securities guaranteed by 
the Company for which 
this statement is filed

Title of issue of each 
class of securities 

guaranteed

Total amount 
guaranteed and 

outstanding

Amount owned by 
person for which 
statement is filed

Nature of 
guarantee

Not Applicable



SCHEDULE G. Capital Stock

Title of issue

Number of 
shares 

authorized

Number of 
shares

outstanding as 
shown under 

related balance 
sheet

Number of 
shares 

reserved for 
options, 
warrants, 

conversion 
and other 

rights

Number of 
shares held 
by related 

parties

Directors, 
officers and 
employees Others

Common shares 2,500,000,000 2,369,684,619 none 291,274,458 879,750,130 2,297,184,619



 

 

II. RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND 
DECLARATION  
 
 

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. 
Schedule of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards  

 
SCHEDULE OF RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR 

DIVIDEND DECLARATION 
 

December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 

 
Items  2024  2023 

     

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, beginning � (119,561,563) � (115,882,981) 

Adjustments:     

  Prior period adjustments   -  - 

  Dividends declared/paid during the year  -  - 

Adjustment on initial application of leases, net of tax  -  - 

     

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted, beginning  (129,716,723)  (115,882,981) 

Net Income (Loss) based on the face of AFS  (3,811,238)  (4,155,037) 

Less: Non-actual/unrealized income net of tax     

 •  Equity in net income/(loss) of associate/joint venture      874,271  476,455 

 •  Unrealized foreign exchange gain - net  
  (except those attributable to Cash and Cash Equivalents)  
  Unrealized actuarial gain  -  - 

 •  Fair value adjustment (M2M gains)  -  - 

 •  Fair value adjustment of Investment Property 
   resulting to gain adjustment  
  due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP-gain  -  - 

 •  Other unrealized gains or adjustments  
  to the retained earnings as a result  
  of certain transactions accounted for under the PFRS  -  - 

Add: Non-actual losses     

 •  Depreciation on revaluation increment (after tax)  -  - 

 •  Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP – loss  -  - 
 •  Loss on fair value adjustment of investment property 
(after tax)  -  - 

FMV gain/(loss) transferred to equity as a result of disposal of 
equity investment at FVOCI  -  - 

Gain/(loss) from disposal of financial assets at FVOCI  -  

Net Income Actual/Realized  -  - 

     

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted, ending � (132,653,690) � (119,561,563) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  



 

 

III. MAP OF GROUP OF COMPANIES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Millennium Global Holdings, 
Inc. 

(Parent Company) 

Millennium Ocean Star 
Company 

(51% owned Subsidiary) 

Cebu Canning Corporation 
(51% owned Subsidiary) 



 

 

IV. SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS AS REQUIRED BY REVISED SRC 
RULE 68 ANNEX 68-E 
 
 
 

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

     
Supplementary Schedule on Financial Soundness Indicators 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 

     

          

     
Ratio Formula 2024   2023 

     

Current ratio 
Current Assets / Current 
Liabilities 1.36  1.38 

     

Acid test ratio 

(Current Assets - 
Inventory - Prepayments) / 
Current Liabilities 1.26  1.29 

     

Solvency ratio 
Total Assets / Total 
Liabilities 1.48  1.50 

     

Debt-to-equity ratio Total Debt/Total Equity 2.10  2.01 

     

Asset-to-equity ratio Total Assets / Total Equity 3.10  3.01 

     

Interest rate coverage ratio 

Earnings Before Interest 
and Taxes (EBIT) / 
Interest Charges 0.083  0.93 

     

Return on equity Net Income / Total Equity (0.00076)  (0.0033) 

     

Return on assets Net Income / Total Assets (0.0024)  (0.0011) 

     

Net profit margin Net Profit / Sales N/A  N/A 

     

Price/Earnings Ratio 
Price Per Share / Earnings 
(Loss) Per Common Share (60.86)  (86.15) 

     
 



 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR 
FEE-RELATED INFORMATION 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 
 

  2024  2023 
Total Audit Fees (Section 2.1a) � 250,000.00 � 250,000.00 
Non-audit services fees:     

Other assurance services  -  - 
Tax services  -  - 
All other services  -  - 

Total Non-audit Fees   -  - 

Total Audit and Non-Audit Fees � 250,000.00 � 250,000.00 

 
 

Audit and non-audit fees of other related entities     
  2024  2023 
Audit fees � 350,000 � 350,000 
Non-audit service fees:     

Other assurance services  -  - 
Tax services  -  - 
All other services  -  - 

Total Audit and Non-audit fees of other related entities � 350,000 � 350,000 
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ASSETS Notes 2024 2023

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash  10 334,760,745  327,271,022   
Trade and other receivables – net 11 840,778,899  744,930,534   
Inventories 12 412,289,737  412,831,843   
Due from related parties 14,32 31,505,509  114,329,686   
Prepayments and other current assets 13 126,830,969  110,434,756   

Total Current Assets 1,746,165,859  1,709,797,841  

NON CURRENT ASSETS
Financial asset at FVOCI 15 50,000  50,000  
Investment in associates 16 26,775,963  26,333,226   
Property, plant and equipment – net 17 236,299,167  226,689,882   
Deferred tax assets 34 14,031,440  15,969,265   
Goodwill 18 14,521,202  14,521,202   
Other non-current assets 19 330,536  330,536  

Total Non Current Assets 292,008,308  283,894,111   

TOTAL ASSETS 2,038,174,167  1,993,691,952  

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 20 94,049,521  101,549,829   
Due to related parties 21,32 167,355,669  147,742,827   
Loans and borrowings 22 1,007,846,454  968,477,500   
Lease liability – current portion 23,35 16,247,201  17,523,833   

Total Current Liabilities 1,285,498,845  1,235,293,989  

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liability – net of current portion 23,35 49,609,009  51,143,308   
Retirement benefit obligation 33 45,329,177  44,538,994   

Total Non-Current Liabilities 94,938,186  95,682,302   

EQUITY
Share capital 25 250,000,000  250,000,000   
Treasury shares (13,031,538)   (13,031,538)  

Share capital – net 236,968,462  236,968,462   
Additional paid in capital 26 36,578,500  36,578,500   
Deposit for future share subscription 24 287,636,935  287,636,935   
Deficit (133,527,961)  (129,716,723)  
Fair value reserve on financial assets at FVOCI 15 (300,000)   (300,000)  
Net unrealized loss on remeasurement of retirement plan 33 (7,455,587)   (7,455,587)  
Equity to non-controlling interest 6 237,836,787  239,004,074   

Total Equity 657,737,136  662,715,661   

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2,038,174,167  1,993,691,952  

See Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

December 31,

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(In Philippine Peso)



For the Years Ended December 31, Note 2024 2023 2022

REVENUES 27 985,255,897  1,001,876,959  999,319,692   

COST OF SALES 28 (947,664,868)  (938,712,347)  (936,066,296)  

GROSS PROFIT 37,591,029  63,164,612  63,253,396   

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 29 (28,997,613)   (43,165,919)   (44,976,052)  

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 8,593,416  19,998,693  18,277,344   

OTHER INCOME – NET 30 3,504,346  1,289,390  4,856,115   

FINANCE COSTS – NET
Finance income 10 82,521  97,766  34,979  
Finance costs 31 (13,576,628)   (22,527,638)   (22,286,127)  

Net (13,494,107)   (22,429,872)   (22,251,148)  

SHARE IN NET LOSS OF ASSOCIATE 16 (874,271)   (476,455)   (510,992)  

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TAX (2,270,616)   (1,618,244)   371,319  

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 34 2,707,908  572,589  1,284,836   

NET LOSS (4,978,524)   (2,190,833)   (913,517)  

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holders of the Parent Company (3,811,238)   (3,153,291)   (898,831)  
Non-controlling interest (1,167,286)   962,459  (14,686)  

(4,978,524)   (2,190,832)   (913,517)  

LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share 36 (0.00161)   (0.00128)   (0.00036)  
Diluted loss per share 36 (0.00161)   (0.00128)   (0.00036)  

See Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In Philippine Peso)



For the Years Ended December 31, Notes 2023 2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income (Loss) before tax (2,270,616)   (1,618,244)   371,319  
Adjustment for:

Depreciation and amortization 17 77,535,307  84,551,162  117,741,172   
Provision for expected credit losses 11 2,088,264  -  -   
Expired MCIT -  -  (56,985)  
Retirement benefits expense 33 790,183  778,417  505,221  
Finance income 10 (82,521)   (97,766)   (34,979)  
Finance cost 31 13,576,628  22,527,638  22,286,127   
Foreign exchange (gain) loss 30 (1,808,048)   1,581,186  (2,457,748)  
Share in net loss of associate 16 (442,737)   476,455  510,992   

Operating income before changes in working capital 89,386,460  108,198,848  138,865,119   
Decrease (increase) in: 

Trade and other receivables (97,936,629)   (86,798,528)   40,965,320   
Inventories 542,105  31,055,652  18,259,087   
Prepayments and other current assets (16,396,213)   9,765,262  (1,570,774)  

Decrease in trade and other payables (7,500,308)   3,786,939  2,144,685   

Cash used in operations (31,904,585)   66,008,173  198,663,437   
Finance income received 10 82,521  97,766  34,979  
Benefits paid 33 -  -  (110,580)  
Income taxes paid and applied creditable withholding tax 34 (770,083)   (1,333,868)   (612,638)  

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities (32,592,147)   64,772,071  197,975,198   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, and equipment 17 (87,144,592)   (28,715,350)   (59,000,001)  
Proceeds due from related parties 14, 32 82,824,177  10,077,597  (1,157,374)  

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities (4,320,415)   (18,637,753)   (60,157,375)  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Finance cost on bank loans 22, 31 (13,034,963)   (15,532,925)   (15,094,230)  
Finance cost on lease obligations 31 (541,665)   (6,994,711)   (7,191,897)  
Proceeds from availments of borrowings 22 39,368,954  -  -   
Return of share capital 25 -  -  (13,031,538)  
Repayments of borrowings 22 - (90,029,924) (102,917,617)   
Payment of lease liability 35 (2,810,931)   (1,881,792)  (8,858,271)  
Due to related parties 32 19,612,842  1,719,792  11,333,029   

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities 42,594,237  (112,719,560)  (135,760,524)  

EFFECTS OF 
EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH 1,808,048  (1,581,186)   2,457,748   

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 7,489,723  (68,166,428)   4,515,047   

CASH AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 10 327,271,022  395,437,450  390,922,403   

CASH AT END OF YEAR 10 334,760,745  327,271,022  395,437,450   

See Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In Philippine Peso)

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES



Deposit for Fair Value Remeasurement 
future Reserve on of retirement Non

Treasury share Financial benefits Controlling
Share Capital shares Share Premium subscription Deficit Assets at FVOCI obligation Total Interest Total equity

(Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 26) (Note 24) (Note 15) (Note 33)

Adjusted Balance at January 1, 2022 250,000,000  - 36,578,500 287,636,935   (125,664,601)  (300,000)  (7,455,587)  440,795,247   238,056,301   678,851,548   
Net loss for the year -  -  -   (898,831)   -  -   (898,831)  (14,686)   (913,517)   
Additional deposits -  -  -   -   -  -   -   -   -  
Return of share capital (13,031,538)  -  -   -   -  - (13,031,538) -  (13,031,538)  

At December 31, 2022 250,000,000  (13,031,538)  36,578,500  287,636,935   (126,563,432)  (300,000)  (7,455,587)  426,864,878   238,041,615   664,906,493   
Net loss for the year -  -  -  -   (3,153,291)  -  -   (3,153,291)  962,459   (2,190,832)   

At December 31, 2023 250,000,000  (13,031,538)  36,578,500  287,636,935   (129,716,723)  (300,000)  (7,455,587)  423,711,587   239,004,074   662,715,661   
Net loss for the year -  -  -  -   (3,811,238)  -  -   (3,811,238)  (1,167,287)  (4,978,525)   

At December 31, 2024 250,000,000  (13,031,538)  36,578,500  287,636,935   (133,527,961)  (300,000)  (7,455,587)  419,900,349   237,836,787   657,737,136   

See Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

Attributable to owners of Parent Company

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STAMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(In Philippine Peso)



MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

NOTE 1 – CORPORATE INFORMATION

Millennium Global Holdings, Inc. (the Parent Company), Millennium Ocean Star Corporation and Cebu Canning 
Corporation, its subsidiaries, (collectively referred to herein as the “Group”) were incorporated under the laws of 
the Republic of the Philippines. 

Millennium Global Holdings, Inc. – the Parent

Millennium Global Holdings, Inc. (the “Parent”) is a general holding company. It was incorporated and registered 
with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) per SEC Registration No. 25160 on May 19, 
1964. It is also listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (the “PSE”) since March 1, 1976. It uses the ticker 
symbol MG. 

In the recent years, the Parent Company has established its presence through the seafood businesses of its 
subsidiaries.  Nevertheless, it adopts a positive stance to portfolio diversification and varied business opportunities 
as the SEC on February 14, 2013 approved, among others, the amendment of its primary purpose to become a 
general holding company. 

On February 1, 2017, the SEC approved the Parent Company’s application for decrease in authorized capital stock 
to ₱250 Million and equity restructuring. On March 20, 2017, the SEC further approved the equity restructuring to 
partially wipe out the remaining deficit as of December 31, 2015.

On October 7, 2022, the SEC approved the Parent Company’s application for change of the principal office to 
Lot 9 Block 2 John St., Multinational Village, Paranaque City. 

Millennium Ocean Star Corporation (MOSC) – a Subsidiary

The Parent Company owns 51% controlling interest in MOSC. MOSC is primarily engaged in the processing of 
high-quality seafood and aquaculture products for export and trading of imported marine and other related 
products. Its key business activity is the processing and export of several quality and high valued seafood products 
such as Black Tiger Shrimps, Kisu (asohos) fillet, frozen lobsters, etc. Its processing plants and buying stations 
are strategically located all over the country, enabling it to have a strong market foothold in Japan, Taiwan, Hong 
Kong, Vietnam, Malaysia, Singapore, United States of America, Canada, etc. MOSC also imports salmon, 
mackerel scad, scallops, shrimps, etc. for the local market, supplying supermarkets, groceries, food processors, 
hotels, and restaurants nationwide. 

The Subsidiary was organized under the laws of the Republic of the Philippines and registered with the 
Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) per Registration No. A200008891 on June 7, 2000. 

The Subsidiary’s registered office address is at Block 4 Lot 6 Greenbreeze Village, Langkaan II, Dasmariñas, 
Cavite, Philippines. 

Cebu Canning Corporation (C3) – a Subsidiary

The Parent Company also owns 51% stake in Cebu Canning Corporation (C3).  C3 is a domestic company engaged 
in the business of manufacturing, processing and dealing in pasteurized canned crabmeat, frozen marine products 
and other food products for export purposes. The raw crab meat which is the main material used in the business 
is locally sourced by C3. 

'XULQJ� WKH� COVID-19 pandemic, C3 regular operations were halted to save on costs and production was 
absorbed by MOSC. This VHW�XS�may continue until such time that it is deemed appropriate to resume C3 regular 
operations.



The Subsidiary was incorporated under the laws of the Republic of the Philippines and registered with Philippine 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) per Registration No. CS200806090 on April 24, 2008. 
 
The Subsidiary’s registered office address is at Tresco Compound, Casuntinigan, Asahi Road, Mandaue City, 
Cebu, Philippines.  
 
Approval of consolidated financial statements 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group as for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and 
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 were approved and authorized for issuance by 
the Board of Directors on April 30, 2025, and that the Chairman of Board is authorized to approve such 
consolidated financial statements on their behalf. 
 
 
NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
2.1 Statement of compliance 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRSs). PFRSs includes all applicable PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs) and 
Interpretations issued by the Philippine Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (PFRIC) as approved by 
the Financial Reporting Standards Committee (FRSC) and adopted by the SEC.  
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis using historical cost basis, except 
for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) that are measured at fair value. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Group’s functional and 
presentation currency. All values are rounded to the nearest million, except when otherwise indicated. 
 
2.2 Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company, Millennium 
Global Holdings, Inc., and the following subsidiaries as of December 31: 
 

 Percentage of Ownership 
 2024 2023 

Operating subsidiaries:   
Millennium Ocean Star Corporation 51% 51% 
Cebu Canning Corporation 51% 51% 

 
A subsidiary is an entity in which the Parent Company has control. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Parent Company and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control 
is transferred out of the Parent Company. Control is achieved when the Parent Company is exposed to, or has rights 
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. Specifically, the Parent Company controls an investee, if and only if, the Parent Company has: 

 Power over the investee 
 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

 
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and 
when the Parent Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Parent Company 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee 
 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 
 The Parent Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

 
The Parent Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Parent Company loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 



consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Parent Company ceases to 
control the subsidiary. 
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the 
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the consolidated financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating 
to intra-group transactions are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 
If the Parent Company loses control over the subsidiary, it: 

 Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary 
 Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest 
 Derecognizes the cumulative transaction differences recorded in equity 
 Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received 
 Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained 
 Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss 
 Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income to 

profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 
 
Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other 
events in similar circumstances. Intercompany balances and transactions, including intercompany profits and 
unrealized profits and losses, are eliminated in full.  
 
Non-controlling Interests 
 
Non-controlling interests represent the interests in subsidiaries which are not owned, directly or indirectly through 
subsidiaries, by the Parent Company. If losses applicable to the non-controlling interest in a consolidated 
subsidiary exceed the non-controlling interest’s equity in the subsidiary, the excess, and any further losses 
applicable to non-controlling interest, are charged against the majority interest except to the extent that the 
minority has a binding obligation to, and is able to, make good of the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports 
profits, the majority interest is allocated all such profits until the interest’s share of losses previously absorbed by 
the majority interest has been recovered. 
 
2.3 Business combination and Goodwill 
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 
acquiree. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition 
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of PAS, 
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized either in profit or loss or as a change to OCI. If the 
contingent consideration is not within the scope of PRFS 9, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate PFRS. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for 
within equity. 
 
  



Goodwill 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognized for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate 
consideration transferred, the Group re-assess whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all 
of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognized at the 
acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in the consolidated statements of income. 
 
After the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is 
not amortized but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any impairment loss is recognized immediately 
in profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquire are 
assigned to those units. 
 
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed 
of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 
relative values of the disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values 
of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 
 
2.4 Use of judgment and estimates 
 
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Group’s financial statements and accompanying notes. 
 
Judgments are made by management in the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s significant 
accounting policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates. 
 
The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.  These are based on management’s evaluation 
of relevant facts and circumstances as of the reporting date.  Actual results could differ from such estimates. 
 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods. 
 
2.5 Adoption of new and revised accounting standards 
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Group’s financial statements are consistent with those 
of the previous financial year except for the adoption of the following new and amended standards and 
interpretations. The adoption of these new and amended standards and interpretations did not have significant 
impact on the Group’s financial statements unless otherwise stated. 
 
Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2024 
 
Amendment to PFRS 16 – Leases on sale and leaseback. These amendments include requirements for sale and 
leaseback transactions in IFRS 16 to explain how an entity accounts for a sale and leaseback after the date of the 
transaction. Sale and leaseback transactions where some or all the lease payments are variable lease payments that 
do not depend on an index or rate are most likely to be impacted. 
 
Amendment to PAS 1 – Non-current liabilities with covenants. These amendments clarify how conditions with 
which an entity must comply within twelve months after the reporting period affect the classification of a liability. 
The amendments also aim to improve information an entity provides related to liabilities subject to these 
conditions. 
 
Amendment to PAS 7 and PFRS 7 - Supplier finance. These amendments require disclosures to enhance the 
transparency of supplier finance arrangements and their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure 
to liquidity risk. The disclosure requirements are the IASB’s response to investors’ concerns that some companies’ 
supplier finance arrangements are not sufficiently visible, hindering investors’ analysis. 



The amendments do not have material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Standards and Interpretations Issued but not yet Effective 

Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below. Unless otherwise indicated, the Group does not 
expect that the future adoption of the said pronouncements will have a significant impact on the financial 
statements. The Group intends to adopt the following pronouncements when they become effective.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2025

Amendments to PAS 21 - Lack of Exchangeability. An entity is impacted by the amendments when it has a 
transaction or an operation in a foreign currency that is not exchangeable into another currency at a measurement 
date for a specified purpose. A currency is exchangeable when there is an ability to obtain the other currency (with 
a normal administrative delay), and the transaction would take place through a market or exchange mechanism 
that creates enforceable rights and obligations.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting these standards on its consolidated financial statements.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2026

Amendments to PFRS 9 and PFRS 7, Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
Annual Improvements to PFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11

o Amendments to PAS 7, Cost Method
o Amendments to PFRS 1, Hedge Accounting by a First-time Adopter
o Amendments to PFRS 7, Gain or Loss on Derecognition
o Amendments to PFRS 9, Lessee Derecognition of Lease Liabilities and Transaction Price
o Amendments to PFRS 10, Determination of a “De Facto Agent”

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting these standards on its consolidated financial statements.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2027

PFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
The new standard impacts the classification of profit or loss items (i.e. into operating, investing, and financing 
categories) and the presentation of subtotals in the statement of profit or loss (i.e. operating profit, and profit 
before financing and income taxes). The new standard also changes the aggregation and disaggregation of 
information presented in the primary financial statements and in the notes. It also introduces required disclosures 
about management-defined performance measures.

PFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting these standards on its consolidated financial statements.

Deferred effectivity

Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a 
subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that a full gain or 
loss in recognized when a transfer to an associate or joint venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3. Any 
gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that does not constitute a business, however, is 
recognized only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate of joint venture.



On January 13, 2016, the Financial Reporting Standards Council deferred the original effective date of January 1, 
2026 of the said amendments until the IASB completes its broader review of the research project on equity 
accounting that may result in the simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of 
accounting for associates and joint ventures. 
 
The revised, amended, and additional disclosures or accounting changes provided by the standards and 
interpretations will be included in the financial statements in the year of adoption, if applicable. 
 
 
NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
summarized below. The policies have been consistently applied to all years presented unless otherwise stated. 
 
3.1 Financial instruments  
 
The financial asset or a financial liability are recognized only when the entity becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.  
 
A financial asset (except trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability are 
initially measured at fair value plus, in the case not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is 
initially measured at the transaction price.  
 
Classification and measurement 
The financial assets are classified based on the Group’s business model for managing the assets and the contractual 
cash flows characteristics, and these are measured as follows: 

 Amortized cost - a financial asset is measured at amortized cost if both of following conditions are met: 
i. The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows; and 
ii. The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) - financial assets are classified and measured 

at fair value through other comprehensive income if they are held in a business model whose objective is 
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. 

 Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) - any financial assets that are not held in one of the two business 
models mentioned are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to 
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an 
investment‑by‑investment basis. 
 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at 
FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets.  On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate 
a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL 
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
 
The foregoing categories of financial instruments are more fully described below. 

 
Financial assets at FVTPL – These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 
any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss.  

 
As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Group has no financial assets at FVTPL. 

 
Financial assets at amortized cost – These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and 
losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit 



or loss. Cash, trade and other receivables, refundable deposits, and due from related parties are included in this 
category. 

  
Debt investments at FVOCI – These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated 
using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or 
loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI 
are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Equity investments at FVOCI – These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized 
as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. 
Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Group’s equity investments are carried at FVOCI. 
 
Financial liabilities – Classification and measurement 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at 
FVTPL if it is classified as held‑for‑trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, 
are recognized in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. 
Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss. 
 
As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Group has no financial liabilities classified under FVTPL. 
 
The other financial liabilities of the Group as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, includes trade and other payables, 
due to related parties, borrowings, and lease liability.  
 
Derecognition  
 
Financial assets 
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial 
asset. 
 
The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized in its statement of financial position but 
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred 
assets are not derecognized. 
 
Financial liabilities 
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. 
The Group also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 
liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is 
recognized at fair value. 
 
On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the 
consideration paid (including any non‑cash assets transferred, or liabilities assumed) is recognized in profit or 
loss.  
 
Offsetting  
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it 
intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
  



Impairment 
Impairment of financial assets are recognized in stages as follows: 
 

 Stage 1 - As soon as a financial instrument is originated or purchased, 12-month expected credit losses 
are recognized in profit or loss and a loss allowance is established. This serves as a proxy for the initial 
expectations of credit losses. For financial assets, interest revenue is calculated on the gross carrying 
amount (without deduction for expected credit losses). 

 Stage 2 - If the credit risk increases significantly and is not considered low, full lifetime expected credit 
losses are recognized in profit or loss. The calculation of interest revenue is the same as for Stage 1. 

 Stage 3 - If the credit risk of a financial asset increases to the point that it is considered credit-impaired, 
interest revenue is calculated based on the amortized cost (the gross carrying amount less the loss 
allowance). Financial assets in this stage will generally be assessed individually. Lifetime expected credit 
losses are recognized on these financial assets. 

 
3.2 Current versus non-current classification 
 
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial position based on current/non-
current classification. 
 
An asset as current when: 

 It is expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 
 It is primarily held for the purpose of trading 
 It is expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
 It is cash on hand and in banks unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 

least twelve months after the reporting period 
 
All other assets are classified as noncurrent. 
 
A liability is current when: 

 It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 
 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
 There is no unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period 
 
The Group classifies all other liabilities as noncurrent. 
 
3.3 Foreign currency transactions and translation 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the group at the respective functional currency rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. 
 
Monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 
 
All differences are taken to the consolidated statement of income with the exception of all monetary items that 
provide an effective hedge for a net investment in a foreign operation. These are recognized in OCI until the 
disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognized in profit or loss. Tax charges and credits 
applicable to exchange differences on these monetary items are also recorded in the OCI. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the par value is determined. 
  



3.4 Fair value measurement 
 
For measurement and disclosure purposes, the Group determines the fair value of an asset or liability at the initial 
measurement or at each statement of financial position date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date.  
 
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 
takes place either: 

 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group. 
 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
 
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs. 
 
3.5 Cash 
 
Cash consist of cash on hand and in banks. Cash in banks earns interest at respective bank deposit rates. For 
purpose of reporting cash flows, cash on hand and in banks are unrestricted and available for use in current 
operations. 
 
3.6 Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at the transaction price and are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the EIR method, less provision for impairment.  Provision for impairment of trade and other 
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original terms of the receivables. 
 
3.7 Inventories 
 
Inventories are initially recognized at cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). 
Cost comprises all cots of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. NRV represent the estimated selling 
price less all estimated costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distributing the goods. 
 
When the NRV of the inventories is lower than the cost, the group provides for an allowance for the decline in 
the value of the inventory and recognizes the write-down as an expense in the consolidated statement of income. 
 
When the inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognized as an expense in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognized. 
 
3.8 Prepayments and other current assets 
 
Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash. Prepayments are initially recorded as 
assets and measured at the amount of cash paid. Subsequently, these are charged to the consolidated statement of 
income as they are consumed in operations or have expired with the passage of time. 
 
Prepayments are classified in the consolidated statements of financial position as current assets when the cost of 
goods or services related to the prepayment are expected to be incurred within one year or the Group’s normal 
operating cycle, whichever is longer. Otherwise, prepayments are classified as noncurrent assets. 



Other assets are recognized when the Group expects to receive future economic benefit from them and the amount 
can be measured reliably. Other assets are classified in the consolidated statements of financial position as current 
assets when the cost of goods or services related to the assets are expected to be incurred within one year of the 
Group’s normal operating cycle, whichever is longer. Otherwise, other assets are classified as non-current assets. 
 
3.9 Investment in associates 
 
Associates are entities over where the Parent Company is in a position to exercise significant influence in the 
financial and operating policy decisions but not control or joint control.  
 
Investment in associates is recognized using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method the 
investment is initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the investor’s 
share of net assets of the investee.  On acquisition of the investment any difference between the cost of the 
investment and the investor’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities is accounted for in accordance with PFRS 3 Business Combinations.  
 
The income statement of the investor includes the investor's share of the income statement of the investee. 
 
Losses of associates in excess of the Company’s interest in the relevant entity are not recognized except to the 
extent that the Company has an obligation. Profits on company transactions with associates are eliminated to the 
extent of the Company’s interest in the relevant associate. 
 
Below is the Parent Company's associate, which is incorporated outside the Philippines. 
 

Associate 
 Percentage of 

Ownership 
   
Pacific Seafoods Company (PASECO)  47.57% 

 
3.10 Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. At the end of each reporting period, items of property, 
plant and equipment are measured at cost less any subsequent accumulated depreciation, amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
asset and the estimated present value of any future unavoidable costs of dismantling and removing items. The 
corresponding liability is recognized within provisions. 
 
Subsequent expenditures relating to an item of property, plant and equipment that have already been recognized 
are added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable the future economic benefits, in excess of the 
originally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the Group. All other subsequent 
expenditures are recognized as expense in the period in which those are incurred. 
 
Depreciation and amortization is charged so as to allocate the cost of other assets less their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.  
 
Below are the estimated useful lives used for the depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment: 
 

  Useful life in  
years 

   
Building  30 years 
Leasehold improvements  15 years 
Machineries  15 years 
Transportation equipment  5 years 
Furniture and fixtures  5 years 

 
Land is not depreciated. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease, or the estimated useful 
life of the leasehold improvements whichever is shorter. 
 



The estimated useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically, and adjusted 
prospectively, if necessary, to ensure that the periods and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent 
with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property, plant and equipment. The lease term 
includes assumption of lease renewals when such have been determined to be reasonably assured. The lease 
renewal is reasonably assured when failure to renew the lease imposes a penalty to the lessee.

Depreciation and amortization of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets commences at the time 
the assets are ready for their intended use.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use and no further depreciation is 
charged to the consolidated statement of income.

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and 
amortization and any impairment in value are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss arising 
on the disposal or retirement of an asset, determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset, is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

3.11 Refundable security deposits

Refundable security deposits represent payments made in relation to the lease agreements entered into by the 
Group. These are carried at cost and will generally be applied as lease payments toward the end of the lease terms 
or refunded to the Group.

3.12 Impairment of non-financial assets other than inventories

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed art each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment or an impairment loss previously recognized no longer exists or 
may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of the asset’s recoverable 
amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or its Cash Generating Units (CGU’s) fair value less 
costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset 
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When 
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
For an asset that does not generate cash flows independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is 
used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded 
companies or other available fair value indicators.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss is recognized. 
Reversals of impairment are recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at December 31 and when circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to 
which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recognized. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

The Group performs its impairment test of goodwill every reporting date.



3.13 Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or 
less (or within the normal operating cycle of the business if longer); otherwise, they are presented as noncurrent 
liabilities. 
 
Accruals are liabilities to pay for goods or services that have been received or supplied but have not been paid, 
invoiced or formally agreed with supplier, including amounts due to employees. It is necessary to estimate the 
amount or timing of accruals, however, the uncertainty is generally much less than for provision. 
 
Government dues and remittances include withholding income taxes which represent taxes retained by the Group 
for an item of income required to be remitted to the BIR in the following month. The obligation of the Group to 
deduct and withhold the taxes arises at the time an income payment is paid or payable, or the income payment is 
accrued or recorded as an expense or asset, whichever comes first. The term “payable” refers to the date the 
obligation becomes due, demandable or legally enforceable. 
 
Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the EIR method. 
 
3.14 Borrowings 
 
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using EIR method, which ensures that any finance cost over the period of repayment 
is at constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
The Group classifies borrowings as current liabilities if settlement is expected within one year or less, and the 
Group does not have the right to defer settlement of the liabilities and does not breach any loan provisions on or 
before the end of the reporting period. Otherwise, these are presented as noncurrent liabilities. 
 
3.15 Borrowing costs 
 
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended 
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use. 
 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. 
 
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of qualifying asset 
are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the period which they are incurred. 
 
3.16 Provisions and contingencies 
 
Provisions are recognized when: (a) Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event; (b) it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and (c) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value 
of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as 
finance cost. When the Group expects a provision or loss to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a 
consolidated asset only when the reimbursement is virtually certain and its amount is estimable. The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statement of income, net of any reimbursement. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed in the notes 
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. 
 
Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed in the notes to 
consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 



3.17 Due to (from) related parties 
 
Due to (from) related parties are non-interest-bearing borrowings. These are measured initially at their nominal 
values and subsequently recognized at amortized costs less settlement payments.  
 
3.18 Deposit for future share subscription 
 
Deposit for future share subscription represents payments made on subscription of shares which cannot be directly 
credited to ‘Capital Stock’ pending application for the approval of the proposed increase presented for filing /filed 
with the SEC and registration of the amendment to the Articles of Incorporation increasing capital stock. The 
paid-up subscription can be classified under equity if the nature of the transaction give rise to a contractual 
obligation of the Group to deliver its own shares to the subscriber in exchange of the subscription amount. 
 
In addition, deposit for future share subscription shall be classified under equity if all of the following elements 
are present as at reporting date: 
 

a. The unissued authorized capital of the entity is insufficient to cover the amount of shares indicated in the 
contract; 

b. There is Board of Directors’ approval on the proposed increase in authorized capital stock (for which a 
deposit was received by the corporation); 

c. There is stockholders’ approval of said proposed increase; and  
d. The application for the approval of the proposed increase has been presented for filing or has been filed 

with the Commission. 
 
If any or all of the foregoing elements are not present, the deposit for future share subscription shall be recognized 
as a noncurrent liability in the consolidated statements of financial position.  
 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group’s application for increase in authorized capital stock is pending 
for approval of the SEC. 
 
3.19 Equity 
 
Share capital is measured at par value for all shares issued. When the shares are sold out at a premium, the 
difference between the proceeds and the par value is credited to the “Share premium” account. When shares are 
issued for a consideration other than cash, the proceeds are measured by the fair value of the consideration 
received. In case the shares are issued to extinguish or settle the liability of the Group, the shares shall be measured 
either at the fair value of the shares issued or fair value of the liability settled, whichever is more reliably 
determinable. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
 
Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of periodic net income or loss, dividend distribution, prior 
period adjustments, effect of changes in accounting policy and other capital adjustments. When retained earnings 
account has a debit balance, it is called “deficit”, and presented as a deduction from equity. 
 
Dividends are recognized when they become legally payable. Dividend distribution to equity shareholders is 
recognized as liability in the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividends are 
declared and approved by the Group’s BOD.  
 
3.20 Revenue recognition 
 
The Group recognizes revenue from contracts with customers when control of the goods or services are transferred 
to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange 
for those goods or services, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
 
The transfer of control can occur over time or at a point in time. Revenue is recognized at a point in time unless 
one of the following criteria is met, in which case it is recognized over time: (a) the customer simultaneously 
receives and consumes the benefits as the Group performs its obligations; (b) the Group's performance creates or 
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or (c) the Group's performance 



does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment 
for performance completed to date. 
 
Revenue from contract with customers 
 
Revenue from contract with customers is recognized at a point in time when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled 
in exchange for the goods or services. The Group applies this standard with its revenue arrangements on 
investments. 
 
Revenue is recognized only when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of 
the promised goods or services to a customer.  The transfer of control can occur over time or at a point in time. 
The transaction price allocated to the performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is recognized as revenue 
when control of goods or services transfers to the customer.  As a matter of accounting policy when applicable, if 
the performance obligation is satisfied over time, the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation is 
recognized as revenue as the performance obligation is satisfied. 
 
The disclosures of significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions relating to revenue from contract 
with customers are disclosed in Note 4. 
 
Revenue Streams 
 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue from product sales is recognized at the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the buyer, 
which is normally upon delivery of the goods. Trade discounts are determined at inception of the contract and is 
not subject to variability. Returns do not result to significant variable consideration. The general payment terms 
with customers are cash upon order and credit terms from invoice date. 
 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when all of the following conditions are satisfied: 

a. The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; 
b. The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with the 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold; 
c. The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
d. It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and 
e. The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
If it is probable that discount will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is 
recognized as a reduction of revenue as the sale is recognized. 
 
Rental income 
Rental income from non-cancellable operating leases is recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also 
spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Finance income 
Interest income is recorded using the EIR which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to 
the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Interest income is included in “finance income” 
in the consolidated statements of income. 
 
Other income 
Revenue is recognized when earned. 
 
  



3.21 Employee benefits

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which Group pays fixed contributions into a consolidated 
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. A 
defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan.
Defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually 
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The liability or asset recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit 
plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of 
plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually using projected unit credit method. The present 
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows using interest 
rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have 
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of all related pension obligations.

Defined benefit costs comprise the following:
Service cost
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset
Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine settlements 
are recognized as expense in the consolidated statement of income. Past service costs are recognized when plan 
amendment or curtailment occurs. These amounts are calculated periodically by independent qualified actuaries.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net defined benefit 
liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying the discount rate based on 
government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or 
asset is recognized as expense or income in the consolidated statement of income.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains or losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in 
actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they 
arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

3.22 Costs and expense recognition

Costs and expenses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income when the decrease in future economic 
benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. Costs 
and expenses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income: on the basis of a direct association between 
the costs incurred and the earning of specific items of income; on the basis of systematic and rational allocation 
procedures when economic benefits are expected to arise over several accounting periods and the association with 
income can only be broadly or indirectly determined; or immediately when an expenditure produces no future 
economic benefits or when, and to the extent that, future economic benefits do not qualify, or cease to qualify, for 
recognition in the consolidated statements of financial position as an asset.

Costs and expenses in the consolidated statements of income are presented using the function of expense method. 
Costs of sales are expenses incurred that are associated with the goods sold and include purchases of goods, 
distribution costs, labor costs and overhead. General and administrative expenses are costs attributable to 
administrative and other business activities of the Group.

3.23 Leases

At inception of a contract, an entity shall assess whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.

The Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether: 

a) The contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group,



 
b) The Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified 

asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract, 
 

c) The Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use.  
 
The Group shall reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease only if the terms and conditions of the contract 
are changed. 
 
The Group as a lessee 
 
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for its leases. 
 

(a) Right-of-use asset 
 

At lease commencement date, the Group recognizes a right-of-use asset on the statement of financial 
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the 
lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and 
remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease 
commencement date (net of any incentives received).  
 
The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date 
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group 
also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist. 

 
(b) Lease liability 

 
At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease 
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily 
available or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments 
(including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be 
payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be 
exercised.  
 
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for 
interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-
substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is 
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero. 
 

3.24 Taxes 
 
Current income tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period is measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the 
consolidated statement of income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 
where appropriate. 
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
 



 When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 
 

 In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interest in joint ventures, when timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and 
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits 
from excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) and net operating loss carry over (NOLCO), and any unused 
tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits from MCIT and NOLCO and unused tax losses 
can be utilized, except: 
 

 When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination; and at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit (or loss). 
 

 In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilized. 
 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted at the reporting 
date.  
 
Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to either settle the 
liabilities simultaneously. 
 
Value-added Tax (VAT) 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT. 
 
Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT except: 

 Where the sales tax incurred on a purchased of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the VAT is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense item as applicable; and  

 
Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included. 
 
The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of ‘prepayments 
and other current assets’ or ‘trade and other payables’ in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
3.25 Related parties 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also 



considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Related parties may be individuals or corporate 
entities. The key management personnel of the Group and post-employment benefit plans for the benefit of the 
Group’s employees are also considered to be related parties. 
 
3.26 Earnings per share (EPS) 
 
Basic EPS is determined by dividing profit or loss by the weighted average number of shares issued and 
outstanding during the year. 
 
For the purpose of calculating diluted EPS, profit or loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity shareholders 
of the Group and the weighted average number of shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares. 
 
3.27 Segment reporting 
 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 
other components. 
 
Allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chairman 
of the Board that makes strategic decisions. 
 
An operating segment may engage in business activities for which it has yet to earn revenues, for example, start-
up operations may be operating segments before earning revenues. 
 
Segment results that are reported to the Chairman of the Board include items directly attributable to a segment as 
well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, 
head office expenses, interest income and expenditures and income tax assets and liabilities. 
 
3.28 Events after the reporting date 
 
Post year-end events up to the date when the consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the 
BOD that provide additional information about the Group’s position at reporting date (adjusting events) are 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material. 
 
  



NOTE 4 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires the management to 
make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experiences and other various factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances including expectations of related future events, the results of 
which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates, assumptions and judgments are reviewed and evaluated on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1 Judgments

a) Going concern

The Group’s management has made an assessment on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue their business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore,
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be
prepared on the going concern basis.

b) Determination of functional currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in the Philippine Peso, which is also the Parent
Company’s functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items
included in the consolidated financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

c) Classification of financial statements

The Group exercises judgments in classifying a financial instrument, or its component parts, on initial
recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability, or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial asset or liability.  The substance of a financial
instrument, rather than its legal form, governs its classification in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The classification of financial assets and liabilities is presented in Note 8.

d) Fair value measurements

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Group uses market observable data when measuring the fair value of an asset or liability. Fair values
are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation
techniques.

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability can be categorized in different levels of
the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of
the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

e) Revenue recognition from contracts with customers

Revenue recognition under PFRS 15 involves the application of significant judgment and estimation in the
(a) identification of the contract for sale of goods and services that would meet the requirements of PFRS 15;
(b) assessment of performance obligation and the probability that the entity will collect the consideration
from the buyer; and (c) determining the timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation.



f) Identification of the contract 
 

The Group’s primary document for a contract with a customer is a signed contract to sell. It has determined 
however, that in cases wherein contracts to sell are not signed by both parties, the combination of its other 
signed documentation such as reservation agreement, official receipts, quotation sheets and other documents, 
would contain all the criteria to qualify as contract with customer under PFRS 15. 

 
In addition, part of the assessment of the Group before revenue recognition is to assess the probability that the 
Group will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the goods that will be 
transferred to the customer. In evaluating whether collectability of an amount of consideration is probable, the 
Group considers the significance if the customer’s initial payments in relation to the total contract price. 
Collectability is also assessed by considering factors such as payment history of customer, age and pricing of 
the property. Management regularly evaluates the historical cancellations and back-outs if it would still support 
its current threshold of customers’ equity before commencing revenue recognition. 
 

g) Determining performance obligation 
 
With respect to sale of goods, the Group concluded that the transfer of goods and services in each contract 
constitute a performance obligation. Generally, the Group is responsible for all these goods and services and 
the overall management of the sale and production.  
 
The Group uses those goods and services as inputs and provides a significant service of integrating them into 
a combined output. 

 
h) Determining the timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation 

 
The Group concluded that revenue from contracts with customers is to be recognized at a point in time since 
it does not fall within any of the following conditions to be met for a recognition over a period of time: 

(a) The customer receives and consumes the benefits of the goods or services as they are provided by the 
Group; 

(b) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and; 
(c) the goods or services create or enhances an asset that the customer controls as that asset is created 

and enhanced. 
 
i) Determination whether an agreement contains a lease 
 

The determination of whether a contract is, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the arrangement 
at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is assessed for if the contract conveys the right to control the 
use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration 
 
The Group has entered into a lease arrangement as a lessor and a lessee. 
 
Leases are further disclosed in Note 35. 

 
j) Contingencies 
 

The Group is currently involved in legal proceedings. The estimate of the probable cost for the resolution of 
claims has been developed in consultation with the aid of the outside legal counsel handling the Group’s 
defense in this matter and is based upon an analysis of potential results. Management does not believe that 
the outcome of his matter will affect the results of operations. It is probable, however, that future results of 
operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the effectiveness of the strategies 
relating to this proceeding. 

 
k) Repairs and maintenance 

 
Costs of repairs and maintenance that do not result in an increase in the future economic benefit of an item 
of property and equipment is charged to operations in the period it is incurred.  Otherwise, it is capitalized as 
part of the asset. 

 
 



4.2 Estimates

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the financial 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next reporting year are discussed below:

a) Fair values of financial instruments

PFRS requires that financial assets and financial liabilities be carried or disclosed at fair value, which requires
the use of accounting estimates and judgment.  While significant components of fair value measurement were
determined using verifiable objective evidence (i.e., foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and volatility
rates), the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Group utilized different valuation
methodologies.  Any change in the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities directly affects profit
or loss, equity, and the required disclosures.

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statements of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, their fair values are determined using valuation techniques
that are generally-accepted market valuations including the discounted cash flow model.  The inputs to these
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimates are used
in establishing fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities by category and their fair value hierarchy are set
out in Note 7.

b) Assessing ECL on financial assets

The Group applies the general approach in measuring the ECL. For cash, the Group assessed that cash is
deposited with reputable banks that possess good credit ratings. For trade and other receivables and due from
related parties, the Group considers the financial capacity of the counterparty. No ECL was recognized in
2023 and 2022. The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets are as follows:

Note 2024 2023

Cash 10 ₱ 334,760,745 ₱ 327,271,022
Trade and other receivables, net* 11  840,695,010  646,946,586
Due from related parties 14,32 31,505,509  114,329,686

*Excludes advances to suppliers

c) Allowance for credit losses of receivables

The Group reviews its impaired receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an additional provision
for credit losses should be recorded in the profit and loss. In, particular, judgment by Management is required
in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of allowance
required. Such estimates are based on assumptions about number of factors and actual results may differ,
resulting in future changes to the allowance.

The carrying value of receivables amounted to ₱840,778,898 and ₱744,930,534 as of December 31, 2024,
and 2023, respectively (Note 11).

No allowance for credit losses were recognized as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. No write-off and
recoveries either were recognized by the Group as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.



d) Impairment of trade and other receivables and due from related parties

The Group reviews its receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment loss should be
recognized in it consolidated statement of income or receivables balance should be written off. In particular,
judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when
determining the level of allowance is required. Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of
factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance. Moreover, management
evaluates the presence of objective evidence of impairment which includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about loss events such as but not limited to significant financial difficulty of the
counterparty, a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial re-organization.

The carrying values of trade and other receivables and due from related parties and the related allowance for
impairment losses provided as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are disclosed in Notes 11, and 13.

e) Impairment of equity investments

The Group classifies certain financial assets as equity investments and recognizes movements in fair value in
OCI and equity. When the fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in value to
determine whether it is an impairment that should be recognized in profit or loss. Impairment may be
appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial wealth of investee, industry and sector
performance and operational and financing cash flows. The Company treats financial assets at other
comprehensive income as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is
“significant” or "prolonged" requires judgment.

The Group treats "significant" generally as 20% or more of the original cost of the investment, and
"prolonged," longer than 12 months. In addition, the Company evaluates other factors including normal
volatility in share price for quoted securities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted
securities.

Accumulated unrealized loss recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 both amounted to
₱300,000. The carrying amount of financial assets at FVOCI both amounted to ₱50,000 as of December 31,
2024 and 2023.

f) Estimation of net realizable values and impairment of inventories

The Group provides an allowance to reduce inventories to net realizable values whenever the utility   of
inventories becomes lower than cost due to damage, physical deterioration, obsolescence, changes in price
levels or other causes. The estimate of the net realizable value is reviewed regularly.

The carrying values of inventories and the related allowance for inventory obsolescence are disclosed in Note
12.

g) Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the period
over which the assets are expected to be available for use. It is possible that future results of operations could
be materially affected by changes in these estimates. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property,
plant and equipment would increase recorded depreciation and amortization expense and decrease the related
asset accounts.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are discussed in Note 3.10.

h) Impairment of goodwill

The Group performed its annual impairment test on its goodwill as of reporting date. The recoverable amounts
of the intangible assets were determined based on value in use calculations using cash flow projections from
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. The following assumptions were
also used in computing value in use:



Growth rate estimates – growth rates were based on experiences and strategies developed for the various 
subsidiaries. The prospect for the industry was also considered in estimating the growth rates.

Discount rates – discount rates were estimated based on the industry weighted average cost of capital, which 
includes the cost of equity and debt after considering the gearing ratio. Value-in-use is the most sensitive to 
changes in discount rate and growth rate.

i) Impairment of non-financial assets other than inventories

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that the carrying amount of all non-
financial assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset
is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. At the reporting date, the Group
assesses whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.

Management has reviewed the carrying values of the Group’s property, plant and equipment as at December
31, 2024 and 2023 for impairment. Based on the results of its evaluation, there were no indications that the
property and equipment were impaired, thus, no impairment loss recognized in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

j) Realizability of deferred tax assets

Management reviews carrying amount of deferred tax assets at each reporting date. The carrying amount of
deferred tax assets is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available against which the related tax assets can be utilized.

The Group’s recognized deferred tax assets amounted to ₱14,031,440 and ₱15,969,265 as at December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively (see Note 34). The Group has not recognized deferred tax assets on NOLCO of
the Parent Company as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The non-recognition of deferred tax assets on
NOLCO is based on management’s assumption that there will be no available future taxable profits for the
Parent Company.

k) Incremental borrowing rate of lease liability

Incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment.

The incremental borrowing rate is determined by the Group on the commencement date of the lease. As a
result, it incorporates the impact of significant economic events and other changes in circumstances arising
between lease inception and commencement.

This incremental rate is used to measure the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are not
paid at the end of lease term. In 2024 and 2023, the Group’s determined incremental rates used to compute
the carrying value of lease liability amounting to a total of ₱65,856,210, and ₱68,667,141, respectively,
ranges between 3% to 7% (Note 35).

l) Estimation of retirement benefits

The determination of the Group’s obligation and cost for retirement benefits is dependent on the selection of
certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. The assumptions described in Note 31
include, among others, discount rates, average remaining working lives and rates of compensation increase.
While management believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in
actual experience or significant changes in assumptions may materially affect pension and other retirement
obligations. The details of the Group’s retirement benefits are provided in Note 33.

4.3 Provision and contingencies

The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of possible claims has been developed in consultation with 
outside legal counsel and is based upon an analysis of potential results.



NOTE 5 – BUSINESS COMBINATION 
 
In 2013, the stockholders approved the investment in and/or acquisition of various businesses and operating 
companies, including 51% controlling interest in MOSC, majority-owned by the Parent Company’s Chairman 
and President, Yang Chi Jen. A Subscription Agreement acquiring 51% controlling interest in MOSC was 
consequently executed on January 10, 2014. 
 
In 2017, the Company made additional subscription to 117,091,837 primary shares of its subsidiary, MOSC, at 
par value of ₱1.00 per share, to maintain the Company’s 51% ownership in MOSC. In 2017, Yang Chi Jen, 
subscribed to the remaining 365,785,000 unissued shares of the Parent Company at ₱0.20 per share, double the 
lowered par value of ₱0.10 per share, equivalent to a total amount of ₱73,157,000 with premium of ₱36,578,500. 
The BOD likewise approved the subscription by Yang Chi Jen to at least 25% of the proposed increase in 
authorized capital stock of the Company at Php0.20 per share. The increase in authorized capital stock of the 
Company was initially pegged from ₱250,000,000 to ₱750,000,000 but was later amended during the year to an 
amount as may be determined by the BOD but not exceeding ₱10 Billion. 
 
On March 18, 2021, the BOD determined and approved the initial additional increase of the authorized capital 
stock of the Company from ₱250 Million to ₱750 Million divided into 5,000,000 common shares at par value of 
₱0.10 per share. The proceeds of the transaction shall be invested in MOSC, for the purpose of supporting its 
operations and expanding its production lines for fish and meat caning, meat and seafoods processing, and sauces. 
 
 
NOTE 6 – SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
 
In determining whether an NCI is material to the Parent Company, management employs both quantitative and 
qualitative factors to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the Parent Company’s interests in these 
entities, and the effects of those interests on the Parent Company’s financial position.  Factors considered include, 
but not limited to, carrying value of the subsidiary’s NCI relative to the NCI recognized in the Parent Company’s 
consolidated financial statements, the subsidiary’s contribution to the Parent Company’s consolidated revenues 
and net income, and other relevant qualitative risks associated with the subsidiary’s nature, purpose and size of 
activities. 
 
Based on management’s assessment, the Group has concluded that MOSC and C3 are considered subsidiaries 
with NCI that is material to the Parent Company. 
 
The ability of the subsidiary to pay dividends or make other distributions or payments to their shareholders 
(including the Parent Company) is subject to applicable law and other restrictions contained in financing 
agreements, shareholder agreements and other agreements that prohibit or limit the payment of dividends or other 
transfers of funds. 
 
The summarized financial information of MOSC and C3 are presented below, before inter-company eliminations 
but after consolidation adjustments for goodwill, other fair value adjustments on acquisition and adjustments 
required to apply uniform accounting policies at group level. 
 

  2024  2023 
  MOSC C3 Total  MOSC C3 Total 

Equity share held by NCI 49% 49%   49% 49%  
         
Summarized Statements of Financial Position:     
     
 Current assets ₱ 1,695,974,784 13,773,939 1,709,748,723 ₱ 1,576,379,896 14,278,156 1,590,658,052 
 Non-current assets  251,179,767 267,672 1,709,748,723  338,018,163 2,821,895 340,840,058 
 Current liabilities  1,108,619,023 30,070,324 3,419,497,446  1,075,809,637 30,055,324 1,105,864,962 

Non-current liabilities 93,652,931 1,282,255 6,838,994,892  94,397,047 1,285,255 95,682,302 
 Total Equity  744,882,597 (17,313,968) 13,677,989,784  744,191,375 (14,240,529) 729,950,846 
         

Equity attributable to 
Parent Company 
shareholders 

 

255,992,950 (7,233,609) 248,759,341  255,992,950 (7,233,609) 248,759,341 
Equity attributable to 
NCI 

 
245,954,012 (6,949,936) 239,004,076  245,954,012 (6,949,936) 239,004,076 

 



Summarized Statements of Comprehensive Income:

Revenues ₱ 985,255,897 - 985,255,897 ₱ 1,001,876,959 - 1,001,876,959
Net income (loss) 691,222 (3,073,439) (2,382,217) 2,400,795 (436,591) 1,964,204

Loss attributable to Parent 
Company shareholders 352,524 (1,567,454) (1,214,930) 1,224,405 (222,662) 1,001,743
Loss attributable to NCI 338,699 (1,505,985) (1,167,286) 1,176,390 (213,929) 962,461

Summarized Statements of Cash Flows:

Operating activities ₱ 29,845,744 - 29,845,744 ₱ 63,888,806 (245,220) 63,643,586
Investing activities 87,144,591 - 87,144,591 (27,888,020) - (27,888,020)
Financing activities 124,533,728 - 124,533,728 (104,207,034) 244,720 (103,962,314)
Net increase (decrease) in cash 7,543,392 - 7,543,392 (68,206,248) (500) (68,206,748)

NOTE 7 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each asset and liability for which 
it is practicable to estimate such value:

Cash, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and short-term borrowings. Carrying amounts 
approximate their fair values due to the relatively short-term maturities of these instruments.

Amounts due from and due to related parties. Carrying amounts of due from and due to related parties which are 
collectible/payable on demand approximate their fair values. Due from related parties are unsecured and have no 
foreseeable terms of repayments.

Long-term borrowings. The fair value of long-term borrowings is based on the future undiscounted value of future 
cash flows (interests and principal) using the applicable rates for similar types of loans.

Fair value hierarchy assets and liabilities

Assets and liabilities carried at fair values are required to be disclosed.
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active market for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value
that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are
not based on observable market data.

The following table shows the Company’s asset carried at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
December 31, 2024
Financial asset at FVOCI

Investment in golf share (Note 15) ₱ 50,000 ₱ - ₱ -

December 31, 2023
Financial asset at FVOCI

Investment in golf share (Note 15) ₱ 50,000 ₱ - ₱ -

December 31, 2022
Financial asset at FVOCI

Investment in golf share (Note 15) ₱ 50,000 ₱ - ₱ -

The basis of the fair value of financial assets at FVOCI is the price of its most recent transaction based on Level 
1 of the fair value hierarchy disclosed in Note 3.4.



Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost for which fair values are disclosed:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Level 1 Level 3 Level 1 Level 3

Financial Assets
Cash (Note 10) ₱ 334,760,745 ₱ - ₱ 327,271,022 ₱ -
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) * - 840,695,010 - 646,946,586
Due from related parties (Note 14 and 32) - 31,505,509 - 114,329,686
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) - 330,536 - 330,536

Total ₱ 334,760,745 ₱ 872,531,055 ₱ 327,271,022 ₱ 761,606,808

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables (Note 20) ** ₱ - ₱ 92,406,992 ₱ - ₱ 98,782,650
Due to related party (Notes 21 and 32) - 167,355,669 - 147,742,827
Borrowings (Note 22) 1,007,846,454 1,007,846,454 968,477,500 -
Lease liability (Note 23 and 35) 65,856,210 65,856,210 68,667,141 -

Total ₱ 1,073,702,664 ₱ 1,333,465,325 ₱ 1,037,144,641 ₱ 246,525,477
*Exclusive of advances to suppliers and advances to employees
**Exclusive of government payables

For cash, with fair value included in Level 1, management considers that the carrying amounts of these financial 
instruments approximate their fair values due to their short-term duration.

There had been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 
2023.

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included in Level 3 which are not traded in an active 
market is determined by using generally acceptable pricing models and valuation techniques or by reference to 
the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same after taking into account the related 
credit risk of counterparties, or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of 
the instrument.

NOTE 8 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table shows the classification, carrying values and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and 
financial liabilities as at December 31, 2024 and 2023:

2024 2023

Carrying value Fair value
Carrying 

value Fair value
Financial assets at amortized cost

Cash (Note 10) ₱ 334,760,745 ₱ 334,760,745 ₱ 327,271,022 ₱ 327,271,022
Trade and other receivables (Note 11)* 840,695,010 840,695,010 646,946,586 646,946,586
Due from related parties (Notes 14 and 32) 31,505,509 31,505,509 114,329,686 114,329,686
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 330,536 330,536 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Total ₱ 1,207,341,800 ₱ 1,207,341,800 ₱ 1,088,927,830 ₱ 1,088,927,830
Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (Note 20) ** ₱ 92,406,992 ₱ 92,406,992 ₱ 98,782,650 ₱ 98,782,650
Due to a related party (Notes 21 and 32) 167,355,669 167,355,669 147,742,827 147,742,827
Borrowings (Note 22) 1,007,846,454 1,007,846,454 968,477,500 968,477,500
Lease liability (Note 23 and 35) 65,856,210 65,856,210 68,667,141 68,667,141

Total ₱ 1,241,058,333 ₱ 1,333,465,325 ₱ 1,283,670,118 ₱ 1,283,670,118
*Exclusive of advances to suppliers and advances to employees
**Exclusive of government payables



The income, expense, gain and/or losses recognized from financial instruments for the years ended December 31, 
2024, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

2024 2023 2022
Impairment losses on:

Trade receivables (Note 11) ₱ 2,088,264 ₱ - ₱ -
Finance costs (Note 31) 13,576,628 22,527,638 22,286,127

Total ₱ 13,576,628 ₱ 22,527,638 ₱ 22,286,127

Finance income (Note 10) ₱ 82,521 ₱ 97,766 ₱ 34,979
Foreign exchange gain(loss) (Note 30) (1,808,048) 1,581,186 (2,457,748)

Net ₱ (1,725,527) ₱ 1,678,952 ₱ (2,422,769)

NOTE 9 - FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

9.1 General objectives, policies and processes

The BOD has overall responsibility and authority for the determination of the Group’s risk management objectives 
and policies and designing and operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of such objectives 
and policies. It establishes a forum of discussion of the Group’s approach to risk issues in order to make relevant 
decisions.

The overall objective of the BOD is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly 
affecting the Group’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below.

9.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed through it-operations to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

There have been no substantive changes in the Group’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, 
policies and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods unless 
otherwise stated in this note.

The policies for managing specific risks are summarized below:

(a) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial   instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market prices comprise three types of risk: interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and 
commodity price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include bank borrowings.

i. Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group is not exposed to interest rate risk as the Group’s interest rate on
bank loans is fixed and pre-determined at the inception of the contract.

ii. Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange
rates relates primarily to cash equivalent denominated in a currency different from the Group's functional
currency. The principal currency risks to which the Group is exposed involve the U.S. Dollar (US$), Taiwan
Dollars (TW$), and Hongkong Dollars (HK$).

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk on its foreign currency denominated monetary asset since the 
effect of foreign currency changes on the consolidated financial statements is material.  



iii. Commodity price risk
Commodity price risk is the risk related to the volatility of price of certain commodities. The Group is not
exposed to this risk as its operations do not constitute goods which prices are volatile.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the 
other party to incur a financial loss. The receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result 
that the Group’s exposure to impairment is not significant. The Group has a credit and collection department that 
is consolidated and independent from the sales department. The Group instituted this consolidated department 
even though the normal practice in its industry is that the salespeople are also the ones who collect the receivables. 
The Group deals only with credit worthy counterparty duly approved by the management.

The credit quality of the financial assets that are neither past due or impaired is considered to be good quality and 
expected to be collectible without incurring any credit losses. Credit losses from balances with banks are managed 
by ensuring that the Group's deposit arrangements are with reputable and financially sound counterparty.

The following table provides information regarding the maximum credit risk exposure of the Group arising from 
its financial assets as at December 31 at gross amounts:

2024 2023
Financial assets at amortized cost

Cash (Note 10) ₱ 334,760,745 ₱ 327,271,022
Trade and other receivables – net (Note 11) 840,778,899 646,946,586
Due from related parties (Notes 14 and 32) 31,505,509 114,329,686
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 50,000

Total ₱ 1,207,425,689 ₱ 1,088,927,830

The following table provides information regarding the Group’s analysis per age of financial assets by class as at:

December 31, 2024
Past due but not impaired

Neither past due 
or impaired

31 to 60
days

61 to 90
days

Over 90 
days Impaired Total

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash (Note 10) ₱ 334,760,745 ₱ - ₱ - ₱ - ₱ - ₱ 334,760,745
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) 471,032,393 110,300,104 150,646,298 108,800,104 18,727,963 859,506,862
Due from related parties (Notes 14, 32) 31,250,000 - - 255,509 - 31,505,509
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 - - - - 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 - - - - 50,000

Total ₱ 1,207,341,800 ₱ 110,300,104 ₱ 150,646,298 ₱ 109,055,613 ₱ 18,727,963 ₱ 1,226,153,652

December 31, 2023
Past due but not impaired

Neither past due 
or impaired 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days

Over 90 
days Impaired Total

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash (Note 10) ₱ 327,271,022 ₱ - ₱ - ₱ - ₱ - ₱ 327,271,022
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) 320,764,440 94,705,540 102,796,900 - 16,639,699 646,946,586
Due from related parties (Notes 14, 32) 15,501,628 15,788,711 82,783,838 255,509 - 114,329,686
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 - - - - 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 - - - - 50,000

Total ₱ 663,917,626 ₱ 110,494,251 ₱ 185,580,738 ₱ 255,509 ₱ 16,639,699 ₱ 1,088,927,830

There were no other credit enhancements attached to the Group’s financial assets aside from assigned trade 
receivables.



Credit quality per class of financial assets

The Group’s bases in grading its financial assets are as follows:

High grade – These are receivables which have a high probability of collection (the counterparty has the apparent 
ability to satisfy its obligation and the security on the receivables are readily enforceable).

Standard grade – These are receivables where collections are probable due to the reputation and the financial 
ability of the counter party to pay but have been outstanding for a certain period of time.

Substandard grade – These are receivables that can be collected provided the Group makes persistent effort to 
collect them.

The table shows the credit quality by class of financial assets of the group based on the historical experience with 
the corresponding parties as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

December 31, 2024
Neither past due nor impaired Past due 

but not 
impaired Impaired TotalHigh grade

Standard 
grade

Substandard 
grade

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash (Note 10) ₱ 334,760,745 ₱ - ₱ - ₱ - ₱ - ₱ 334,760,745
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) - 471,032,393 - 369,746,506 18,727,963 859,506,862
Due from related parties (Notes 14, 32) - 31,250,000 - 255,509 - 31,505,509
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 - - - - 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI -
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 - - - 50,000

Total ₱ 335,141,281 ₱ 502,282,393 ₱ - ₱ 370,002,015 ₱ 18,727,963 ₱ 1,226,153,652

December 31, 2023
Neither past due nor impaired Past due 

but not 
impaired Impaired TotalHigh grade

Standard 
grade

Substandard 
grade

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash (Note 10) ₱ 27,271,022 ₱ - ₱ - ₱ - ₱ - ₱ 327,271,022
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) - 320,764,440 - 309,542,447 16,639,699 646,946,586
Due from related parties (Notes 14, 32) - 15,501,628 - 98,828,058 - 114,329,686
Refundable security deposits (Note 19) 330,536 - - - 330,536

Financial asset at FVOCI - -
Investment in golf share (Note 15) 50,000 - - 50,000

Total ₱ 327,651,558 ₱ 336,266,068 ₱ - ₱ 408,370,505 ₱ 16,639,699 ₱ ₱1,088,927,830

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets is evaluated using internal credit rating. Financial assets are 
considered high grade if the counterparties are not expected to default in setting their obligations, thus credit risk 
exposure is minimal. These counterparties include banks, customers with no past due accounts and related parties 
who pay on or before due date.

The Group has no financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated.

(b) Liquidity risk

This represents the risk or difficulty in raising funds to meet the Group’s commitment associated with financial 
obligation and daily cash flow requirement. The Group is exposed to the possibility that adverse exchanges in 
business environment and/or its operations would result to substantially higher working capital requirements and 
the subsequent difficulty in financing additional working capital.

The Group addresses liquidity concerns primarily through cash flows from operations and short-term borrowings, 
if necessary. The Group has credit lines with several of the top banks of the Philippines which gives its financial 
flexibility in its operations. The Group likewise regularly evaluates other financing instruments to broaden the 
Group’s range of financing resources.

The following table summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s other financial liabilities as at December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively, based on the contractual undiscounted payments:



December 31, 2024

On demand
Within 
1 year

More than
1 year Total

Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables* ₱ 77,756,748 ₱ 3,555,226 ₱ - ₱ 81,311,974
Due to a related party 167,355,669 - - 167,355,669
Borrowings - 1,007,846,454 - 1,007,846,454
Lease liability - 16,247,201 49,609,009 65,856,210

₱ 245,112,417 ₱ 1,027,648,881 ₱ 49,609,009 ₱ 1,322,370,307
*Exclusive of government payables

December 31, 2023

On demand
Within 
1 year

More than
1 year Total

Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables* ₱ 86,075,711 ₱ 13,654,316 ₱ - ₱ 99,730,027
Due to a related party 147,742,827 - - 147,742,827
Borrowings - 986,477,500 - 986,477,500
Lease liability - 17,523,833 51,143,308 68,667,141

₱ 233,818,538 ₱ 1,004,001,333 ₱ 51,143,308 ₱ 1,302,617,495
*Exclusive of government payables

9.3 Capital risk management objectives and policies

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure its ability to continue as a going concern 
and that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize 
shareholder value.

The BOD has overall responsibility for monitoring of capital in proportion to risk. Profiles for capital ratios are 
set in the light of changes in the Group’s external environment and the risks underlying the Group’s business 
operations and industry.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio, which is calculated as total debt less cash then 
divided by total equity. Total debt is equivalent to total liabilities sown in the consolidated statements of financial 
position. Total equity comprises all components of equity including share capital and retained earnings.

2024 2023

Total liabilities ₱ 1,380,437,031 ₱ 1,330,976,291
Total equity 657,737,136 662,715,661

Net debt to equity ratio 2.10:1 2.01:1

The Group through the Finance function sets operational targets and performance indicator in order to assure that 
the capital and returns requirement are achieved. Appropriate monitoring and reporting systems accompany these 
target and indicators to assess the achievement of the Group’s goals and institute appropriate action.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes and the Group has no externally imposed capital 
requirements in 2024 and 2023.



NOTE 10 - CASH

As of December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023

Cash on hand ₱ 13,056,246 ₱ 262,613,472
Cash in banks 321,704,499 64,657,550

Total ₱ 334,760,745 ₱ 327,271,022

Cash in banks earn interest based on the banks’ average deposit rates. Finance income from cash in banks 
amounted to ₱82,521, and ₱97,766, for 2024 and 2023 respectively.

Included in cash in banks are amounts in a currency other than the Group’s functional currency as follows:

2024  2023

Cash in banks (US dollars) US$ 64,382,996 US$ 18,302,992

NOTE 11 - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES - NET

As of December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023

Trade ₱ 842,020,935 ₱ 663,586,286
Advances to suppliers 17,485,927 97,983,947

Sub-total ₱ 859,506,862 ₱ 761,570,233
Allowance for doubtful accounts (18,727,963) (16,639,699)

Total ₱ 840,778,899 ₱ 744,930,534

Trade receivables are from customers of the Group and are not interest bearing. Normal credit terms of trade 
receivables range from 30 to 60 days.

Advances to suppliers represent advance payments made to suppliers for purchase of goods. These are deducted 
from the purchase price upon receipt of goods.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the 
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. Accordingly, management 
believes that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for impairment loss on trade 
receivables.

Movements of allowance for impairment loss on trade and other receivables are as follows:

Particulars 2024 2023

At January 1 ₱ 16,639,699 ₱ 16,639,699
Impairment loss during the year 1,580,047 -

At December 31 ₱ 18,219,746 ₱ 16,639,699

Management believes that the carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates its fair value due to its 
short-term nature.



NOTE 12- INVENTORIES - NET 
 
As of December 31, the account consists of: 
 

  2024  2023 
At cost     

Octopus ₱ 106,080,418 ₱ 123,337,325 
Scallop meat  45,332,420  65,371,599 
Black tiger shrimps  35,057,501  35,797,733 
Cuttlefish  49,260,375  32,124,265 
Squid  13,624,036  27,275,620 
Abalone  44,630,201  26,573,904 
Parrot fish  14,401,096  14,401,096 
Canned crabmeat  12,418,238  12,418,238 
Kissu fish  3,388,756  10,717,381 
Groupers  6,976,133  10,213,808 
Giant squid fillet  31,597,459  8,356,942 
Lobster  3,760,728  7,190,208 
Vannamei fish  5,109,403  5,109,403 
Leather jacket fish  3,282,200  4,726,204 
Crablets  2,671,372  2,671,372 
Ribbon fish  607,042  607,042 
Other aquaculture products  38,795,594  30,642,938 
     

Total ₱  416,992,972 ₱ 417,535,078 
Allowance for inventory obsolescence  (4,703,235)  (4,703,235) 
     

Net realizable value ₱ 412,289,737 ₱ 412,831,843 
 
Cost of inventories recognized as cost of sales amounted to ₱947,664,868, ₱938,712,347, and ₱936,066,296 in 
2024, 2023 and 2022 respectively (see Note 28). 
 
Movement of allowance for inventory obsolescence is as follows: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 
     
At January 1 ₱ 4,703,235 ₱ 4,703,235 
Impairment loss during the year (Note 30)  -  - 
Write-off  -  - 
     
At December 31 ₱ 4,703,235 ₱ 4,703,235 

 
No allowance for inventory impairment was provided in 2024, 2023, and 2022 since aquatic products which did 
not meet regulatory bodies’ standard are reprocessed and/or resold. 
 
 
NOTE 13- PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
 
As of December 31, the account consists of: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 
     
Supplies ₱ 17,715,030 ₱ 46,950,973 
Input VAT  78,449,037  55,342,863 
Prepaid insurance  7,182,314  7,914,038 
Prepaid tax and other creditable withholding taxes  5,112  849,336 
Guaranty deposit  24,201,909  99,979 
     
Total ₱ 127,553,402 ₱ 111,157,189 
Less: Allowance for impairment  (722,433)  (722,433) 
     
Net  ₱ 126,830,969 ₱ 110,434,756 

 



NOTE 14 – DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES

As of December 31, the account consists of: 

Particulars 2024 2023

Advances to MOSC - Vietnam ₱ - ₱ 82,824,177
Advances to Philippine 101 Hotel, Inc. (Note 32) 31,250,000 31,250,000
Advances to stockholder (Note 32) 255,209 255,509

Total 31,505,209 114,329,686

The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand.

On March 22, 2017, the Company’s BOD approved the acquisition of 49% of the Philippine 101 Hotel, Inc., a 
domestic corporation majority owned by Yang Chi Jen. As of December 31, 202�, the parties have yet to 
complete the acquisition. 

NOTE 15 - FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

As of December 31, the account pertains to:

Particulars 2024 2023

Investment in golf share ₱ 50,000 ₱ 50,000

There was no movement of the allowance for impairment loss for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The investment in golf share consists of one (1) membership share in Eagle Ridge golf & Country Club Inc. and 
is classified as financial asset at FVOCI measured at level 1 of the fair value hierarchy in the consolidated 
statements of financial position (see Note 7). The movement in the account is summarized as follows:

Particulars 2024 2023

At cost ₱ 350,000 ₱ 350,000
Accumulated unrealized loss on market value (300,000) (300,000)

Total ₱ 50,000 ₱ 50,000

There was no movement in the accumulated unrealized loss on market value of investment in golf share as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

NOTE 16 – INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

As of December 31, 2024 the account consists of:

Equity in net earnings

Ownership Cost

Cumulative
Balance

up to
December 31,

2023
Net Loss 
(Note 24)

Cumulative
Share in

Net Earnings 
(Loss)
to Date

Year –end
Total
2024

Pacific Seafoods Corporation 47.57% ₱ 39,328,958 ₱ 26,333,226 ₱ (874,271) ₱ (12,552,995) ₱ 26,775,963



As of December 31, 2023, the account consists of: 
 

     Equity in net earnings   

 Ownership  Cost 

 Cumulative 
Balance 

up to 
December 31, 

2022 

 

Net Loss 
(Note 24) 

 Cumulative 
Share in 

Net Earnings 
(Loss) 
to Date  

Year –end 
Total 
2023 

            
Pacific Seafoods Corporation 47.57% ₱ 38,011,950 ₱ 28,390,868 ₱ (476,455) ₱ (11,678,724) ₱ 26,333,226 

 
On May 31, 2017, the Parent Company entered into an agreement acquiring 49% ownership and control of Pacific 
Seafoods Company Limited (PASECO), a non-stock Vietnamese enterprise primarily engaged in aqua foods and 
products processing and preservation. The acquisition price is 17.15 Billion Vietnamese Dongs. 
 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Parent Company’s percentage of stock ownership in PASECO is 47.57%.



 

 

NOTE 17 – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - NET 
 
The details of movements in this account as of December 31, 2024 are as follows: 
 

  Land  Building  
Leasehold 

Improvements 

 

Machineries 

 
Transportation 

equipment 

 
Furniture and 

fixtures 

 
Processing 
equipment 

 
Delivery 

equipment 

 Delivery 
equipment 
under lease 

 Storage 
equipment 
under lease 

 
Right-of-
use asset 

 

Total 
Cost                         
At December 31, 2023 ₱ 149,963,305 ₱ 209,479,152 ₱ 20,128,828 ₱ 178,716,774 ₱ 106,485,427 ₱ 32,082,018 ₱ 44,192,054 ₱ 31,119,105 ₱ 28,078,697 ₱ 143,210,547 ₱ 30,956,165 ₱ 974,412,072 
Additions during the year  -  67,339,724  2,194,941  12,034,676  871,100  1,434,443  3,161,324  57,884  -  50,500  -  87,144,592 
Disposal during the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Reclassification during the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
At December 31, 2024 ₱ 149,963,305 ₱ 276,818,876 ₱ 22,323,769 ₱ 190,751,450 ₱ 107,356,527 ₱ 33,516,461 ₱ 47,353,378 ₱ 31,176,989 ₱ 28,078,697 ₱ 143,261,047 ₱ 30,956,165 ₱ 1,061,556,664 
                         
Accumulated depreciation and amortization                       
At December 31, 2023 ₱ - ₱ 161,764,350 ₱ 19,230,625 ₱ 176,880,562 ₱ 94,567,173 ₱ 29,113,938 ₱ 38,547,395 ₱ 27,834,657 ₱ 28,078,697 ₱ 141,616,235 ₱ 30,088,559 ₱ 747,722,190 
Depreciation and amortization  -  53,545,101  2,505,609  11,841,084  2,409,462  1,345,226  4,069,875  1,100,746  -  319,660  125,744  77,535,307 
Disposal during the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Reclassification during the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
At December 31, 2024 ₱ - ₱ 215,309,451 ₱ 21,736,234 ₱ 188,721,646 ₱ 96,976,635 ₱ 30,459,164 ₱ 42,617,270 ₱ 28,935,403 ₱ 28,078,697 ₱ 141,935,895 ₱ 30,214,303 ₱ 825,257,497 
                         
Net book values                         
December 31, 2023 ₱ 149,963,305 ₱ 47,714,802 ₱ 898,203 ₱ 1,836,212 ₱ 11,918,254 ₱ 2,968,080 ₱ 5,644,659 ₱ 3,284,448 ₱ - ₱ 1,594,312 ₱ 867,606 ₱ 226,689,881 
December 31, 2024 ₱ 149,963,305 ₱ 61,509,425 ₱ 587,535 ₱ 2,029,804 ₱ 10,379,892 ₱ 3,057,297 ₱ 4,736,108 ₱ 2,241,586 ₱ - ₱ 1,325,152 ₱ 741,863 ₱ 236,299,167 

 
The Group’s land with carrying value of ₱149,963,305 and ₱146,363,305, and various transportation equipment with carrying amounts totaling ₱11,918,254, and ₱13,670,807 as 
at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively are subject to a real estate mortgage and chattel mortgage, respectively, and are used as security of interest-bearing loans (see Note 
22). The Group has no contractual commitment for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2024 are charged to “Cost of Sales” and “General and administrative expenses” amounting ₱69,199,967 
and ₱7,932,535, respectively. (see Notes 28 and 29) 
 
Management has reviewed the carrying values of the Group’s property, plant and equipment as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 for impairment. Based on the results of its 
evaluation, there were no indications that the property, plant and equipment were impaired. 
  



 

 

The details of movements in this account as of December 31, 2023 are as follows: 
 

  Land  Building  
Leasehold 

Improvements 

 

Machineries 

 
Transportation 

equipment 

 
Furniture and 

fixtures 

 
Processing 
equipment 

 
Delivery 

equipment 

 Delivery 
equipment 
under lease 

 Storage 
equipment 
under lease 

 
Right-of-
use asset 

 

Total 
Cost                         
At December 31, 2022 ₱ 146,363,305 ₱ 207,091,796 ₱ 18,856,853 ₱ 166,131,964 ₱ 101,709,527 ₱ 31,180,357 ₱ 43,163,275 ₱ 30,569,105 ₱ 28,078,697 ₱ 142,423,007 ₱ 30,128,837 ₱ 945,696,723 
Additions during the year  3,600,000  2,387,356  1,271,975  12,584,810  4,775,900  901,661  1,028,779  550,000  0  787,540   827,328  28,715,349 
Disposal during the year                         
Reclassification during the year                         
At December 31, 2023 ₱ 149,963,305 ₱ 209,479,152 ₱ 20,128,828 ₱ 178,716,774 ₱ 106,485,427 ₱ 32,082,018 ₱ 44,192,054 ₱ 31,119,105 ₱ 28,078,697 ₱ 143,210,547 ₱ 30,956,165 ₱ 974,412,072 
                         
Accumulated depreciation and amortization                       
At December 31, 2022 ₱ - ₱ 120,490,667 ₱ 16,520,276 ₱ 163,990,980 ₱ 88,038,720 ₱ 27,649,450 ₱ 33,946,356 ₱ 26,644,822 ₱ 28,078,697 ₱ 136,946,961 ₱ 20,864,100 ₱ 663,171,029 
Depreciation and amortization  -  41,273,683  2,710,349  12,889,582  6,528,453  1,464,488  4,601,039  1,189,835    4,669,274   9,224,459  84,551,162 
Disposal during the year  -                       
Reclassification during the year  -          -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
At December 31, 2023 ₱ - ₱ 161,764,350 ₱ 19,230,625 ₱ 176,880,562 ₱ 94,567,173 ₱ 29,113,938 ₱ 38,547,395 ₱ 27,834,657 ₱ 28,078,697 ₱ 141,616,235 ₱ 30,088,559 ₱ 747,722,191 
                         
Net book values                         
December 31, 2022 ₱ 146,363,305 ₱ 86,601,129 ₱ 2,336,577 ₱ 2,140,984 ₱ 13,670,807 ₱ 3,530,907 ₱ 9,216,919 ₱ 3,924,283 ₱ - ₱ 5,476,046 ₱ 9,264,737 ₱ 282,525,694 
December 31, 2023 ₱ 149,963,305 ₱ 47,714,802 ₱ 898,203 ₱ 1,836,212 ₱ 11,918,254 ₱ 2,968,080 ₱ 5,644,659 ₱ 3,284,448 ₱ - ₱ 1,594,312 ₱ 867,606 ₱ 226,689,881 

 
Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 are charged to “Cost of Sales” and “General and administrative expenses” amounting 
₱105,141,862 and ₱12,599,310, respectively. (see Notes 28 and 29) 
 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 recognized in the consolidated financial statements of the Group were ₱7,932,535 and ₱84,551,162. 
 
  



 

 

NOTE 18 - GOODWILL 
 
The Group’s goodwill pertains to the acquisition of MOSC on January 10, 2014. The account balance amounted 
to ₱14,521,202 in both years 2024 and 2023. 
 
The recoverable amount has been determined based on the value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections 
from financial budgets approved by the management covering five-year period. 
 
Based on management’s assessment, the carrying value of goodwill is not impaired, thus, no impairment loss was 
recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023. 
 
 
NOTE 19 - OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 
The account consists of refundable security deposits related to the lease of plants located in Navotas, Parañaque, 
Cebu, etc. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the refundable security deposits of the Group both amounted to 
₱330,536. 
 
 
NOTE 20 – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
As of December 31, the account consists of: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 
     
Trade payables ₱ 69,540,515 ₱ 92,751,625 
Accrued expenses  22,866,477  6,978,403 
Government payables  1,053,781  1,058,965 
Income tax  588,748  760,836 
     
Total ₱ 94,049,521 ₱ 101,549,829 

 
Trade payables from suppliers of marine products are non-interest bearing and with normal credit terms are 30 to 
60 days. 
 
Accrued expenses include unbilled expenses which are normally settled within one (1) year. 
 
Government liabilities include withholding taxes, Social Security System (SSS) premiums and other liabilities to 
the government which are normally settled within 30 days. 
 
 
NOTE 21 – DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 
 
The account pertains to advances made to stockholders amounting to ₱167,355,669, and ₱147,742,827 for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively (Note 32). The advances’ nature is unsecured, non-interest 
bearing and payable on demand. 
 
  



 

 

NOTE 22 – BORROWINGS 
 
Loan agreements with local banks 
 
These loans were obtained to augment the Group’s funding for its operations. The details of and movements in 
the account are as follows: 
 

 
Lending Institution 

 Interest 
 Rate 

 
Terms 

 
Security  

At December 
31, 2024 

Current liabilities:  
 

    
  

 Bank of the Philippine 
Islands 

 4.60%-
5.75% 

 Renewable 
every 180 days  

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 
assignment of trade receivables ₱ 278,355,797 

 
Landbank 

 6.00%- 
6.75% 

 Renewable 
every 180 days 

 Deed of assignment of trade 
receivables  189,486,054 

 
Security Bank 

 5.75%-
7.00% 

 Renewable 
every 120 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 
assignment of trade receivables  341,151,750 

 
ChinaBank 

 6.25%-
7.25% 

 Renewable 
every 180 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 
assignment of trade receivables  24,856,607 

 
Banco de Oro  

 6.50%-
6.75% 

 Renewable 
every 90 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 
assignment of trade receivables  107,711,962 

 
Country Builders Bank 

 
0.50% 

 Renewable 
every 360 days 

 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 
assignment of trade receivables  66,284,284 

          
Total       ₱ 1,007,846,454 

 
 

 
Lending Institution 

 Interest 
 Rate 

 
Terms 

 
Security  

At December 
31, 2023 

Current liabilities:  
     

  
 Bank of the Philippine 

Islands 
 4.60%-

5.75% 
 Renewable 

every 180 days  
 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables ₱ 294,785,000 
 

Landbank 
 6.00%- 

6.75% 
 Renewable 

every 180 days 
 Deed of assignment of trade 

receivables  134,032,500 
 

Security Bank 
 5.75%-

7.00% 
 Renewable 

every 120 days 
 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  334,660,000 
 

ChinaBank 
 6.25%-

7.25% 
 Renewable 

every 180 days 
 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  70,000,000 
 

Banco de Oro  
 6.50%-

6.75% 
 Renewable 

every 90 days 
 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  115,000,000 
 

Country Builders Bank 
 

0.50% 
 Renewable 

every 360 days 
 Real estate mortgage/Deed of 

assignment of trade receivables  20,000,000 
          
Total       ₱ 968,477,500 

 
At the date of business combination, the Group recognized in its consolidated financial statements the carrying 
amounts of borrowings in the books of MOSC. The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their 
respective fair values at the date of business combination. 

 
 Bank of the Philippine Islands 

  
Existing Real Estate Mortgage over TCT# T-1000160, T-1036760 and T-1045092 located at Lots 4, 5 & 6, 
Blk 4 First Citiland Ind’l Complex, Dasmariñas, Cavite City registered under the Company with deed of 
assignment of trade receivables. The terms of promissory note are to not to exceed 180 days. 
 

 Land Bank 
 

Existing Real Estate Mortgage executed by MOSC under TCT# 083-2012001120 with a total area of 2,539 
square meters located in Brgy. Fabrica, Municipality of Bulan. Province of Sorsogon and registered under 
the name of the Company. 

 



Security Bank Corporation

Line shall be secured by the Continuing Suretyship of Mr. Yang Chi Jen a.k.a Michael Yang and secured by
a Registered Real Estate Mortgage (REM) for ₱30M and another REM for ₱170M over a parcel of Land
located on Pildera St., Brgy. Tambo, Paranaque City covered by TCT No. 182032 registerd under the name
of Millennium Ocean Star Corporation.

Chinabank

The line shall be effective up to March 31, 2017. Surety Agreement for ₱30M executed by Yang Chi Jen on
April 3, 2014 shall remain in full force and effect. (T-1227236 / T-1165407 - Block 1 Lot 22 and 23
Dasmarinas, Cavite and TCT#118-2013000195 – Catbalogan)

Banco de Oro

Existing Real Estate Mortgage executed by the Company under TCT# T-98,512, T-98,513, T-98,514, T-
122,257, T-122,258, T-122,292, T-123,195, T-123,198, T-123,383 Located at Guiwan, Zamboanga and
CCT#164-2015008998 the East Tower of One Serendra registered in the name of Yang Chi Jen.

Maybank

Secured by a parcel of Land with improvement covered by TCT# T-119,100 located along Talon Talon
Road, Brgy. Mampang, Zamboanga City, registered in the name of Shieiie Corporation with an area of 8,607
sqm.

UCPB

Real Estate Mortgage over land and all improvements thereon covered by Transfer Certificates of Title with
deed of assignment of trade receivables. This term is up to 180 days. (TCT#083-2012001120 – Bulan,
Sorsogon)

In 2018, BPI Family Savings Bank and Security Bank granted loans amounting to ₱235,944 and ₱2,990,973, 
respectively, to the Company. The loans are fully secured by a chattel mortgage and was settled in 2021. 

Finance costs arising from these loans amounted to ₱13,034,964, ₱15,532,926, and ₱15,094,230 for the years 
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 31).

There were no breaches of loan agreement terms such as any defaults of principal and interest of these loans 
payable during the period.

NOTE 23 – LEASE LIABILITY

As of December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023

Lease liability, current ₱ 16,247,201 ₱ 17,523,833
Lease liability, non-current 49,609,009 51,143,308

Total ₱ 65,856,210 ₱ 68,667,141

Finance cost attributable to the lease liability as of December 31 amounted to ₱541,665, and ₱6,994,712 in 2024
and 2023 (Note 31).



 

 

NOTE 24 – DEPOSIT FOR FUTURE SHARE SUBSCRIPTION 
 
On December 18, 2020, the stockholders of the Parent Company approved the increase of the authorized capital 
stock up to an amount to be determined by the Board, not exceeding P10 Billion, and subscription to at least 25% 
thereof by the Company’s Chairman/President and CEO, Yang Chi Jen, at ₱0.20 per share.  
 
On March 18, 2021, the members of the Board of Directors approved the additional increase of the authorized 
capital stock of the Corporation from ₱250 Million to ₱750 Million, divided into 5,000,000,000 common shares 
at par value of ₱0.10/share. 
 
The transaction pertains to private placement through an increase in authorized capital stock subject to and 
effective upon the approval of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The 5,000,000,000 common shares shall 
be subscribed by Yang Chi Jen (Michael Yang) with subscription price per share of ₱0.20 and total subscription 
amount of ₱1,000,000,000. 
 
The proceeds of the transaction shall be invested by the Parent Company in its subsidiary, Millennium Ocean Star 
Corporation (MOSC), for the purpose of supporting its operations and expanding its production lines for fish and 
meat canning, meat and seafoods processing, and sauces. 
 
The aggregate value of the consideration is P1 Billion. Total initial payment is at least 25% or equivalent to P250 
Million, payable prior to the filing of the application before the Securities and Exchange Commission.  The 
balance is payable in 5 years, unless sooner settled or a capital call is made. 
 
On September 30, 2022, the Board of Directors, however, amended the timeline to proceed with the application 
for increase of the authorized capital stock of the Corporation, such that the same shall proceed only after the 
approval of the additional listing of the remaining unlisted shares of the Corporation and service of the lock-up 
period, as may be applicable. 
 
Deposit for future stock subscription represents payments made on subscription of shares which cannot be directly 
credited to ‘Capital Stock’ pending application for the approval of the proposed increase presented for filing /filed 
with the SEC and registration of the amendment to the Articles of Incorporation increasing capital stock.  
 
In addition, deposit for future stock subscription shall be classified under equity if all of the following elements 
are present as at reporting date: 
 

a. The unissued authorized capital of the entity is insufficient to cover the amount of shares indicated in the 
contract; 

b. There is Board of Directors’ approval on the proposed increase in authorized capital stock (for which a 
deposit was received by the corporation); 

c. There is stockholders’ approval of said proposed increase; and  
d. The application for the approval of the proposed increase has been presented for filing or has been filed 

with the Commission. 
 
The deposit for future share subscription is recognized as a noncurrent liability in the consolidated statements of 
financial position since not all of the foregoing elements are present. 
 
The deposit for future share subscription is recognized as equity in the statements of consolidated financial 
position since all the foregoing elements are present as of December 31, 2022.  
 
As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, deposit for future share subscription both amounted to ₱287,636,935. 
 
 
  



NOTE 25 – SHARE CAPITAL

As of December 31, details of the Parent Company’s share capital are as follows:

2024 2023
Number of 

Shares Amount Number of 
Shares Amount

Authorized shares at ₱0.1 par value 
per share ₱ 2,500,000,000 ₱ 250,000,000 ₱ 2,500,000,000 ₱ 250,000,000

Outstanding shares:
Issued but not yet paid ₱ - ₱ - ₱ - ₱ -
Issued and fully paid 2,500,000,000 250,000,000 2,500,000,000 250,000,000

Issued share capital ₱ 2,500,000,000 ₱ 250,000,000 ₱ 2,500,000,000 ₱ 250,000,000
Treasury shares (130,315,381) (13,031,538) (130,315,381) (13,031,538)

Outstanding share capital, net ₱ 2,369,684,619 ₱ 236,968,462 ₱ 2,369,684,619 ₱ 236,968,462

Movements of the Parent Company’s outstanding shares issued and fully paid are as follows:

Particulars 2024 2023

At January 1 ₱ 250,000,000 ₱ 250,000,000
Issuance during the year - -
Treasury shares (Note 40) (13,031,538) (13,031,538)
Return of capital - -

236,968,462Total ₱ 236,968,462 ₱

There were no issuances of shares during 2024 and 2023. 

Additional increase in authorized capital stock 
On March 18, 2021, the members of the Board of Directors of the Parent Company approved the initial increase 
of the authorized capital stock of the Company from P250 Million to P750 Million, divided into 5,000,000,000 
common shares at par value of P0.10/share.  

On September 30, 2022, the Board of Directors, however, amended the timeline to proceed with the application 
for increase of the authorized capital stock of the Parent Company, such that the same shall proceed only after the 
approval of the additional listing of the remaining unlisted shares of the Parent Company and service of the lock-
up period, as may be applicable. 

Return of capital 
On September 30, 2022, the members of the Board of Directors approved the rescission of subscription of various 
stockholders with total shares of 130,315,381 and total par value of ₱13,031,538, for failure of the said 
stockholders to provide the requirements and assistance needed within a considerable period since the transaction. 

The 130,315,381 common shares were removed from the�outstanding shares of the Parent Company, and any 
previously issued certificates of stocks representing said shares were surrendered to and canceled by the Parent 
Company.
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NOTE 26 – ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL

As of December 31, the movement of additional paid-in capital are as follows:

Particulars 2024 2023

At January 1 ₱ 36,578,500 ₱ 36,578,500
Share premium on common shares issued during the year (Note 15)
Gross proceeds  - -
Par value of issued shares - -

At December 31 ₱ 36,578,500 ₱ 36,578,500

Additional paid-in capital arises when the amount subscribed is in excess of nominal values.

NOTE 27 - REVENUES

For the years ended December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Export sales ₱ 731,008,142 ₱ 819,635,540 ₱ 830,195,637
Local sales 254,247,755 182,241,419 169,124,055

Total ₱ 985,255,897 ₱ 1,001,876,959 ₱ 999,319,692

The export sales consist of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Squid products ₱ 237,345,984 ₱ 196,007,504 ₱ 141,682,884
Octopus 137,269,402 113,186,155 157,205,928
Scallops meat 130,702,906 99,925,493 155,226,116
Cuttlefish products 86,596,915 157,067,259 121,781,896
Abalone/tokobushi 62,567,910 170,212,456 123,542,275 
Leather jacket fish 39,228,267 - 11,350,336
Black tiger shrimp 9,680,590 50,601,914 41,434,170
Giant squid fillet 2,908,381 7,670,018 9,826,607
Groupers (red) 1,151,939 1,702,336 1,214,788
Lobster 74,590 8,744,442 9,916,966
Kissu fillet - 1,356,656 191,453
Parrot fish - - 443,627
Export of canned crab meat - - -
Other aquaculture products 23,481,258 13,161,307 56,378,591 

Total ₱ 731,008,142 ₱ 819,635,540 ₱ 830,195,637

The Group exports its products to various countries such as USA, Taiwan, Hongkong and Japan.



NOTE 28 – COST OF SALES

For the years ended December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Inventories, beginning ₱ 400,413,605 ₱ 431,469,257 ₱ 462,146,581
Net purchases of goods 774,907,735 739,035,469 719,404,465
Overheads 172,215,026 168,621,226 198,402,745

Cost of goods available for sale 1,347,536,366 1,339,125,952 1,379,953,791
Inventories, ending (Note 12) (399,871,498) (400,413,605) (443,887,495)

Cost of sales ₱ 947,664,868 ₱ 938,712,347 ₱ 936,066,296
Details of overheads are as follows:

Depreciation and amortization (Note 17) ₱ 69,199,967 ₱ 71,581,610 ₱ 105,141,862
Repairs and maintenance 44,749,794 50,861,776 3,968,055
Communication, light and water 16,360,527 12,472,977 37,894,924
Packaging 9,719,740 9,370,004 5,952,084
Direct labor 9,655,309 6,830,712 11,312,611
Handling 9,397,139 9,059,011
Freight 8,430,904 5,093,015 26,228,843
Indirect labor 4,523,098 3,179,999 7,715,883
Rental (Note 35) 178,546 172,122 188,483
Others - - -

Total ₱ 172,215,026 ₱ 168,621,226 ₱ 198,402,745

The Group purchases its products through its buying stations strategically located all over the Philippines.

NOTE 29 – GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For the years ended December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Depreciation and amortization (Note 17) ₱ 7,932,535 ₱ 12,969,551 ₱ 12,599,310
Rental (Note 35) 3,008,534 5,232,005 6,530,542
Taxes and licenses 2,441,111 7,741,981 12,278,634
Salaries, wages and benefits 2,333,146 4,334,268 4,178,786
Documentary stamp tax 2,289,811 15,088 875,615
Provision for expected credit losses (Note 11) 2,088,264 - -
Professional fees 1,555,986 2,113,920 1,347,077
Shipping costs 1,163,893 1,816,730 727,393
Repairs and maintenance 1,282,570 2,198,506 1,406,019
Communication, light and water 854,248 2,024,156 1,559,576
Retirement benefits 790,183 778,417 505,221
Office supplies 706,308 681,978 608,816
Fuel and oil 623,200 890,389 569,928
Insurance 476,571 658,108 150,785
Transportation and travel 292,195 472,421 377,811
Membership dues 277,065 278,941 252,520
Representation 183,491 344,407 409,899
Marketing - 275,754 4,852
Filing fees and other charges - 232,453 -
Training and seminars 35,760 47,760 35,760
Fines, penalties, and other charges - 2,000 444,569
Others 662,742 57,086 112,939

₱ 28,997,613 ₱ 43,165,919 ₱ 44,976,052

Others include bank charges, reprocessing cost, donation & contributions, brokerage fees, sanitation expenses, 
and product testing and analysis fees.



NOTE 30 – OTHER INCOME (LOSS) - NET

For the years ended December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Rental income (Note 35) ₱ 1,696,298 ₱ 1,558,820 ₱ 1,927,638
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (108,735) (1,581,186) 2,457,748
Realized foreign exchange gain 1,916,783 1,311,756 470,729

Total ₱ 3,504,346 ₱ 1,289,390 ₱ 4,856,115

NOTE 31 – FINANCE COSTS

For the years ended December 31, the account consists of:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022

Interest costs from:
Borrowing (Note 22) ₱ 13,034,964 ₱ 15,532,926 ₱ 15,094,230
Finance lease (Note 35) 541,664 6,994,712 7,191,897

Total ₱ 13,576,628 ₱ 22,527,638 ₱ 22,286,127

NOTE 32 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly through one or 
more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and 
operating decisions. Such relationships also exist between and/or among entities which are under the common 
control with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting enterprises and their key management 
personnel, directors or its shareholders.

The details of the Group’s related parties are summarized as follows:

Name of the related party Relationship
Nature of 

transaction
Country of 

incorporation

Millenium Ocean Star Corporation 
(MOSC) Affiliate Advances Philippines
Philippine 101 Hotel, Inc. Affiliate Advances Philippines
Camsur Canning Affiliate Advances Philippines

Individuals
Key management personnel /
shareholders Advances -



a. Outstanding balances

The following transactions have been entered into with related parties as of December 31, 2024:

Related Party Relationship
Nature of 

Transaction Transactions
Outstanding 

Balance
Nature, terms and 

Conditions
Nature of 

Consideration

Receivables

Stockholders
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances ₱ - ₱ 31,250,000

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing

Cash 
Consideration

Stockholder
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances - 255,509

On demand; 
unsecured non-
interest bearing

Cash 
Consideration

MOSC 
Vietnam 
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances - -

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing advances

Cash 
Settlement

Total ₱ - ₱ 31,505,509

Payables

Individuals
(Note 21) Shareholders Advances 19,612,842 167,355,669

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing advances

Cash 
Settlement

Total ₱ 19,612,842 ₱ 167,355,669

The following transactions have been entered into with related parties as of December 31, 2023:

Related Party Relationship
Nature of 

Transaction Transactions
Outstanding 

Balance
Nature, terms and 

Conditions
Nature of 

Consideration

Receivables

Stockholders
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances ₱ - ₱ 31,250,000

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing

Cash 
Consideration

Stockholder
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances - 255,509

On demand; 
unsecured non-
interest bearing

Cash 
Consideration

MOSC 
Vietnam 
(Note 14) Affiliate Advances (10,077,597) 82,824,177

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing advances

Cash 
Settlement

Total ₱ (10,077,597) ₱ 114,329,686

Payables

Individuals
(Note 21) Shareholders Advances 1,719,792 147,742,827

Unsecured, 
noninterest-
bearing advances

Cash 
Settlement

Total ₱ 1,719,792 ₱ 147,742,827

b. Transactions

Significant transactions with related parties for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 below:

Rental (Note 29)
Particulars 2024 2023
Affiliate

MOSC ₱ 120,000 ₱ 120,000

c) Key management personnel compensation

Salaries and other short-term benefits of key management personnel amounted to ₱5,589,694, ₱5,589,694,
and ₱5,158,877 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. These are included in 



 

 

“direct labor” and “salaries, wages and benefits” account under “cost of sales” and “operating expenses” in 
the consolidated statements of income, respectively. 

 
 
NOTE 33 – RETIREMENT BENEFITS  
 
The Group has a non-contributory, defined benefit plan covering all its officers and regular employees. Retirement 
benefits expense recognized in the consolidated statement of gain (loss) is computed based on provision of PAS 
19R. The principal actuarial assumptions used to determine the funding of the trust fund is accrued benefit 
actuarial cost method which takes into the account the factors of interest, mortality, disability, and salary 
projection rates. 
 
The amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position are as follows: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 
     

Present value of the obligation ₱ 44,043,922 ₱ 43,253,739 
 
The retirement benefits expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income as follows: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 
     
Current service cost (Note 29) ₱ 256,899 ₱ 245,133 
Interest cost (Note 29)  533,284  533,284 
     
Total ₱ 790,183 ₱ 778,417 
 

a. Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation 
 

The movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows: 
 

Particulars   2024  2023 
     

Present value of obligation at January 1 ₱ 43,253,739 ₱ 42,475,322 
Fair value at date of business combination     
Current service cost ₱ 256,899 ₱ 245,133 
Interest cost  533,284  533,284 
  ₱ 790,183 ₱ 778,417 
Benefits paid directly from book reserve  -  - 
Remeasurements in OCI:     
 Effect of changes in financial assumptions  -  - 
 Effect of experience adjustments  -  - 
  ₱ - ₱ - 
 Present value of obligation at December 31 ₱ 44,043,922 ₱ 43,253,739 

 
b. Remeasurements in OCI 

 
Remeasurements in OCI represent actuarial gains and losses presented at net of related deferred tax as shown 
below: 
 

Particulars  2024  2023 
     

At January 1 ₱ 7,455,587 ₱ 7,455,587 
Fair value at date of business combination  -  - 
Remeasurements in OCI, net of deferred tax  -  - 
     
At December 31 ₱ 7,455,587 ₱ 7,455,587 
 

  



c. Actuarial assumptions

Particulars 2024 2023

Actuarial gain recognized ₱ - ₱ -
Deferred tax - -
Actuarial gain recognized, net ₱ - ₱ -
Non-controlling interest - -
Attributable to owners of the Parent Company (51%) ₱ - ₱ -

The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:

2024 2023
Discount rate 4.80% 4.80%
Salary projection rate 10% 10%

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on a reasonably possible change of each significant 
assumption on the defined benefit obligation as at the December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 with all other 
variables held constant:

Reasonably 
possible change 2024 2023

Discount rate +100 bps* ₱ (4,751,750) ₱ (4,751,750)
-100 bps* 5,893,767 5,893,767

Salary increase rate +100 bps* 5,214,207 5,214,207
-100 bps* (4,355,315) (4,355,315)

*100bps is equivalent to 1%

The defined benefit obligation is calculated using the discount rate set with reference to government bonds. 

When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions, the same 
method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end 
of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the retirement benefit liability recognized in the 
consolidated statements of the financial position.

There were no changes from the previous period in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the 
sensitivity analysis.

d. Maturity analysis

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments:

2024 2023
Less than 1 year ₱ 1,218,300 ₱ 1,160,286 
Between 1 to 5 years 1,345,589 1,281,513 
Between 5 to 10 years 9,222,670 8,783,495 

NOTE 34 – INCOME TAXES

On January 5, 2024, Ease of Paying Taxes (EOPT) Act was passed into law. The EOPT Act introduced significant 
amendments to the National Internal Revenue Code of 1997 (“The Code”) which are intended to protect and 
safeguard taxpayer rights and welfare to modernize tax administration by providing mechanisms that encourage 
easy compliance at the best cost and resources, and to update the tax system and adopt best practices.



The amendments include the following:
File and pay anywhere mechanism. Taxes shall be paid either electronically or manually at the time the
return is filed.
Classification of taxpayers into micro, small, medium and large taxpayers.
Withholding of tax on income payments only when payable.
Imposing value-added tax (VAT) on services, based on gross sales, no longer on gross receipts.
VAT invoices are sufficient to substantiate input VAT arising from the purchase at both goods and

services.
Removal of “business style” as a VAT invoicing requirement.
Removal of withholding tax as requirement for deductibility of income payments.

a. The components of the Group’s provision for income tax are as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Current ₱ 770,082 ₱ 681,736 ₱ 656,518
Deferred 1,937,826 (109,147) 628,318

₱ 2,707,908 ₱ 572,589 ₱ 1,284,836

The reconciliation of the provision from income tax computed at the statutory tax rates to the provision for income 
tax reported in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Income (loss) before tax ₱ (2,270,616) ₱ (1,618,244) ₱ 371,319
Tax expense computed at statutory tax rate 770,082 681,736 656,518
Deductible temporary differences and carry forward 
benefits and excess MCIT for which for which no 
deferred income tax assets were recognized 1,937,826 (109,147) 628,318

Total ₱ 2,707,908 ₱ 572,589 ₱ 1,284,836

The components of deferred tax assets as at December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 are as follows:

2024 2023 2022

At January 1 ₱ 15,969,265 ₱ 15,207,986 ₱ 15,880,184
Tax effect of leases under PFRS 16 (1,247,151) 652,132 (43,879)
NOLCO (690,674) 109,147 (628,319)

At December 31 ₱ 14,031,440 ₱ 15,969,265 ₱ 15,207,986

The Group did not recognize deferred tax assets on the following deductible temporary differences and carry 
forward benefits of NOLCO since management believes that it is more likely than the Group will not be able to 
realize their benefits in the future or prior to their expiration.



The movement of deferred tax asset recognized for the year 2023 is as follows:

Tax Base Tax Effect

Particulars Movement
Tax
Rate

Beginning
Balance Movement

Ending 
Balance

Accrued retirement liability ₱ - 20% ₱ 257,051 ₱ ₱ 257,051
Allowance for doubtful accounts - 20% 11,966,518 11,966,518
Allowance for inventory obsolescence - 25% 1,175,809 1,175,809
Allowance for impairment loss - 25% 144,487 144,487
NOLCO 2020 - 25% 898,220 898,220
NOLCO 2021 - 20% 708,075 708,075
NOLCO 2022 - 20% 86,102 86,102
NOLCO 2023 - 20% 109,147 109,147
NOLCO 2024 3,179,797 25% - 794,949 794,949
Tax effect of leases under PFRS 16 2,608,528 25% 623,856 - 623,856
Total ₱ 5,788,325 ₱ 15,969,265 ₱ 794,949 ₱ 16,764,214

As at December 31, 2022 the Group’s NOLCO that can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income and 
income tax payable, respectively, are as follows:

NOLCO

Year 
incurred Amount Expired Applied

Ending 
balance Expiry

2020 ₱ 6,110,305 ₱ - ₱ - ₱ 6,110,305 2025
2021 8,003,486 - - 8,003,486 2026
2022 430,518 - - 430,518 2027
2023 545,737 - - 545,737 2026
2024 3,179,797 - - 3,179,797 2027

₱ 18,269,843 ₱ - ₱ - ₱ 18,269,843

NOTE 35 – LEASE AGREEMENTS

The Group as a lessor 

The rent income recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 amounted to ₱1,696,298,
₱1,558,820, and ₱1,927,638 respectively (see Note 30).

The Group as a lessee 

The Group has entered into various cancellable lease agreements with different individuals for the lease of plants 
located in Navotas, Paranaque, Cebu, etc. The lease agreements are renewable every year where terms and 
conditions are subject to the agreement of both parties.

Under PFRS 16, A lessee may elect not to apply the requirements of this standard to:

(a) short-term leases; and

(b) leases for which the underlying asset is of low value

The Group elected not to apply PFRS 16 requirements for the aforementioned lease contract. Related rent expense 
incurred amounted to ₱3,008,534 and ₱5,232,005 for years 2024 and 2023, respectively.



As of 2024, the Group has entered into the following renewable lease agreements:

Location Term Consummation Date

Bantayan 2 years October 2021
Bulan, Sorsogon 10 years April 2021
Estancia, Ilo-ilo 10 years September 2028
Pasay City 3 years June 2022
Navotas City 20 years June 2028
Zamboanga-ALED 4 years January 2023
Zamboanga-Shiejie 5 years February 2020

Following the adoption of PFRS 16, the Group recognized right-of-use asset and lease liability over the life of the 
lease. The asset is calculated as the initial amount of the lease liability, plus any lease payments made to the lessor 
before the lease commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred, minus any lease incentives received.

For leases previously classified as finance lease, the carrying amount of the right-of-use-asset and the lease 
liability were determined at the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease liability under PAS 17 immediately 
before recognition on January 1, 2019.

The Group has various finance lease agreements with local banks for the lease of transportation and plant 
equipment. Lease term ranges from 36 to 60 months, subject to renewal. It carries with it guaranty deposit 
equivalent to the purchase price should the Company opts to acquire the equipment at the end of the lease term.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group’s right-of-use asset, net of accumulated depreciation, and lease liability 
amounted to ₱867,606 and ₱68,667,141, respectively.

Consequently, the Group recognized depreciation expense and interest expense as reduction to the carrying 
amount of the asset and lease liability amounting to ₱9,224,459, and ₱6,994,712, respectively.

Finance costs arising from these lease agreements amounted to ₱541,665, ₱6,994,712, and ₱7,191,897 in 
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively (see Note 31).

Total rent expense charged to operations for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 amounted to 
₱8,412,004, ₱6,719,025, and ₱2,157,5183 respectively (see Note 28 and 29).

The refundable security deposit attached to the lease agreement for the rental of the plants amounted to 
both ₱330,536 as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

There were no restrictions imposed by these lease agreements nor contingent rent recognized for the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023.



NOTE 36 – EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the income (loss) for the year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the Group by weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The financial information pertinent to the derivation of the basic earnings (loss) per share for the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, are as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Income (loss) attributable to equity holders of 
the Parent Company ₱ (3,811,238) ₱ (3,153,291) ₱ (898,831)
Weighted average number of shares 
outstanding used for computation of basic 
earnings (loss) per share (a) 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,467,421,155
Weighted average number of shares 
outstanding used for computation of diluted 
earnings (loss) per share (b) 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,467,421,155

Basic earnings (loss) per share ₱ (0.00161) ₱ (0.000128) ₱ (0.00036)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share ₱ (0.00161) ₱ (0.000128) ₱ (0.00036)

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the year attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. For the purpose of computing the diluted earnings (loss) per share, the effect 
of dilutive potential ordinary shares for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 is added to the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. There are no dilutive potential ordinary shares 
for the years 2024, 2023 and 2022.



 

 

The reconciliation of the average number of shares outstanding in 2024, 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
 

(a) Average number of shares outstanding used for the computation of basic earnings (loss) per share 
 

Issuances during the year Number of shares outstanding Weighted average number of shares 
 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022 
          
January 1 - - - 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,500,000,000 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,500,000,000 
December 31 - - - 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,467,421,155 
          
 - - - 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,467,421,155 

 
(b) Average number of shares outstanding used for the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share 

 
Issuances during the year Number of shares outstanding Weighted average number of shares 

 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022 
          
January 1 - - - 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,500,000,000 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,500,000,000 
December 31 - - - 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,467,421,155 
          
 - - - 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,369,684,619 2,467,421,155 

 



 

 

NOTE 37 – OPERATING SEGMENTS 
 
The CEO is the Group’s CODM. Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports 
reviewed by the CEO that are used to make strategic decisions. 
 
The CEO considers the business based on the differences in the Group’s product and services. Management 
considers the performance based on the two revenue-generating activities by the Group: the exporting and holding 
operations. 
 
The reportable operating segments of exporting operations derive its revenue primarily from the export sale of 
aquatic and marine products. The revenue of the reportable segments arises solely external customers outside the 
Philippines jurisdiction. 
 
The operating segments are organized and managed separately according to the different products, with each 
segment representing a strategic business unit that offers products sold through wholesale or retail or services 
rendered in farming operations. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment 
information. All operating business segments used by the Group meet the definition of a reportable segment under 
PFRS 8, Operating Segments. 
 
The CEO assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of Earnings Before Interests, 
Taxes and depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA). This measurement basis excludes the effects of non-
recurring expenditure from the operating segments and common operating expenses. Interest expense is not 
allocated to segments, as this type of activity is driven by the central treasury function, which manages the cash 
position of the Group. 
 
Segment assets and liabilities 
 
Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of receivables. Segment 
liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of trade and other payables. 
 
Segment transactions 
 
Segment sales, expenses and performance include sales and cost of sales. Intercompany balances and transactions 
between segments, if any, are eliminated during the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
There are segment assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 allocated based on geographical 
location such as Japan, Korea, Taiwan, US, and Hongkong.  
 
The total reportable segments’ assets and liabilities are reconciled to the Group’s total assets liabilities as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows (amounts in thousands): 
 

 

 
The amount is measured in a manner consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements. 

   2024  2023 
      
Segment assets ₱ 1,947,155 ₱ 1,914,398 
Unallocated:     
 Trade and other receivables  840,008  743,655 
 Prepayments and other current assets  121,775  105,534 
 Goodwill  14,521  14,521 
 Deferred tax assets  14,031  13,635 
 Other noncurrent assets  331  331 
      
  ₱ 2,937,821 ₱ 2,792,074 
      
Segment Liabilities ₱ 1,202,272 ₱ 1,170,206 
Unallocated:     
 Due to a related party  167,356  147,742 
 Retirement benefits liability  45,329  44,538 
      
  ₱ 1,414,957  ₱ 1,362,486 



 

 

 
The reportable segments’ assets and liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment. The Group’s 
cash, trade and other receivables, inventories, property, plant and equipment, trade and other payables, obligations 
under finance lease, borrowings and income tax payable were considered as segment assets and liabilities. Trade 
receivables arising from the exporting operations are further allocated based on geographical location such as 
Japan, Korea, Taiwan, and Hongkong.  
 
Unallocated assets and liabilities are managed by the central administrative and treasury functions. 
 
The Group does not have revenues from transactions with a single external customer amounting to ten percent 
(10%) or more of the Group’s total revenues. 
 
 
NOTE 38 – OTHER MATTERS 
 
 Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information 
 
The table below details changes in the liabilities of the Group arising from financing activities, including both 
cash and non-cash changes. 
 

Particulars  
January 1, 

2024  Cash flows  Reclassification  
Interest 
expense  

December 31, 
2024 

           
Loans and borrowings ₱ 1,007,846,454 ₱ - ₱  ₱ - ₱ 1,007,846,454 
Advances from related parties  147,742,827  19,612,842  -  -  167,355,669 
Lease liability  68,667,141  (2,810,931)  -  -  65,856,210 
Deposit for future stock subscription  287,636,935  -  -  -  287,636,935 
Interest payable  -  (13,576,628)  -  13,576,628  - 
           
Total liabilities from financing 
activities ₱ 1,511,893,357 ₱ 3,225,283 ₱ - ₱ 13,576,628 ₱ 1,528,695,268 

 

Particulars  
January 1, 

2023  Cash flows  Reclassification  
Interest 
expense  

December 31, 
2023 

           
Loans and borrowings ₱ 1,058,507,424 ₱ (90,029,924) ₱  ₱ - ₱ 968,477,500 
Advances from related parties  146,023,035  1,719,792  -  -  147,742,827 
Lease liability  70,548,933  (1,881,792)  -  -  68,667,141 
Deposit for future stock subscription  287,636,935  -  -  -  287,636,935 
Interest payable  -  (22,527,638)  -  22,527,638  - 
           
Total liabilities from financing 
activities ₱ 1,562,716,327 ₱ 112,719,562 ₱ - ₱ 22,527,638 ₱ 1,472,524,403 

 
Non-cash Activities 
The Group had no material non-cash investing or financing activity-related transactions for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 
 
NOTE 39 – CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Group is a not party to any legal proceedings. As of the December 31, 2024, the Group has ongoing tax 
assessment with the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR). 
 
 
NOTE 40 – RECLASSIFICATION OF ACCOUNTS 
 
For 2023, the Group reclassified the return of capital into treasury shares instead of direct deduction from the 
share capital. 
 



 

 

Particulars  
Balance as of 
January 1, 2023  Adjustments  

Adjusted balance as of 
December 31, 2023 

       
Share capital ₱ 236,968,462 ₱ 13,031,538 ₱ 250,000,000 
Treasury shares  -  (13,031,538)  (13,031,538) 
       
Share capital, net  236,968,462  -  236,968,462 

 
The net result is the same with the balance in 2022. 
  



 

 

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
INDEX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND   
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES   
     
I Supplemental schedules required by Revised SRC Rule 68 Annex 68-J   

     
 A Financial Assets  Attached 

 B Amounts receivables from directors officers, employees, related parties and 
principal stockholders (other than related parties)  Attached 

 C Amounts receivables and payable from/to related parties which are eliminated 
during consolidation process of financial statements  Attached 

 D Long-term debt  Attached 
 E Indebtedness to related parties (Long-term loans from related parties)  Not applicable 
 F Guarantees of securities of other issuers  Not applicable 
 G Capital Stock  Attached 
     
II  

Reconciliation of retained earnings available for dividend declaration by Revised 
SRC Rule 68 Annex 68-D  Attached 

III  Map of the relationships of the Company within the Group  Attached 
IV  

Schedule of Financial Soundness Indicators as required by Revised SRC Rule 68 
Annex 68-E   Attached 



 

 

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES REQUIRED BY REVISED SRC RULE 68 ANNEX 68-J 

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024   
SCHEDULE A. Financial Assets   

 

Financial asset 
As at December 

31, 2022 

Name of 
issuing entity 

and association 
of each issue 

Number of 
shares or 
principal 

amounts of 
bonds and 

notes 

Amount shown 
in the statement 

of financial 
position 

Fair value based on 
its carrying amount 

at the end of 
reporting period 

Fair value based 
on approximate 

discounted 
value of future 

cash flows at the 
end of reporting 

period 

Fair value 
based on 
marker 

quotation at 
the end of the 

reporting 
period 

Income 
received 

Income 
accrued 

                  
Financial assets at 
amortized cost 

                

 Cash (Note 10) Not applicable Not applicable ₱  334,760,745   ₱  334,760,745   - - ₱   82,521   ₱   -   

 Trade and other    
receivables 
(Note 11) 

Not applicable Not applicable 840,778,899 840,778,899 - - - - 

Due from related 
parties (Note 14 
and 32) 

Not applicable Not applicable 31,505,509 31,505,509 - - - - 

 Refundable 
security deposit 
(Note 19 and 35) 

Not applicable Not applicable 330,536 330,536 - - - - 

  Investment in 
Golf share 
(Note 15) 

Eagle Ridge 
Golf & Country 

Club, Inc 

One (1) 
Membership 

share 

50,000 50,000 - - - - 

TOTAL     ₱   872,664,944  ₱  872,664,944     ₱   82,521   ₱   -   



SCHEDULE B. Amounts of Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and 
Principal Stockholders (Other Than Related Parties)

Name and designation 
of debtor

Balance at 
beginning of 

period

Amounts 
(collected) 
/transferred

Amounts 
written-

off Current
Non-

current

Balance at 
end of 
period

Philippine 101 Hotel, Inc. ₱ 31,250,000 ₱ - ₱ - ₱ 31,250,000 ₱ - ₱ 31,250,000
Stockholder 255,509 - - 255,509 - 255,509

SCHEDULE C. Amounts of Receivable from and Payable to Related Parties which are Eliminated 
during the Consolidation of Financial Statements

Name and designation of 
debtor

Balance at 
beginning of 

period Additions
Amounts 
collected

Amounts 
written-off Current

Non-
current

Balance at 
end of period

MOSC 4,741,500 - - - 4,741,500 - - 4,741,500

SCHEDULE D. Long-term Debt

Title of issue

Amount 
authorized by 

indenture

Amount shown under caption 
“Current portion of long term 

debt

Amount shown under caption 
“Long term debt” in related 

balance sheet

Borrowings ₱ - ₱ 1,007,846,454 ₱ -
Lease liability - 16,247,201 49,609,009

SCHEDULE E. Indebtedness to Related Parties (Long Term Loans from Related Parties)

Name of related party Balance at beginning of period
Amount shown under caption 

“Current portion of long term debt

Not Applicable

SCHEDULE F. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers

Name of issuing entity of 
securities guaranteed by 
the Company for which 
this statement is filed

Title of issue of each 
class of securities 

guaranteed

Total amount 
guaranteed and 

outstanding

Amount owned by 
person for which 
statement is filed

Nature of 
guarantee

Not Applicable



SCHEDULE G. Capital Stock

Title of issue

Number of 
shares 

authorized

Number of 
shares

outstanding as 
shown under 

related balance 
sheet

Number of 
shares 

reserved for 
options, 
warrants, 

conversion 
and other 

rights

Number of 
shares held 
by related 

parties

Directors, 
officers and 
employees Others

Common shares 2,500,000,000 2,369,684,619 none 291,274,458 879,750,130 2,297,184,619



 

 

II. RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND 
DECLARATION  
 
 

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. 
Schedule of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards  

 
SCHEDULE OF RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR 

DIVIDEND DECLARATION 
 

December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 

 
Items  2024  2023 

     
Unappropriated Retained Earnings, beginning ₱ (119,561,563) ₱ (115,882,981) 
Adjustments:     
  Prior period adjustments   -  - 
  Dividends declared/paid during the year  -  - 

Adjustment on initial application of leases, net of tax  -  - 
     
Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted, beginning  (129,716,723)  (115,882,981) 

Net Income (Loss) based on the face of AFS  (3,811,238)  (4,155,037) 
Less: Non-actual/unrealized income net of tax     
 •  Equity in net income/(loss) of associate/joint venture      874,271  476,455 
 •  Unrealized foreign exchange gain - net  
  (except those attributable to Cash and Cash Equivalents)  
  Unrealized actuarial gain  -  - 
 •  Fair value adjustment (M2M gains)  -  - 
 •  Fair value adjustment of Investment Property 
   resulting to gain adjustment  
  due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP-gain  -  - 
 •  Other unrealized gains or adjustments  
  to the retained earnings as a result  
  of certain transactions accounted for under the PFRS  -  - 
Add: Non-actual losses     
 •  Depreciation on revaluation increment (after tax)  -  - 
 •  Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP – loss  -  - 
 •  Loss on fair value adjustment of investment property 
(after tax)  -  - 
FMV gain/(loss) transferred to equity as a result of disposal of 
equity investment at FVOCI  -  - 
Gain/(loss) from disposal of financial assets at FVOCI  -  
Net Income Actual/Realized  -  - 
     
Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted, ending ₱ (132,653,690) ₱ (119,561,563) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 

III. MAP OF GROUP OF COMPANIES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Millennium Global Holdings, 
Inc. 

(Parent Company) 

Millennium Ocean Star 
Company 

(51% owned Subsidiary) 

Cebu Canning Corporation 
(51% owned Subsidiary) 



 

 

IV. SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS AS REQUIRED BY REVISED SRC 
RULE 68 ANNEX 68-E 
 
 
 

MILLENNIUM GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

     
Supplementary Schedule on Financial Soundness Indicators 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 

     
          

     
Ratio Formula 2024   2023 

     

Current ratio 
Current Assets / Current 
Liabilities 1.36  1.38 

     

Acid test ratio 

(Current Assets - 
Inventory - Prepayments) / 
Current Liabilities 1.26  1.29 

     

Solvency ratio 
Total Assets / Total 
Liabilities 1.48  1.50 

     
Debt-to-equity ratio Total Debt/Total Equity 2.10  2.01 

     
Asset-to-equity ratio Total Assets / Total Equity 3.10  3.01 

     

Interest rate coverage ratio 

Earnings Before Interest 
and Taxes (EBIT) / 
Interest Charges 0.083  0.93 

     
Return on equity Net Income / Total Equity (0.00076)  (0.0033) 

     
Return on assets Net Income / Total Assets (0.0024)  (0.0011) 

     
Net profit margin Net Profit / Sales N/A  N/A 

     

Price/Earnings Ratio 
Price Per Share / Earnings 
(Loss) Per Common Share (60.86)  (86.15) 

     
 



 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR 
FEE-RELATED INFORMATION 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 
 

  2024  2023 
Total Audit Fees (Section 2.1a) ₱ 250,000.00 ₱ 250,000.00 
Non-audit services fees:     

Other assurance services  -  - 
Tax services  -  - 
All other services  -  - 

Total Non-audit Fees   -  - 
Total Audit and Non-Audit Fees ₱ 250,000.00 ₱ 250,000.00 

 
 

Audit and non-audit fees of other related entities     
  2024  2023 
Audit fees ₱ 350,000 ₱ 350,000 
Non-audit service fees:     

Other assurance services  -  - 
Tax services  -  - 
All other services  -  - 

Total Audit and Non-audit fees of other related entities ₱ 350,000 ₱ 350,000 
 

 


